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OESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The buildings in thie district embody the distinctive characterietics
of the Late Victorian of High Victorian style., They often show the
hand of one architect, Elmer H, Fisher. The entire group contains a
significent and very distinguishable homogeneity of etyle, form,
character, and construction,

For more then half of Seattle's history, the district has been the
heart of the City's commercial and business life, and it is rich in
association with the region's colorful past, Since those glamorous
daye, while having fallen into disrepute as an mrea of cheap hotels
and taverns, it has continued to be part of the unlque charecter and
color of this waterfront city.

Restoration of some of the buildings, notably by architects Raiph
Anderson and Dick White, has helped to revive interest in the distr1ct'4
potential by ehowing both the financial femeibility end the architec—
tural merit of such improvements. The architecture of the Bkid Road
is the most consistent in the city due to the consideratione of
change in business location, mentioned in statement of significance.
Now, there are many spatial voids due to demolition for parking lots,
but not to the extent where continuity need be lost in effective
future restoration. There hae been little unsympathetic remodeling.

Because of strict fire codes after the Seattle Fire of 1889, only

" masonry materials have been used with forme and details consistent
with the style and its era, Considerable variety ie found among

the buildings. The Pioneer Building exhibite flambopyent patterns
.and variedﬁetaile typical of Vlctorian Romanesques The Maud Building
showe vari-colored brickwork and pleasing restraint and proportion,
Some buildings, like the Maynmard and Mutual Life Buildings, show
moet ornamentation on the exterior., Others, like the L.C., Smith
Building, Smith Tower Annex, and a few restored buildings, show more
noteworthy characteristice in their interior detailing. Many
buildings are gquite anonymouys in character and design and yet the sﬁmplﬁ,
direct brickwor of stone masonry adds to the overall effect of the
district by providing contrast within a range of homogeneity. The
wooden windows, usually double-hung, helP to give a consistent scale
as well, Most of the buildings were built in 1889, 1890, and up to
1910, .

Most of the buildings have lost their cornices as & result of the
1948 earthquake, However, it proved their structural strength,
Most of the buildings are structurally sound an of restoration,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (Include Personages, Dates, Events, Etc.)

On February 15, 1852, the homestead stakes for land that ultimately
became the city of Seattle were driven by the founding pioneers C.D. Boren,
Arthur A, Demny, end Williem N, Bell., The area claimed now constitutes
mogt of the present central business district and waterfront, ranging from
South Jackson Street to Denny Way. These men were part of the group
which had landed on November 13, 1851, at Alki Point, across Elliott Bay.
They chose the new location as a better place from which to ship logs and
lumber to booming gold-rush San Francisco,

Dr. David S. Maynard arrived shortly thereafter with lumber and
supplies from Olympia, to build the town'e first structure, a combined
store and home on the northwest corner of First South and $. Mein. He
was responsible for naming the town after his friend, Chief Sealth, or
Seattle.

~In the sprlnv of 1853, Henry L. Yesler was .encouraged to begin
operating his steam sewmill at the location of the northwest corner of
Firet Avenue and Yesler Way (Pioneer Squere), This was Seattle's first
and major industry. As lumber was selling for $60/thouaand board feet
in Callfornia, the new community -prospered,

Yesler's donation claim included a narrow.corridor encompassing
what is now Yesler Way =--— the street from which the term Skid Road was
derived. When the skid roed was used to skid logs down to the mill, it was

. & 49% grade, When improved, it was eased to a 15% grade, to accommodate
wegons and the Yesler-Leschi cable car which started from Pioneer Square.
Most of the early settlers, and meny of the Indians, worked in Yesler's mill

The area that is known as the Skid Road end Pioneer Square was the
heart of the community for more than the first half century of the town's
existence, During this period, Seattle became the major city in the
northwest quarter of the nation,

June 6, 1839, Seattle suffered a major disaster when all of the
docks and most of the business district were burned down., But immediate
reconstruction and weédespread publicity after the fire brought hordes
of new people and much additional business. Statehoed on November 11, 1889
made it possible for the town to spend money in public work, and the
citizens declared their intentions to rebuild the Skid Road area into
the moet beautiful city center in the world.

Because of the massive rebuilding within a short period after the
fire, and partly because of the influence of one architect, Elmer H.

' Pisher, there is great homogeneity of style and construction in the
Skid Road - Pioneer Square architecture. Although he is virtually
unknown today, Fisher appeares to have been responsible for the design

of at least sixty buildings in Seattle, many of which were located in
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thg Skid Road area.

Since all rebuilt structures ed to be of brick, stone,
and iron, the area has a unity of appearance, and a feeling of ‘substence.
The buildings were constructed in a period of.high prosperity and built
most solidly, Streets were widened, grades improved, and street trees
planted, The location was thé croesroad of all transportation in the
city, and so the fine iron pergola was built in Pioneer Square. That
Square (really a triengle) was made into a emall city park, and an
suthentic Indian totem pole was erected there. It has since been replaced
as the original one was lost..

The area to the south of Yesler Way was originally bozgy. During

- . reconstruction, buch regrading was accomplished and all of the swamps
. were filled. As streets were regraded, roadways were filled between fa—
bulkheads at the curbings on both sides of the street. and the sidewalks

were bridged over to the buildings, sometimes leaving lower store fronts
to be replaced by main entrances at the new upper gtreet grades, Some
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of thie underground, the older city, is visible today,and is seen on f
guided tours of the area. - : T ;
Seattle and this historic area prospered during the last decade of th;j

19th century, always due to lumber, but algo from other factors. James
Hill's initiation of the operation gf a combination of rail and shipping
. put Memphis cotton into Shanghsi 197 days faster than any other means :
of transportation; The gold rush of the Klondike and Nome brought not
only miners, but business, and shipping to Seattle as the nearest large
port. Seattle built ships for Alaska trade, and also became the center
of the Mosquito Fleet of emall steamers in Puget Sound.
Following World War I, business moved northward out of the Skid Road,
* and the area graduelly fell into lower uses. By the Depression of the
1930's the aree became an almost forgotten district. ’ :

' geattle's hour—glass configuration forces districts into rather
confined geographical areas. The business district of Seattle has
Purther been controlled by the recent building of the Interstate Highway
#5 freewesy. Therefore, businesses can go only north or- south of present
locations. The south, historic area, is becomming of increasing interest
a8 usable business area. Increasing numbers of property owners are.
following the examples of Ralph Andersonm, Dick White, and Marvin Burke
in cleaning and restoring the fine buildings of Pioneer Square and
Skid Road. Meny decorator shops, galleries, lively bars, and elegant
restaurants are opening and remaining in the area. .

' Several historic markers are already in the area: First private
‘schoel, founding of United Parcel Service, gnall fort of thé Indian war.
Many evente of local color and interest occurred in these blocks and
on these streets. All of the original settlers lived and worked here,

(It hes been brought to our attention that there is also a fine
sidewalk mosaic in-the 100 block on First South, advertising the
Lippy Building, now the Cascade Hotel.) Such mosaics were onee quite
common, *but possibly only two remain in Seattle.
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NAME AND TITLE:

Margaret A. Corley, King County Lisason

ORGANIZATION

Seattle Historical Socisety

STREET AND NUMBER:

2161 Eest Hanlin St.

CITY OR TOWN:

Seattle, 98102

July, 1969
STATE CODE
Washington 46

~“NATIONAL REGISTER VERIFICATION .«

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), 1 hereby nominate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been
evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:

C] State G Local [y

National

Charles H. Odegaard
Title D_u_ecmt ’

Washington State Parks _and .

Recreation Commission
Date

1/28/70

1 herebyv certify that this property is included in the

National Register.

(&wzf“ww()w .

Chief, Office of Archeology and Historic P%‘ .

JUN 221970

Date
ATTEST:
/ y > s
[,
“ Keeper of The[National Regist
Date JUN 3 1970
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Starting at the intersection of Alaskan Way Viaduct and
Columbia Street proceed east on Columbia to the mid point
between lst and 2nd Avenues, go south to Cherry then east
to the mid point between 2nd and 3rd Avenues. Go south to
a point about 75 feet north of Washington Street then east
to 3rd Avenue South and south to a point about 75' south of
Washington Street. Go west to 2nd Avenue South then south
to the mid point between South Jackson Street and South
King Street. Turn west to the mid point between Occidental
Avenue South and 1lst Avenue South. Go south to South King
Street then west to lst Avenue South. Go south to a point
about 125 feet south of South King Street then west to the
Alaskan Way Viaductﬁto intersection with Columbia Street.
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Section Page
SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING RECORD

NRIS Reference Number: 70000086 Date AD Approved: 1/15/2008
Pioneer Square—Skid Road District
(Additional Documentation) King WA
Property Name County State
N/A

A

Multiple Name

This property is listed in the National Register of Historic Places in
accordance with the attached nomination documentation subject to the
following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments, notwithstanding the
National Park Service certification included in the nomination

documentation/;
Q/M‘—W //S‘Aoaz

Sigdatef?/bf the Keeper Date of Action

Amendeé/items in Nomination:

State Certification:
The SHPO staff has confirmed that the documentation was submitted as a: nomination at the
local level of significance. [The certification block was not fully completed on the original form.]

Resource Count:
The resource count is revised to acknowledge the change in resource status for the two heavily
altered buildings at 318 Second Avenue (#145) and 213 Main Street (#146) [see below].

Significance:
The correct Period of Significance under Criteria A & C is: 1889--1931.

[This consolidates the four context periods defined in the nomination into a single comprehensive
period.]

The buildings located at 318 Second Avenue (#145) and 213 Main Street (#146) do not retain sufficient
historic integrity to merit listing as contributing buildings and are therefore re-categorized as non-
contributing resources. Each of the buildings was originally three stories in height, reflecting typical
patterns of local architectural development in the downtown area. Subsequent to damage from the 1949
earthquake the buildings were reduced to one story. While elements of the original historic fabric
remain, overall the buildings no longer convey sufficient integrity of design, materials, workmanship, and
feeling to convey an accurate picture of the historic period. Retention of minor details does not
compensate for the loss of scale or design and the impact of the alterations on the sense of historic
streetscape patterns. (Should the period of significance for the historic district be extended up to and
including the 1949 era in which the earthquake damage occurred, these properties might be
reconsidered as contributing resources in a similar manner to those buildings effected and radically
altered by the Second Avenue Extension project.)

continued




Verbal Boundary Description:
The Verbal Boundary Description should read: See attached sketch map. The boundary of the district

conforms to that proposed in the original 1970 nomination and amended in boundary increases
approved in 1978 and 1988 (see 1988 Boundary Increase for detailed verbal description). A clarification
is necessary with regard to the southeast boundary where new buildings have been built since the last
boundary documentation project. The modern, non-historic buildings set to the rear of the historic train
stations are not considered part of the nominated historic district despite the fact that the boundary line
now appears to cut through the building footprints.

The Verbal Boundary Justification should read: The boundary includes the resources that define the
best collection of historic buildings reflecting the historic period of Seattle’s earliest commercial
development. Areas outside the district reflect modern construction not in keeping with the historic
period of significance, major arterials (Alaskan Way), and different patterns of commercial and industrial
development.

These clarifications were confirmed with the WA SHPO office.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)
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National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places DEC 122007

Registration Form (A Reeren O FIGTORT: PAces

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the National
Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by
entering the information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions,
architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries
and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property
Historic name PIONEER SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT

Other names/site number

2. Location

Roughly bounded by the Viaduct, Railroad Ave. S., King St, 4™ and 5™

street & number Avenues, James and Columbia Sts and including the 500 block of 1* Ave South

not for publication

city or town __ Seattle ___ vicinity
State Washington code WA county King code 033  zipcode 98104

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this X
nomination __ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Hjstoric Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my
opinion, the property eets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered
significant __ nationally ___ statewide __ locally. ( _ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

7207 - QP

Date

WASHINGTON STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property ___ meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. ( __ See continuation sheet for
additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification -

I, hereby, that this property is: t Date of Action

entered in the National Register.
___ See continuation sheet
___ determined eligible for the
National Register.
___ See continuation sheet

___determined not eligible for the
National Register.

___removed from the
National Register.

___ other (explain:)




[ Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District

| King County , WA

[ Page2of 4

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box
x private building(s)
“x_ public-local “x district
public-State site
public-Federal " structure
object

Name of related multiple property listing:
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

NA

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not incl. previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Non-Contributing
126 29 buildings
5 ’ 7 sites
1 3 structures
1 11 objects
133 50 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

5 buildings +2 sites +1 structure + 2objects = 10

6. Functions or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic: hotel

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic: multiple dwelling, hotel, institutional housing.

Commerce/Trade: business, financial institution, restaurant,
warehouse, specialty store

Commerce/Trade: business, financial institution restaurant,
warehouse, professional, specialty store

Social: meeting hall, clubhouse, civic

Government: City Hall, firehouse, public works, correctional

facility

Government: City Hall, firehouse, public works, post office;

Education: school

Recreation & Culture:theater, monument
Agriculture: processing ( brewery, meat packing)

Recreation & Culture: monument, museum, art

Industry/Processing/Extraction: manufacturing,
communications & energy facilities; industrial storage

Industry/Processing/Extraction: manufacturing,
communications/energy facilities.

Defense: military facility, battle site

Landscape: park, plaza, street furniture, parking

Landscape: park, plaza, street furniture
Transportation: rail & road related

Transportation: rail & road related
Work in Progress/ Vacant

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Late Victorian: Victorian & Romanesque (Richardsonian);

Renaissance; Late 19" & 20™ Century Revivals: Beaux Arts,

Italian & French Renaissance; Mission/ Spanish Colonial Revival

Late 19" & 20" Century American Movements: Commercial
Style, Chicago

Modern Movement: Moderne

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Concrete

walls  Brick ; stone; cast stone; terra cotta; cast iron

roof _Asphalt/ built-up

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property.) ~ SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the
property
for National Register listing.)

x A Property is associated with events that have

made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

x C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years oid or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture, Commerce

Community Planning and Development, Engineering,

Industry, Landscape Architecture,

Politics/ Government, Social History,

Transportation

Period of Significance
1. 1889-1899 2. 1900-1910

3.1911-1927 4.1928-1931

Significant Dates
1889; 1893; 1897; 1929; 1931

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/ Builder

Architects: Boone, W. E.; Fisher, Elmer; DeNeuf, E.;
Houghton, E.W; Saunders, C.; Parkinson, J.;

Skillings, W.; Wickersham, A; Bebb C.; Breitung, C.
A; Gould, A. W., Heins & LaFarge;
Umbrecht, Max; Patterson D. J.; Reed & Stem

Gaggin & Gaggin; Saunders and Lawton;

(Explain the significance of the property.) SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

_x__ preliminary determination of individual listing
(36 CFR 67) has been requested

_x__ previously listed in the National Register

x__ previously determined eligible by the National
Register

____ designated a National Historic Landmark
#

recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record#

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary location of additional data:
x  State Historic Preservation Office

x  Other State agency

x Federal agency

x Local government

x  University
___ Other
Name of repository:

1.0AHP 2. WA State Archives 3. NPS

4. Seattle Dept. of Neighborhoods
5. Manuscripts/Special Collections, U of

Washington
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 91.3 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM References on a continuation sheet.)

1110 |5]49 | 846 | |52 ]723] 21 | 3]10] | 5|50 544 | |52]|718] 68 |
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

2 10| |5]50] 539 | |s52]722) 97 1 4l | 5 |s50] 134 |52]715] 22 |
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property.) See continuation sheet.

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected.) See continuation sheet.

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle Karin Murr Link

organization Thomas Street History Services date July 14, 2005 (revised by SHPO —Nov 07)
street & number 705 East Thomas Street, #204 telephone  (206) 860-2949

city or town Seattle state WA zip code 98102

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Property Owner (Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Various

street & number telephone

city or town state zZip code
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Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID RoAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
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Section number 7 Page 1 of 289

Present and Historical Physical Appearance

The Pioneer Square-Skid Road Historic District was originally listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in June 1970. There have been two subsequent boundary expansions. The 1978 boundary expansion increased
the district from 52 acres to 88 acres. The 1988 boundary increase included an area of approximately 3.3 acres,
located along First Avenue South and south of King Street. The goal of this nomination is to assemble a much more
complete record concerning both the physical appearance and cultural significance of the existing resources in the
district. This updated nomination, in particular, reconsiders the cultural significance of several buildings that were
overlooked in the previous nominations. It also extends the period of significance of the district in light of previously
ignored historical events that have affected the overall urban design and physical appearance of the district. This
update maintains the existing boundaries of the district.

All of the district’s buildings date from after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889, which reduced roughly 30 blocks
or more of the original City of Seattle to ashes. The area was quickly rebuilt. Today, the district remains a striking
ensemble of architecturally significant buildings, many of which date from right after the Great Fire of 1889 and into
the 1890s. Typically, the streets follow a grid pattern, although there is a well-known change in the direction of the
grid north of Yesler Way, as a result of a tiff or miscommunication between two early landowners, Maynard and
Boren (This is explained in greater detail in the Statement of Significance). Buildings typically cover most the width
and depth of their assigned lots, but with sidewalk consistently encircling city blocks.

Buildings within the district date from four successive periods. The first period spans from right after the Fire
of June 6, 1889 to 1899. During this period, Seattle’s commercial district, known as the “burnt district,” was rebuilt
and the area subsequently suffered the impacts of the Panic of 1893 and then the early impacts of the Klondike Gold
Rush. The second period, a time of explosive growth, is related to both the Klondike Gold Rush and the railroads and
spans from 1900 to 1910. In the original nominations, the third period spanned from 1911 to 1916 and a final pre-
World War 1 surge of construction. For this update, the third period has been extended to encompass buildings
associated with the war effort during World War I and/ or completed between 1911 and 1927. A fourth period, from
1928 to 1931, is associated with the Second Avenue Extension, a public works project of 1928-1929, which
continued to have far-reaching consequences on the architecture, the open spaces and streetscape in the district until
1931.

The many extant buildings all have common characteristics, but vary somewhat over the successive periods.
The first period from 1889 to 1899 shows a preponderance of buildings with exterior brick walls and heavy timber
interiors. Stylistically, some buildings show the influence of the Late Victorian style, particularly in the fagade
composition, which is marked by vertical bays, with additional horizontal and vertical elements. Other buildings are
more typically Richardsonian Romanesque, inspired by the work of H.H. Richardson, or reflect the influence of
contemporary Chicago architectural firms such as Burmham and Root. Not uncommon in this period is the
combination in one building exterior of Victorian fagade composition with more Richardsonian Romanesque, as
well as Chicago School elements. The architectural vocabulary includes repeated round and/ or flat arches, low
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slung arched entries, heavy masonry, sculpted Romanesque Revival column capitals and fagade compositions which
often suggest both a base, shaft and capital arrangement, in addition to standard Victorian fagade divisions.

During the period from 1900 to 1910, the fagade composition becomes more regular, with a clearly
delineated base, shaft and capital arrangement and a greater sophistication in design. The Alaska Building of 1904 is
a Beaux Arts influenced, steel frame skyscraper and, after its completion, remained the tallest building in the district
for the next 10 years. Several other Beaux Arts influenced buildings, including the Frye Hotel, made their appearance
in the district during this period. There are also buildings by the architecture firm of Bebb and Mendel: the Corona
Building and the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building are clearly influenced by the work of Louis Sullivan. In
this period, however, the most prevalent building exterior features a clear base, shaft and capital arrangement and
vertical recessed bays, set between multi-story brick piers. The treatment of the cladding of the base, of the belt-
course, of the piers themselves, which may or may not be ornamented, and of the cornice, varies considerably from
building to building.

The period from 1911 to 1927 sees comparatively less building, although the monumental achievement is the
Smith Tower, a skyscraper by the architectural firm of Gaggin and Gaggin, whose exterior includes recessed bays,
trabeated openings and cladding in ormamented white terra cotta. The first six floors of the King County Courthouse,
designed by local architect A. Warren Gould and completed in 1916, are Beaux Arts inspired. More utilitarian hotel
building exteriors by Albert Wickersham, a Seattle architect, who also practiced during the 1889-1899 period, have
repeated openings and simple decorative elements, often in dark red brick, perhaps a throw-back to an earlier period.
The 1920s, before the Second Avenue Extension, see very little building, although some variety in styles and
materials, rug brick combined with terra cotta trim or stucco exteriors.

Finally the period from 1928 to 1931 includes buildings modified or erected at the time of the Second
Avenue Extension Project. This public works project cut a swath from Yesler Way to past Jackson Street, near the
train terminals and sliced into buildings in its path. In some cases, buildings were partially demolished and lost one or
more of their facades. After remodeling, for instance, an early building might retain one fagade from the 1900s, but
have a second facade, dating anywhere from 1928 to 1931 and usually Moderne in style. Examples of such treatment
occur in the case of the Ace Hotel, which dates originally from 1904, 1t retained its 1904 eastern fagade, while its
western Moderne facade dates from the time of the Second Avenue Extension and was completed in 1930. There are
many more examples related to the Second Avenue Extension Project.

The district has only a few historic contributing open spaces; however, Pioneer Place, which includes a cast
iron pergola, a totem and a fountain with the bust of Chief Seattle, remains an important focal point, which has given
its original name, Pioneer Square, to the district. Occidental Park and Occidental Mall, built subsequently in 1972,
were created as an extension of the original Pioneer Place. The other historical open space is City Hall Park,
previously known as Dilling Park, which is located to the south of the King County Courthouse and near the eastern
edge of the district. Within City Hall Park, the “Daughters of the American Revolution Battle of Seattle Site” is also
listed separately on the National Register of Historic Places as an historic site.
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The following five buildings were also previously listed separately on the National Register or as part of a
nomination for a much smaller grouping of historic resources: the Triangle Building, the Pioneer Building, King
Street Station, Union Station (formerly the Oregon and Washington Station) and 400 Yesler Way. The two objects
described as part of a small nomination which included Pioneer Place, as well as the Pioneer Building, are the
Pioneer Place totem pole and the Chief Seattle fountain. The same nomination also includes the Pioneer Place
Pergola.

In general, the district has a sizeable number of historic, contributing resources and the large majority of
these are buildings. Of the 193 resources, (including 10 listed separately or as part of other National Register
nominations, but minus 12 vacant sites), 143 (74 %) are contributing and 50 (26 %) are non contributing, with 21
historic, non contributing resources and 29 non historic, non contributing resources. Of the 133 historic, contributing
resources not listed elsewhere, there are 126 buildings, 5 historic sites, 1 historic object and 1 historic structure. Of
the 50 non contributing resources, there are 29 non contributing buildings, 7 non contributing sites, 3 non
contributing structures and 11 non contributing objects. Below is a more general summary of the distribution of
resources.

CLASSIFICATION No. of Resources
Resources previously on the National Register 10
Historic, Contributing 133
Historic, Non contributing 21
Non Historic, Non contributing 29

Total Resources 193
Vacancies 12
Total No. with vacancies 205

In general, resources were considered historic, if they dated from within the periods of significance, assigned
to the district in this nomination, that is, if they dated from 1889 to 1931. In general, they were considered
contributing, if they retained their physical exterior integrity, based on original design, detailing and materials. In
addition, a few resources were considered contributing, if they retained a sufficient amount of historic integrity and,
in addition, were of particular historic significance to the district. In most cases, the current appearance was
compared with historic photos.
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Historic District Resources (numerical by identification)

Alaskan Commercial Hotel

ID# | Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
1 61 Columbia St Polson Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1910
Lawton
2 611 Western Avenue Historic, Contributing | Saunders & 1910
Lawton?
3 305 1% Avenue Parking Lot Vacant - NA -
4 1 Yesler Way Bedford Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1911
5 83 Columbia St Journal Building Historic, Contributing - 1898/
1914
6 633 Post Ave. (Alley) | New Post Station, Seattle Historic, Contributing | Engineer: 1902
Steam Company Stone &
Webster
7 619 Post Ave. (Alley) | Old Post Station, Seattle Steam | Historic, Contributing - 1890/
Company 1903
8 611 Post Ave. (Alley) | Elgin Hotel/ Historic, Contributing | A.Wickersham | 1913
Travellers’ Hotel
9 77 Yesler Way Yesler Hotel Historic, Contributing | A.Wickersham | 1914
10 110 Alaskan Way S. Heffernan Engine Works Historic, Contributing - 1918
11 114 Alaskan Way S. Prudential Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1902
Fred Cole Building
12 69 S. Washington St Lowman and Hanford Printing | Historic, Contributing - 1890
and Binding Company
13 81 S. Washington St. Charles Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1889
14 77 S. Washington Pacific Coast Company Historic, Contributing - 1904/
1908
15 210 Alaskan Way Lutheran Compass Center Non Historic, Non Stickney 2004
Addition contributing Murphy
Romine
16 212 Alaskan Way 0. K. Hotel Historic, Contributing Ishram 1917
Johnson
17 76 S. Main St/ 218 Boston Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1907
Alaskan Way South Puget Sound Hotel
18 80 S. Main St Victor Appel Building —Argens | Non Historic, Non - 1951
Lock contributing
19 75 S. Main St Alaska Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1892
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20 304 Alaskan Way S. | Oregon and Washington Historic, Contributing - 1890
Railroad and Navigation
Company
21 316 Alaskan Way S. | Terminal Garage Historic, Non contributing - 1909
22 83 S. Jackson St Schwabacher Warehouse | Historic, Contributing Bebb & 1909
Annex Gould
23 83 S. Jackson St Merrill Place Fountain Non Historic, Non NBBJ/Olson | 1984
(Site) contributing Walker
24 83 S. Jackson St Merrill Place Parking Non Historic, Non “ 1984
Garage contributing
25 701 1** Avenue People’s Bank and Parking | Non Historic, Non - 1970
Garage contributing
26 627 1* Avenue Silver Hotel/ Pioneer Drug | Historic, Non contributing - 1908;
Company late 20"
century
27 625 1* Avenue S. K & R Building/ Pioneer | Historic, Contributing - Ca.18897
Office Equipment 1905
28 Diamond Parking Lot NA - Vacant - NA
29 606 Post Ave. (Alley) | Fischer and MacDonald Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1892
Wholesale Store E. DeNeuf
30 605 1% Ave. Mutual Life Building/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1890,
Yesler Building E. DeNeuf/ Alt.
Robertson & | 1893;
Blackwell Addition
Ca.1904
31 95 Yesler Way Yesler Building/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1891;
Bank of Commerce E. DeNeuf Ca.1895
Building
32 105 1% Ave. S. Schwabacher Building Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1890;
E. DeNeuf ca. 1892
33 109 1% Ave. S. Terry Denny Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & | 1891
Northern Hotel Houghton
34 119 1* Ave S. Maynard Building/ Historic, Contributing A 1892
Dexter Horton Building Wickersham
35 89 S. Washington St | J & M Annex/ Walter Historic, Contributing - 1892
Collins Building
201 1% Ave. S. J & M Hotel/ ] & M Card | Historic, Contributing Comstock & | 1889;
36 Roony Seattle Bar Saloon Troetsche Ca.1900
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ID# | Address

Historic Name

Rank

Architect Date

37 207 1% Ave. S.

Skagit Hotel/ Central Card
Room

Historic, Contributing

Comstock & 1889
Troetsche

38 209 1 Ave. S. Hotaling Block/ Marathon Historic, Contributing Builder: 1889,
Hotel Capt John 18997
Nixon
39 211 1 Ave. S. Parker Bldg/ Lucky Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1889
Killion Building
40 213 1% Ave. S. Branagan-Smith Building Historic, Contributing Builder: 1889
/Rocker Hotel Matthew
Branagan?
41 219 1" Ave. S. New England Hotel Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1889
42 301 1% Ave. S. Matilda Winehill Block Historic, Contributing Bucheler & 1890
Hummel
43 305 1% Ave. S. Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
44 311 1* Ave. S. Maud Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1890
Houghton
45 313 1% Ave. S. Crown Hotel Historic, Contributing Charles Bebb? | 1900
46 317 1% Ave. S. Squires Building Historic, Contributing Charles Bebb | 1900
47 80 S. Jackson St Smith Building Historic, Contributing Max 1900
Umbrecht
48 401 1* Ave. S. Schwabacher Hardware Historic, Contributing Bebb & 1905
Company Building Mendel
49 411 1" Ave. S. Seller Building Historic, Contributing A.W.Gould | 1906
50 419 1* Ave. S. Hambach Building Historic, Contributing - 1913

51 83 S. King St

Seattle Hardware Company
Building

Historic Contributing

A.Wickersham | 1904

52 501 1% Ave. S. Seattle Hardware Company | Historic, Contributing same 1923
Warehouse Annex

53 535 1% Ave. S. Parking garage & surface Non Historic, Non - 1969
parking contributing

54 547 1% Ave. S. West Transfer Company Historic, Non - 1919
Building/ Duncan & Sons contributing
Bldg

55 551 1% Ave. S.

Triangle Bar/ Flatiron
Building

Historic, Contributing,
NR

C. A. Breitung | 1910

NR= on the National Register (separate or other listing)




NPS Form 10-900a
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQuARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number

A

Page 8 of 289

OMB No. 1024-0018

ID# | Address Historic Name Rank Architect | Date
56 706 1% Ave. S. Parking Garage Non Historic, Non - 1958
contributing
57 110 Cherry St/ Scheuerman Block Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1890 &
700 1* Ave. 1903
58 107 Cherry St Lowman Building Historic, Contributing Heide & 1906
DeNeuf
59 616 1* Ave. S. Lowman and Hanford Historic, Contributing Emil 1892
A Building DeNeuf 1902
60 612 1% Ave. S. Howard Building Historic, Contributing DeNeuf 1890
(attrib.)
61 606 1 Ave. S. Pioneer Building Historic, Contributing, NR E. Fisher 1892
62 Pioneer Place Pioneer Square, Historic, Contributing, NR - 1889-
“Occidental Square” 1910
63 Pioneer Place Pergola (structure)/ Historic, Contributing, NR Julian 1909-
Comfort station Everett 1910
64 Pioneer Place Chief Seattle Bust & Historic, Contributing, NR J. Wehn 1909
fountain (sculptor)
65 Pioneer Place Totem Pole ( Replica of | Historic, Contributing, NR C. Brown 1938
pre-1899 Tlingit pole) & father
66 Pioneer Place “Day and Night” Non Historic, Non E. Heap of 200 C.
(object) contributing Birds
67 102 1*' Ave S. Olympic Building Non Historic, Non - 1984-5
contributing
68 104 1 Ave. S. Lippy Building Historic, Contributing E. Houghton | 1902
69 112 19 Ave. S City Club Building/ Historic, Contributing Heins & 1897 &
Olympus Cafe Lafarge 1906
70 108 1" Ave. S. Terry Kittinger Building | Historic, Contributing Steinmann 1891
71 202 1% Ave. S. Buttnick Building Historic, Contributing - 1909
72 206 1% Ave. S. Gottstein Building Historic, Contributing - 1903
73 216 1* Ave. S. Squire Latimer Block Historic, Contributing Comstock | 1891
& Troetsche
74 310 1" Ave. S./ Marshall-Walker Block | Historic, Contributing W.E. Boone | 1891
107 1% Ave. S.
75 SE Corner of 1% Ave. S. Earl Layman /Young Historic, Non-Contributing - 1907

and Main St

Credit Jewellers’ Clock

(Moved to present site in 1984)
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76 314 1 Ave. S. Nord Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1890
77 316 1* Ave. S. Seattle Quilt Building/ | Historic, Contributing Boone & 1890
Walker Building Corner
78 322 1" Ave. S. Capitol Brewing and Historic, Contributing A. Breitung 1900
Malting Company
79 101 S. Jackson St Western Dry Goods/ Historic, Contributing - 1904
Wax and Raine Building
80 100 King St Westland Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1904
Hambaca Building/ Lawton
Tempco Quilters
81 101 King St/ Mueller Wholesale Historic, Non-Contributing | F. A. Sexton 1910
500 1% Ave S. Block/ Norfin Building
82 508-34 1% Ave. S. Seattle Security Historic, Non-Contributing | Lohman & 1909
Company Building/ Place
Norfin Warehouse
83 538 1™ Ave. S. Kaufman Warehouse Historic, Contributing W.P. White 1910
84 542 1™ Ave. S. George Hoffman’s Historic, Contributing Builder: 1903
Carriage Factory/ Megath &
Washington Shoe Duhamel
Company Building
85 548 1*' Ave. S. Carstens Bros. Cold Historic, Contributing Builder: David | 1904
Storage Dow
86 558 1% Ave. S. E. N. Fobes Building Historic, Contributing A. W. Gould 1908/
1910
87 562 1% Ave. S. Bornstein & Sons Historic, Contributing Josenhans & 1909
Warehouse Allan?
88 568 1% Ave. S. Provident Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1910
Lawton
89 590 1* Ave. S. Seattle Plumbing Historic, Contributing - 1903
Company Building
90 109 Yesler Way Sanderson Block/ Historic, Contributing W.E.Boone | 1890
Merchant’s Cafe
91 111 Yesler Way Padden Block/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1890
Bohemian Café/ Eagle

Cafe
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92 119 Yesler Way Korn Block Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1889
93 107 Occidental Way S. | Walker Block/ Frye Historic, Contributing Boone & 1891
Market Willcox
94 117 Occidental Way S. | Star Theater? Historic, Non contributing - 1915/
late 20"
century
95 116 & 118 S. Scandinavian Hotel and | Historic, Contributing - 1890
Washington St Clancy Building
96 124 S. Washington St | Hotel Interurban Historic, Non contributing - 1895/
late
20th
century
97 Occidental Park Occidental Park/ Non Historic, Non Ilze Jones, 1972
(Occidental Way between | Occidental City Park contributing Jones and
S. Washington & S. Main | (Site) Jones
Streets)
08 same Tsnonoqua (totem) Non Historic, Non Duane Pasco 1973
contributing
99 same Bear (totem) Non Historic, Non same 1973
contributing
100 same Sun & Raven (totem) Non Historic, Non same 1971
contributing
101 same Man Riding on the Tail | Non Historic, Non same 1974
of a Killer Whale (totem) | contributing
102 same Pergola Non Historic, Non Iize Jones, 1972
(structure) contributing Jones & Jones
103 Occidental Park Sculpture: Seattle Fallen | Non Historic, Non Hay Ca.
Firefighters Memorial contributing Ying 1990
Yu
104 Main St/ Occidental Way | Trolley Structure Non Historic, Non contrib. - same
105 Occidental Way between | Occidental Mall Non Historic, Non lize Jones 1972
S. Main & S. Jackson St contributing
106 117 S. Main St Superior Candy and Historic, Contributing - 1902
Cracker Company?
107 119 S. Main St Union Trust Building Historic, Contributing Skillings & 1893

Corner
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108 311 Occidental Ave S Waltham Block Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1890
109 122 S. Jackson St Crescent Manufacturing | Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Co./ Ingels Block 1910s
110 123 S. Jackson St Seattle Transfer Co./ Historic, Contributing - 1902
Scientific Supplies
111 115 S. Jackson St Fisher Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Rautman Plumbing & 1930
Heating Co./ Simonds
and Brawley Buildings
112 419 Occidental Ave. S. | Manufacturers Building/ | Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1906
Manufacturers Exchange Lawton
Building/ Stewart and
Holmes
113 102 Occidental Ave S. | Seattle National Historic, Contributing J. Parkinson/ 1892
Bank/Pacific Block Parkinson & Evers
114 NE corner Occidental Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
Ave S and S. Washington
Street
115 Between S Washington St | Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
& S. Main Sts &
Occidental Way (Ave)
116 300 Occidental Ave. S. | State Building Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1891
117 314 Occidental Ave. S. | Sportscaster and Historic, Contributing - 1900
Company Building
118 400 Occidental Ave S. | Washington Shoe Mfng | Historic, Contributing Boone & Willcox; | 1892;
Co. Bldg/ Washington Blackwell & 1912;
Iron Works/ J. M. Frink Baker 1930s
Building
119 416 Occidental Ave. S. | Graybar Electric Co./ Historic, Contributing - 1930
Pacific Northwest Bell
Telephone
120 619 2™ Avenue Bailey Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1889-
Harrisburg Building Houghton 1892
121 601 2™ Avenue Butler Block/ Butler Historic, Non Contributing | Parkinson & Evers | 1890
Hotel
122 515 2™ Avenue Sinking Ship Parking Non Historic, Non Mandeville & Ca.
Garage contributing Berge 1961
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123 433 2™ Ave. Extension S. | H. K. Owens Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1893
Building/Metropole Bldg E. DeNeuf
124 417 2™ Ave. Extension S. Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1891
125 411 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Circle Theater Historic, Non contributing - 1910
126 164 S. Washington St | Nugent Block and Historic, Contributing - 1890
Considine Block
127 East of 164 S. Sculpture (Steel, Non Historic, Non Artist: Jan Late
Washington St painted orange) Contributing Evans 20" C.
128 West of 173 S. Vacant lot (demolished | NA - Vacant - NA
Washington St buildings) .
129 173 S. Washington St | McGowan Block (w. Historic, Contributing - Ca.
portion) 1895
130 211 2™ Ave. S. LeRoy Hotel Historic, Non-Contributing - 1890;
Ca. late
1990s
131 215 2™ Ave. S. Lucknow Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1900
Ruggles Building
132 NW corner-2" Ave. S. | Annie E Casie Waterfall | Non Historic, Non Masao 1977
and Main Street Garden/ Casey Waterfall | contributing Kinoshita
Park (site)
133 305 2™ Ave. S. Fire Station No. 10 Historic, Contributing - 1929
(now No.2)
134 3152 Ave. S. Duncan & Sons Building | Historic, Contributing - 1900
135 319 2™ Ave S. Wittler Block/ Shanks | Historic, Contributing Hetherington | 1889
and Mills Block/ Elliott & Clements &
House/ Star Lodge Company
136 171 S. Jackson St Northcoast Historic, Contributing Boone & 1901
Building/Fuller Building/ Comer
Chapin Building
137 401 2™ Ave. S. Goldsmith Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1907
Crane Building Lawton
138 201 S. Washington St | Apex Building Historic, Non-Contributing - Ca.
1890;

1900
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139 312 2™ Ave. Extension | Hambach Warehouse/ Historic, Contributing Josenhans & 1905;
Northwest Hotel Supply Allan; Lawton & | 1928
Moldenhour
140 220 2™ Avenue South | Furuya Building Historic, Contributing - 1900;
Ca.
1903-
1904
141 222 S. Main St Corgiat Building/ Historic, Contributing R. L Robertson; | 1900
Main Hotel D. Delaney
(builder)
142 301 2™ Ave Extension S. | Fiesta Building/ Fiesta Non Historic, Non - 1934
Coffee Shop contributing
143 (No address available) | Surface parking NA - Vacant - NA
(#5247800845)
144 312 2" Ave. S. Moses Building/ Sartori | Historic, Contributing - 1901
Building
145 318 2™ Ave. S. Fulton Hotel/ Fulton Inn/ | Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Totem Distributing Co.
146 213 S. Main St Cannery Workers ILWU | Historic, Contributing E. W. Houghton; | 1900;
Local 37/ Cascade Spurr & Silber, Ca.
Laundry (builder) 1928
147 307 3 Ave. S. Mottman Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1906
Norris Safe Building/
Mohawk Building
148 319 39 Ave. S. U. S. Rubber Building/ Historic, Contributing Boone & Corner | 1902
Pacific Drug Company/
Stadium Furniture/
Seattle Paint Company
149 201 S. Jackson St King County Center Non Historic, Non NBBIJ 1999
contributing
150 201 S. Jackson St King County Center Non Historic, Non NBBJ & Hewitt; | 1999
(southeast plaza) southeast plaza contributing Jack Mackie,
artist
151 618 2™ Ave. Alaska Building Historic, Contributing Eames & Young | 1904
152 606 2™ Ave. Corona Building/ Historic, Contributing Bebb & Mendel 1903
Oriental Building
153 600 2™ Ave. Hartford Building Historic, Contributing John Graham, Sr. | 1929
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Contributing buildings within the district, often three stories in height or taller, retain a significant portion of
their historical exterior design, materials and architectural detailing. Changes to the ground floor storefronts are not
uncommon, but are more than offset by the intact nature of the upper floors, or by significant detail even at the
storefront level. In several cases, cornices on buildings have been lost or replaced as a result of a major earthquake in
1949, but this loss is balanced by the integrity of the rest of the building exterior. The few contributing sites retain
their original shape, in addition to contributing elements such as historic pergolas and totems and/or significant
paving or landscaping. The number of contributing structures and objects, as opposed to buildings, are few, but most
are associated with contributing sites. Following is a table of the resources within the Pioneer Square-Skid Road
National Historic District. This will be followed by descriptions and cultural data for each of the resources.
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154 520 2™ Ave. Collins Building Historic, A. B. Chamberlin 1894
Contributing
155 512 2™ Ave. Florence Theater Historic, Non - 1900;
' contributing 1924;
ca.
2000
156 502 2™ Ave. Smith Tower Historic, Gaggin & Gaggin 1911-
Contributing 1914
157 Fortson Square Fortson Square Historic, Non 1901;
contributing Willwerth/ Conner ca.
- 2000 1929;
2000
158 Fortson Square (Sculpture by Elizabeth | Non Historic, Non E. Conner (artist) Ca.
Conner) contributing 2000
159 Fortson Square (Five lamps- replicas of | Non Historic, Non - Ca.
historic gaslight fixtures) | Contributing 2000
160 201 Yesler Way Campbell Fuller Historic, Non - 1891
Bul]dmg/ Tyee Saloon contributing
161 408 2" Ave. Extension S Leighton Center/ Leroy Historic, Non - 1909;
Helms Center/ Harbor contributing 1967;
Light Ca.
1999
162 406- 410 2™ Ave. Monterey Hotel/ Historic, - 1909;
Lexington Hotel (north Contributing Ca.
wing) 1929
163 400 2™ Ave. Kon Yick Building/ Chin | Historic, W. E. Boone? Ca.
Gee Hee Building Contributing (1890 form) 1890;
1900
164 211 S. Washington St Duppenthaler Building Non Historic, Non - 1936
contributing
165 318 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Ace Hotel Historic, - 1904;
Contributing ca.
1930
166 Surface parking NA - Vacant - NA
167 519 3" Avenue Drexel Hotel Historic, - Ca.
Contributing 1890
168 501 3" Avenue Morrison Hotel Historic, Schack & Huntington | 1909

Contributing
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
169 3" Avenue & Yesler Way | Pioneer Square Metro Non Historic, Non TRA 1990
Station (bUS tunnel) Contributing
170 Prefontaine Place Prefontaine Place Historic, Contributing Carl F. Gould | 1926
(Between Jefferson & (site)
Yesler & 3" Ave.)
171 223 Yesler Way Frye Hotel Historic, contributing Bebb & 1908
Mendel
172 115 3™ Ave. S. Frye Garage Historic, Contributing J. H. Randall 1926
173 West of 123 3™ Ave Surface Parking NA - Vacant -
174 123 3 Ave. Walthew Building Non Historic, Non contrib.. - 1971
175 219 S. Washington St Graham Block (part of ) | Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1892
176 221 S. Washington St Graham Block (part of) | Historic, Contributing - 1890
177 Union Station Square | Union Station Square Historic, Non Contributing | K. Nakano 1929;
(Site) (late 20" c.) 20" C.
178 Union Station Square | Sculptural elements Non Historic, Non Bill Will 20" C.
Contributing (artist)
179 301 S. Jackson St King Street Station Historic, Contributing, NR | Reed & Stem | 1906
180 500 3" Ave. King County Courthouse | Historic, Contributing A. W..Gould/ | 1916,
Bittman/ 1931
McCauley
181 City Hall Park City Hall Park/ Dilling Historic, Contributing - 1911,
(SE of King County Park (Site) 1917,
Courthouse) 20" C.
182 City Hall Park Battle of Seattle Site Historic, Contributing, NR - 1916
(Boulder with plaques)
183 City Hall Park Tunnel walls Historic, Contributing Huntington/ 1917
‘ Josenhans
184 101 Prefontaine Place | Tashiro Building Historic, Contributing - 1908
185 115 Prefontaine Place | Kaplan Building Historic, Non contributing | C.R. Aldrich | Ca.
1906-8
186 200 3™ Ave S. Davenport Hotel/ Hotel | Historic, Contributing Elliot & West | 1905
Union
187 206 3 Ave. S. Norton Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1905
Northcoast Electric Bldg Lawton
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
188 210 3™ Avenue S. Richmond Paper Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1904
Company/ Westcoast Lawton
Wholesale Drug
189 220 3 Avenue S. C.T. Takahashi and Historic, Non contributing - 190S;
Company Late
20" C.
190 222 2" Ave.Extension S. Metropolitan Building Historic, contributing - Ca.
1905;
Ca.
1929
191 210 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Seattle Lighting Fixture | Non Historic, Non - 1946
Company Annex Contributing
192 South of 210 2" Ave. | Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
Ext. S.
193 4™ Ave S. and Yesler Yesler Overpass Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Way 1608
194 110 Prefontaine Place S. | Prefontaine Building Historic, Contributing H. Pederson 1909
(builder)
195 Between S. Washington {Opening above train Historic, Contributing Ca.
and S. Main Sts, w of 4™ | tracks, associated with 1929
Avenue South 2™ Ave. Extension
Project] - site
196 Between S. Main and S. same Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Jackson Sts, w of 4" 1929
Avenue South
197 On & south of Jackson {Triangular opening Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Street and s. Main St, above train tracks, 1929
west of 4" Avenue South | associated with 2™ Ave.
Extension Project} - site
198 401 S. Jackson St Oregon and Washington | Historic, Contributing, NR D.J. 1911
Station/ Union Pacific Patterson
Station/ Union Station
199 420 4™ Avenue 420 4™ Avenue Historic, Contributing - 1924
200 411 Jefferson St Milburn Hotel Historic, Non contributing - 1902;
1965
201 north of 410 4" Ave Surface Parking NA - Vacant -
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect | Date

202 410 4™ Avenue Crouley Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1909-
Reynolds Hotel 1910

203 400 4™ Avenue MacRae Parking Garage | Historic, Contributing - 1927

204 400 Yesler Way City Hall/ Public Safety | Historic, Contributing, NR Clayton D. 1909
Building Wilson

205 Yesler and 4™ Avenue Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
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Descriptions and Cultural Data

Address: 61 Columbia St

Historic Name: Polson Building Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 194 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202565
Style: Commercial/ Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 1

Description

This six story building, rectangular in plan, has a concrete foundation, a full basement and reinforced concrete
walls. It has a primarily flat roof and parapet and primary facades on Western Avenue and Columbia Street. The
Western Avenue fagade is divided into six bays with trabeated openings at the ground level. Within these
openings, the storefronts are set in wooden frames and have transom lights. Above a belt-course in concrete, there
are four standard central vertical bays, set between piers. Each of these bays has a horizontal row of four double-
hung windows in a wood frame (per floor). To each side of the four central bays, are end bays with a horizontal
row of three windows per floor. The Columbia Street elevation has a similar design and detailing, except that
there are six central bays with horizontal rows of three double-hung windows. Here, side bays consist of
horizontal rows of two windows. There is now an entrance at the fourth bay from the east (or from the corner of
Western Avenue and Columbia Street), which is a later addition.

Cultural Data

Named after its original owner, the Polson Realty Company, the Polson Building was built in 1910 and designed
by the architectural firm of Saunders and Lawton. The building is significant, because it dates from a period of
economic and industrial growth in Seattle, which included the expansion of the original heart of the city along the
former tideflats. The building’s construction is in reinforced concrete, indicating a shift in construction knowledge
and techniques, since many warehouse buildings from only a few years before had brick exterior walls and heavy
timber interiors.

While this is a simple, utilitarian building, it has much in common with other more ornate warehouse buildings,
erected in the same period in the district. It was also designed by a notable Seattle architecture firm. The
architectural firm of Saunders and Lawton was formed in 1898, when Charles Saunders joined with his former
draftsman, George Lawton. Within this historic district alone, the firm was very prolific. It was responsible for
several other warehouse buildings in the district, including the Westland Building of 1907, the Norton Building of
1904, the Mottman Building of 1906 and the F. X. McRory Building (formerly the McKesson and Roberts
Building) of 1906.
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Charles Saunders’ career in Seattle goes back to 1889. He came to Seattle in 1889 right after the Great Fire,
probably because of an association with William Elder Bailey. Bailey was involved in ventures in real estate,
railroads and newspapers in Seattle, right after the Fire of 1889 until the early 1890s, when his finances went sour.
By September of 1889, Charles Saunders had formed a partnership with the British born Edwin Houghton, whom he
had probably met in California. The Saunders and Houghton Partnership also produced several notable buildings in
the new heart of Seattle right after the Fire of 1889, including the Bailey Building, the Terry Denny Building and
the now demolished Olympic Block. After the dissolution of the Saunders and Houghton partnership in 1890,
Saunders practiced independently until the formation of the Saunders and Lawton partnership in 1898, which lasted
until 1915. Saunders and Lawton were also responsible for the Forestry Building, made of raw logs, at the Alaska-
Yukon Exposition in Seattle in 1908-09 and were supervising architects on the construction of Eames and Young’s
Alaska Building, also in the Pioneer Square Historic District.

The Polson Building was partially burnt in 1958 and is described as having been “rebuilt” in 1958. In the late 1990s,
it also suffered a severe fire, which destroyed the art work of many artists who had studios in the building at the
time. It was again rehabilitated, but based on historical photographs and despite two major fires, the basic design
and exterior have not changed significantly since 1910.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.

Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 611 Western Avenue

Historic Name: Unknown Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 194 /Lots 3-4 Parcel #: 7666202570
Style: Commercial/ Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 2

Description

611 Western Avenue has three elevations, which are now visible from the street: two, on Western Avenue and
Alaskan Way, were meant to be facades. A third, south elevation, alongYesler Way, was originally designed to face
an alley, and now looks down on a surface parking lot. The building footprint is 100" x 134°, with the longer
dimension facing north and south. The building is six stories, with, like its neighbor, the Polson Building, reinforced
concrete walls. It has a partial basement and concrete foundation walls. The Western Avenue and Alaskan Way
elevations have belt-courses, just above the first story and just below the sixth story. Otherwise the building exterior
is unadorned.
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The Western Avenue fagade, which faces east, is divided into five bays, separated by piers. At the ground level, it
has wood framed storefronts with multi-light transom windows in the third and fourth bays (counting from the
South). The three central bays of levels two to five have a horizontal row of four pivoting windows, (three over
three), in wooden frames, topped by horizontally pivoting transom windows (three lights). The single bays to each
side of the three central bays each consist of a row of three windows, also with pivoting transom windows overhead.
The top sixth level has the same standard multi-light window, but no transoms. The whole is surmounted by a flat
cornice in concrete, surmounted by additional parapet wall in concrete, which looks as though it may have been
added later.

The west elevation on Alaskan Way more or less mirrors the Western Avenue elevation, except that the ground
level has a loading dock platform and a hodge-podge of doorways, fenestration and garage doors. The former
alleyway elevation on Yesler is wider and has no belt-courses. At the second level, it has 14 of the standard
window, but no transom windows. The next three floors have 8 of the standard windows with transom windows.
There is a wide expanse of wall to each side of the windows (in the horizontal direction). The top level of windows
consists of the standard three over three windows, with no transoms.

Cultural Data

The building was designed in 1910. It is a utilitarian building, similar in design to its neighbor, the Polson
Building. Not surprisingly, it was also designed as a warehouse building. While simple and utilitarian, it has much
in common with other more ornate warehouse buildings erected in the same period in the district. It stands out
somewhat because of its original multi-light windows above the storefront level. These impart a pleasing rhythm,
especially on the Western Avenue fagade. The building is significant because it dates from the period of economic
and industrial growth of the original heart of Seattle along the former tideflats. Like its neighbor, the Polson
Building, its construction is in reinforced concrete, indicating a shift in construction knowledge and techniques,
since many warechouse buildings from just a few years before still had brick exterior walls and heavy timber
interiors. There does not seem to be an architect of record, but given the similarity with the Polson Building and
the fact that it was also designed in 1910, it is very possible that it too was designed by Saunders and Lawton, a
notable Seattle architecture firm. (For further information on Saunders and Lawton, please see the context
statement, Section 8, and the cultural Data Section for the Polson Building, Field no. 1)

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.
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Address: 305 First Avenue S. (Surface Parking Lot)

Historic Names: NA Built: NA

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 194 / Lot 4-5 Parcel: # 7666202575
Style: NA

Architect: NA Builder: NA

Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 3

Address: 1 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Bedford Hotel Built: 1911

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 197 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202594
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown

Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 4

Description

This is small, three story brick-clad building, triangular in plan. It has a flat roof and a parapet which rises at the
corners of the building and at the narrow south elevation. The main elevation faces north and has five
asymmetrically placed arched openings toward the west at the ground level, which date from a 1967 remodel. One
of these serves as an entry to a business, currently a restaurant. Above the storefront on the north and on the east
and west elevations, rectangular window openings are placed in a more or less consistent fashion from elevation to
elevation. They are equally spaced on the east and west elevations and less regularly on the north elevation, with
the first two rows of windows to the east spaced more closely.

Cultural Data

The original building, which first housed the Bedford Hotel from 1911 to 1940, was erected in 1911. After World
War I, this building continued to serve as a seamen’s and travelers’ hotel. Restored as an office building in 1967, it
was known in the 1969-70 National Register nomination as the Pacific Banking Building. Its earlier address was
“67-71 Yesler Way,” but it seems that the address “ 1 Yesler Way” is now official, according to current King
County Records. The draft of Victor Steinbrueck’s Seattle Register Nomination Form for the Pioneer Square
Historic District, as well as the Pioneer Square Preservation District Inventory, done by the Seattle Department of
Community Development in 1982 — apparently based on Steinbrueck’s assessment - claim that the building was
“restored and rebuilt in 1967.” While the north facing street level has obviously been redesigned and probably in
the 1960s, the fenestration of the upper level appears exactly as it does in a King County Property Record card

of 1936. Also, the photograph shows that the parapet did rise at the corners and south elevation of the building, as
it does now, although there were overhangs that ran the length of the lower parts of the parapet. All this suggests
that, despite changes in 1967, particularly at the lower level of the north elevation, the building has retained much
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of its fabric and integrity from 1911, or has been reconstructed so as to retain its essential architectural
characteristics.

Sources

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996, City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Steinbrueck, Victor, “Seattle Register of Historic Places Nomination Form for the Pioneer Square Historic
District,” Manuscript, ca. 1969 (University of Washington, Manuscripts and Special Collections- Accession
number 3252, 3252-2, Box 4, Folder 25

Address: 83 Columbia Street

Historic Name: Journal Building ? Built: 1898; 1914

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 195 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202580
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque /Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 5

Description

The building at 83 Columbia Street is a four story masonry building with parapet. The main, north elevation faces
Columbia Street, while the west elevation faces Western Avenue and the east elevation Post Alley. The ground
floor story is clad with rusticated stone, cut in large blocks, while the three upper floors are clad in brick. On these
floors, the lintels over window openings are marked by stretcher bricks sets vertically.

The ground floor openings - storefront and doorways - are trabeated and have clerestory windows. Storefront and
door frames and cladding are of wood. Openings at the ground level are generally of the same overall width as the
sets of windows on the floors above, except at the second bay of the north elevation, (counting from the east),
which instead has two doorways. The main doorway, located on the north elevation, is gently emphasized at the
clerestory level by a curved element, which flairs out at the top of each of the stone jambs. The other doorway, to
the east of the main doorway, is more utilitarian. It is detailed in a manner similar to the other wood elements of
the storefront. On the ground floor level, another interesting detail is that the large, central stone blocks of the
lintels are often cut in the shape of keystones.

On the upper floors, all the windows are double-hung and arranged in triple or double sets. The north elevation is
divided into five bays, with five sets of triple double-hung windows; the west elevation has four sets of triple
windows and then two sets of double windows. The east elevation has five sets of double windows and one triple
set of windows near the northeast corner of the building.
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Just below the parapet, the west, north and a portion of the east elevations are marked by a generous overhanging
metal cornice with well-sized dentils.

Cultural Data

83 Columbia St bears a plaque that says that it was erected in 1898, but according to the King County Record
Assessor’s record cards, this building was completed in 1914. While the Tax Assessor Records, at least as they
relate to the Pioneer Square area, seem occasionally inaccurate, according to oral tradition at the Daily Journal of
Commerce, the current main tenant of the building maintains that the first floor was completed in 1898, while
upper floors were added later at the beginning of the twentieth century. Most secondary sources give an historic
name for the building associated with newspapers or even the current tenant. The most common name seems to be
the Journal Building. Polk’s directories, however, suggest that the Daily Bulletin, the Daily Journal of
Commerce’s predecessor, only definitely became associated with the building in 1918 ( At that time, according to
advertisements, the Daily Bulletin had been in existence for 26 years). By 1921, the paper, by that time, called the
Daily Journal of Commerce, had headquarters in the building, as did other newspapers such as a weekly, The
American.

The building was built on the tidal flats, an area which began to be reclaimed in the 1890s and where a significant
industrial and commercial area was created, beginning in the 1900s. This building was part of the development of
the area, after the economic and industrial upturn caused first by the Klondike Gold Rush, and is again associated
with the increased industrialization of the area, as World War I approached.

The building is also architecturally distinguished and appears to be intact at the upper floors, with perhaps a few
changes to the wooden doors and street frontage at the ground level over the years.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Brown, Phil, Owner, Daily Journal of Commerce, Telephone Interview by Karin Link, 2 September, 2004.

Polk’s, City of Seattle Directories, 1919 and 1921.
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Address: 633 Post Avenue

Historic Name: New Post Station, Seattle Steam Company Built: 1902
Plat: Terry’s 3rd Addition/Block M/Lots 17 Parcel #: 8591400100
Style: Italian Renaissance /Commercial/Utilitarian

Engineer: Stone & Webster Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 6

Description

The Seattle Steam Company Post Street Plant, also known as Seattle Steam’s New Post Station, is a striking Neo-
Renaissance industrial building, located between Post Avenue and Western Avenue. It is adjacent to Seattle
Steam’s Old Post Station. The building is rectangular in plan and rises five stories, thanks to a steel and cross-
braced frame and additional structural elements of steel and concrete.

The main west elevation, facing Western Avenue, is divided into six bays, five of which are identical. The standard
vertical bay consists of two basement type windows, set in a rusticated sandstone base, above which is a sandstone
belt course. A long trabeated three-lite window opening occurs at the second floor, then a similar window
arrangement at the third level, topped by a clerestory level semi-circular window, also divided into three lites. This
is topped by another sandstone belt course and then by a grouping of three smaller arched windows at the fourth
floor. The spandrel above the fourth floor windows is topped by a metal ornamental band, (which runs the length
of the elevation), distinguished by a band of bead motifs and further up the wall, by a more classically detailed
metal cornice, including dentils and projecting modillions. Vertical bands of brick, beginning at the first level belt
course and topped by arched forms, emphasize the verticality of the bays. The top level of this typical bay has three
small rectangular windows. The parapet is marked by a thinner metal band and then, at the very top, a simple metal
projecting cornice.

In contrast, the north bay, which is slightly recessed, has a small, single window, more or less corresponding to
each level, with an arched window at the fourth floor, at the same height, as the grouping of three windows in the
typical bay. This configuration corresponds with the hoistway on the interior of the building, which was used to
move batteries to an upper battery room. The east fagade along Post Avenue has architectural elements similar to
the main Western Avenue fagade, except that there are no window openings at the second level and the elevation is
divided into six similar bays.

The west and east fagades are topped by a seventy foot smoke stack with a masonry base, an exact replica of the
original. The smoke stack is noticeable from many parts of Pioneer Square and Downtown Seattle. The roof
monitor has been removed and there is a corrugated metal door on the west elevation, which is clearly not original.
Aside from these changes, the building is surprisingly intact. This is also true on the interior of the building.
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Cultural Data (633 Post Avenue)

Along with the adjacent Old Post Station, this is one of the last working remnants of the original industrial fabric
of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. The building was erected between 1900 and 1902 by
Stone & Webster, the Boston based utility company. Founded in 1889 by Charles A. Stone and Edwin Webster,
both graduates of MIT in electrical engineering, the company was originally called the Massachusetts Electrical
Company. The firm began by managing utility plants in 1895. By 1902, it had begun financing the plants through
an in-house securities department and was also responsible for their construction. This Seattle Steam Plant appears
to be among the company’s earliest efforts and certainly one of their earliest enterprises in Seattle. Stone and
Webster had, in fact, maintained a significant presence in King County since 1898, when it had acquired the
region’s first hydroelectric plant at Snoqualmie Falls and its subsidiary, the Seattle Electric Company, took control
of Seattle area utilities, as well as the local street car lines.

The building has been in continuous use as a steam plant. In terms of function, the interior of the building was
designed to maximize the use of gravity in the movement of coal. Coal came into the building through “Hell’s
alley,” located at the southwest corner of the building. From there, it moved to the eastern portion of the building
and was raised by a conveyor to the roof, where it was emptied into a covered roof monitor and moved in a north-
south direction. From the roof monitor, the coal would be dropped into the coal bunkers below, and then from the
coal bunkers to the “water-tube” boilers. The plant also produced electricity for the streetcars, which had been
operating in Seattle, since before the Great Fire, thanks to two battery rooms, one in the basement and one at the
penthouse level.

The building still provides steam to most of Pioneer Square and to other areas of Seattle, from Pioneer Square
roughly up to Harvard Avenue to the east and between Blanchard Street to the north and King Street to the south.
High pressure steam lines provide steam to areas east of Interstate-5, while low pressure lines are used to provide
steam to Seattle’s downtown and west of the I-5. The fact that this is still a working steam plant, in itself] is
significant, since similar buildings throughout the United States have frequently been converted to other uses

The Neo-Renaissance composition, particularly of the original five bays along Western Avenue, is especially
striking. In addition, the smokestack, which is visible in many parts of Pioneer Square and Downtown Seattle, is
an important visual marker within the city. In the context of American urban history, this building is typical of
power production buildings associated with industrial growth at the turn of the twentieth century. It is similar to
several other industrial buildings produced by and administered by Stone & Webster or its subsidiaries in this
period

The top floor is not shown in the original drawings, but appears to have been added at the end of construction in
1902. The northern bay, corresponding to the hoistway and one of the battery rooms, was apparently added in
1935. Both the later date of design and construction and the functional aspects of the interior account for
differences between it and the symmetrically composed Neo-Renaissance elements of the earlier part of the fagade;
but stylistically, the difference between the two parts of the facade is not jarring. Aside from the 1935
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addition, as well as an enlargement of a door to accommodate the installation of a new generator, later filled in, the
building’s exterior appearance has been not been altered since 1902.

Sources
Crowley, Walt. “Interurban Rail Transit in King County and the Puget Sound Region - A Snapshot History.”
History Link.org, 19 September 2000. Database on-line. Available from http://www historylink.org/

Stickney & Murphy Architects. “Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company,” Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part 1,” 27 July 1993. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

Roberston, Amanda. “An Investigation of Post Avenue Steam Plants.” Report for URBDP 586. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.

Address: 619 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company Built: ca. 1890. Altered 1903
Plat: Terry’s 3rd Addition/Block M/Lots 17 Parcel #: 8591400100

Style: Utilitarian

Engineer: Stone & Webster (alterations 1903, 1910, 1913) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 7

Description

This low, industrial brick building, in fact, combines two utilitarian masonry buildings, forming an overall structure
of irregular shape and floor plan. While both parts of the building have varying roof as well as interior floor levels,
the building appears to be one-story. It is located between the New Post Street Station to the northwest and the
Travelers Hotel/ Post Mews to the south, both early twentieth century buildings. Its street elevations face Post
Avenue and Western Avenue. On Post Avenue, the northern structure, angled in the northwest direction, mainly
has a flat roof with corbelled parapet, made up of three courses of brick- (two stretcher courses and a top layer of
headers bricks); until very recently, an exposed exterior roof truss also formed part of the roof landscape. The
building’s Post Avenue elevation is marked by three window openings with segmental arches, a door opening, now
closed-off by pieces of sheet metal and a small window with segmental arch. Set at an angle is the southen
structure, which is also brick clad. It has rectangular window with two lites each and concrete lintels. The corbelled
band set a few feet below the top of the parapet is made up of five courses of brick.

On Western Avenue, the north part of the structure has a narrow elevation with a large rectangular door opening.
Here, the northern and southern parts of the building form an acute angle. The south portion has a large double
window opening. The lintels above the doorway and windows are also of concrete. Any other detailing above the
doorway or windows is currently obscured by ivy.
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Cultural Data

The Old Post Station Facility, along with the Seattle Steam’s New Post Station, is one of the last working remnants
of the industrial fabric of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road Historic District. It definitely dates from before 1903, but
ascribing an earlier date for the entire building is difficult, although it seems very likely that at least portions of the
building date from 1890. The Seattle Steam Heat and Power Company was granted a “franchise” by the City of
Seattle to provide steam heating and water on February 19, 1890. In a letter of September 24, 1890, the Seattle
Steam Company described the imminent completion of a plant at 619 Post Avenue and the two duplex
Worthington steam pumps, which would provide water in the event of a fire. Whether all or part of the present
building was built around 1890, however, is uncertain. It is known that the east and north masonry walls were
constructed before 1903 and that the original boilers were located along a south wall. By 1903, the building had a
large stack, as well as boilers on the roof. The original building designer and builder are unknown; however, Stone
and Webster, the well-known Boston based utility company, who also designed the adjacent New Post Station,
modified it in 1903, 1910 and 1913. In 1913, the south fagade and a portion of the east fagade were reconstructed.
This building, like the New Post Station, is therefore associated with the company’s very early efforts in King
County.

The structure was also further modified by Puget Power in 1922. Interior columns were eliminated and exposed
exterior roof trusses on the northeast part of the building were added (only one was clearly visible, until very
recently). The only elements that post-date 1922 and that do not contribute to the integrity of this building are the
metal doors on the west and east elevations of the building. The building is a rare example of utilitarian
architecture in the district.

Sources
Crowley, Walt. “Interurban Rail Transit in King County and the Puget Sound Region - A Snapshot History.”
History Link.org, 19 September 2000. Database on-line. Available from http://www.historylink.org/

Stickney & Murphy Architects. “Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company,” Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part 1,” 27 July 1993. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

Robertson, Amanda. “An Investigation of Post Avenue Steam Plants.” Report for URBDP 586. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.
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Address: 611 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Elgin Hotel/ Traveler’s Hotel Built: 1913

Plat: Travelers Hotel the Post Mews/ Lot 1 Parcel # : 8670450000
Style: Commercial

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 8

Description

This is a three story building, rectangular in plan, with exterior walls in red brick and an original interior structure
of wood post and beam construction. It has a footprint of 96 feet by 101 feet and a full basement in concrete, as
well as a concrete foundation. Its two street facing elevations are on Yesler Way and Post Avenue (also known as
Post Alley). The upper two floors of the primary Yesler Way fagade consist of five bays, each with two separate
trabeated window openings per floor. The ground level of the Yesler Way elevation is storefront. The southwest
corner of Post Avenue elevation continues the storefront of the Yesler facade. The 110 foot Post Avenue elevation
also has five pairs of separate trabeated openings on its upper floors and wall expanse with no openings, which
corresponds to the storefront at the southwest corner of the ground level. The parapet is capped by a classically
detailed projecting metal cornice. Currently these two elevations are covered by a lot of ivy, so that specific details
of the elevations are not easily visible.

Cultural Data

Albert Wickersham, a local Seattle architect, responsible for the masterful Maynard Building of 1892, was the
architect of this building, first known as the Elgin Hotel and later as the Travelers Hotel. It was completed in 1913.
The building is located in the near vicinity of the former tidal flats, an area which began to be reclaimed in the
mid-1890s, and where a significant industrial and commercial area was created, beginning in the 1900s. This
building was part of the development of the area, after the economic and industrial upturn caused first by the
Klondike Gold Rush, and again, with the increased industrialization of the area, as World War I approached. The
building is located across the street from the Pioneer Square Hotel, formerly the Yesler Hotel of 1914, also
designed by Wickersham. It is not far from a number of warehouse and industrial buildings erected during the
same period, such as the Heffernan Engine Works Building of 1918. The design of the elevation is extremely
simple, and unlike the Yesler Hotel, does not particularly recall elements of some of the older Victorian buildings
in the area.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889, as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was
the supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished thanks to the Denny
Regrade. He had an independent practice by 1893. Aside from the Maynard Building, the Denny Hotel and Seattle
Hardware Building, he appears to have received few commissions that allowed him to show off his full design
capabilities. This building, although very different from the Maynard Building and the Seattle Hardware Building,
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has well proportioned elevations, which use simple repeated elements to good effect.

Sources

Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming
2005: especially chapter 9.

Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1908 and 1912.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996,City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 77 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Yesler Hotel Built: 1914

Plat: Maynards D S Plat / Block 9/ Lot 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800005
Style: Commercial

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 9

Description

The former Yesler Hotel is rectangular in plan and four stories in height. The only street facing elevation is the
main fagade on Yesler Way. The building is clad in brick and has a projecting classical cornice. The ground floor
level has several individual storefronts and an entry to the building. The design of the upper level consists of a
series of repeated rectangular window openings, some big and others small. In fact, they can be seen as three bays
and the rhythm of the facade, despite the repetition of similar window openings, is lively. Each bay starts with a
smaller rectangular window, which is followed by five full-size window openings and ends with a smaller window.
The pattern begins again with a small window followed by five full-size window and ends with a smaller window;
ending with the third set of window openings. Windows are double-hung. The only approximation to ornament is
the raised brick, which occurs over the lintels and at the top of window jambs. Sills are of brick. Also of interest
are the original balconies, made of flat iron pieces.

Cultural Data

Albert Wickersham was the architect of this building, formerly known as the Yesler Hotel. It was completed in
1914 and was a “flophouse” by the 1930s. It was restored again in the mid-1990s to become the Pioneer Square
Hotel, currently the only hotel in the district. The building was erected on the location of the tidal flats, an area
which began to be reclaimed in the 1890s, and where a significant industrial and commercial area was created,
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beginning in the 1900s. This building was part of the development of the area, after the economic and industrial
upturn caused, first by the Klondike Gold Rush, and then by the increased industrialization of the area, as World
War | approached. The building is located across the street from the Travelers’ Hotel/ Elgin Hotel, an even simpler
building from 1913 and also designed by Wickersham. It is not far from a number of warehouse and industrial
buildings erected during the same period, such as the Heffernan Engine Works Building of 1918. The design of the
elevation, although from 1914, recalls elements of some of the older Victorian buildings in the area, such as the St.
Charles Hotel or Our Home Hotel.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889, as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was
the supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished as a result of the
Denny Regrade. He had an independent practice by 1893. Aside from the Maynard Building, the Denny Hotel and
Seattle Hardware Building, he appears to have received few commissions that allowed him to show off his full
design capabilities. This building not only cleverly mimics earlier buildings in the district, but also manages to
convey visual interest, with similar and simple repeated elements.

Sources

Cliver, E. Blaine, Chief Appeals Officer, Cultural Resources, Letter to Bart Seidler, n.d., stamped received May
1996.

Andrews, Mildred, Pioneer Square Journey, Map (walking tour), Seattle: Pioneer Square Community Council, ca.
2001.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 110 Alaskan Way

Historic Name: Heffernan Engine Works Built: 1918

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1/ Lot 8 Parcel #: 5247800015
Style: Commercial/ Industrial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 10

Description

This 50 feet x 200 feet warchouse and manufacturing building is almost rectangular in plan. It has a main west
fagade, oriented toward Alaskan Way. The north part of the building is a two story structure, while the south
portion is three stories high. This is reflected in the western fagade (the north bay is two stories, the south bay steps
up to three stories). The west facade is clad in brick veneer in a common bond pattern and in a variety of colors,
mainly red and ocher. The parapet cap above the north bay is emphasized by a dentil course. A similar brick
parapet above the south bay was removed, probably as a result of the 1949 earthquake, around 1950. Currently, the
southern bay is covered by a shed roof that is lower at the north. Both bays of the west elevation have extensive
trabeated openings, filled with multi-pane wood frame windows and doors. The east elevation is poured concrete
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and is undistinguished.

Structurally, the building, although from 1918, is typical of buildings erected in the district right after the Great
Fire of 1889: side walls are brick bearing walls. The main fagade is also of brick. The interior is dominated by a
heavy timber post and beam system. It also includes deeps girders, posts with brackets and exposed roof and
mezzanine floor joists. The foundation is a poured concrete pier type. There is a partial basement with a slab floor.

Cultural Data

This industrial warehouse building was erected on the original tidal flats, which began to be reclaimed in the mid-
1890s, and near the site of many nearby industrial buildings. Prior to the Great Fire of 1889, a wood frame
warehouse sat on the site. That building as well as wharves, sawmills, print shops and other businesses were
destroyed by the fire. By 1904, another wood frame building which housed the Heffernan Engine Works’ engine
shed and machine shop had apparently replaced the wood structure, although a permit had also been granted to
build a masonry building, which was not built.

The Hull Building Company applied for a permit for the Heffernan Engine Works Building in May 1918.The
Heffernan Engine Works, which specialized in ship machinery was established by John T. Heffernan in 1899. In
1907, John Heffernan also founded the Heffernan Dry Dock Company; (by 1915, John Heffernan’s Dry Dock
Company was so successful that he was able to commission Kirtland Cutter to design a Tudor Revival home). By
1916, Heffernan Engine Works had equipped over seventeen steam vessels used for coastal trade purposes. It also
had large ship repair contracts with the United States Government. The Heffernan machine and pattern shops
offices and storage continued to be housed in the building until the late 1920s. In 1931, L. L. Buchanan purchased
the building and by the late 1930s, Draper Engine Works and Buchanan Auto Freight shared the building. Draper
Engine Works continued to occupy the building until 1979. From 1980 until 1998, the building housed the Old
Firchouse Antique Market, a retail antique mall. Around the late 1990s, the owner at the time considered a
renovation of the building.

This building is a vestige of the expansion of the original “burnt district,” as the district was called right after the
Great Fire. The area expanded significantly in the 1900s, both as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-1898
and the prosperity brought by the railroads. The building is also representative of a type of utilitarian building,
erected on the reclaimed tide flats, as both railroads and shipping became increasingly important and Railroad
Avenue, (now Alaskan Way), was gradually transformed. The building is also associated with economic -and
industrial growth along the waterfront as a result of World War 1. It was occupied by a business involved in
shipbuilding, which was founded not very long after the Great Fire of 1889, as were several other warehouses
along First Avenue South, for instance. The building continued to serve industrial uses well into the 1970s, a rarity
this late and this close to the original heart of the Pioneer Square Historic District.

Overall, despite some changes, the main Alaskan Way fagade retains a significant part of its original design
features. Most of the window and door openings of the main facade are original. On the south bay, three original X
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braced doors with twelve panel upper lights remain at the street level. Other multi-pane windows and doors on the
lower half of the south fagade are replacements, but very similar to the originals. The historical multi-pane
window and door sashes have been replaced over time, (most original windows were top hinge operated), but are
similar to the originals. At the lower portion of the north bay, multi-pane glazing replaced an original storefront
with panel doors and sidelights, while the mezzanine level had multi-pane windows as it does now. Also on the
north bay, the current multi-pane sash at the upper level replaced separated window units.

Interestingly, the original 1970 National Register Nomination for the Pioneer Square District appears to make no
mention of this building at all, not even as an intrusion.

Sources
APH Corporation, “Heffernan Engine Works, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” N.D.,
(OAHP Archives Microfiche File).

“The Compass Center, 77-79 South Washington Street, Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 24 January
24, 2003. .

Address:114 Alaskan Way

Historic Name: Prudential Building/ Fred Cole Building Built: 1902
Plat: Maynards D S Plat / Block 1/ Lot 3 Parcel #: 524780002
Style: Commercial / Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 11

Description

This six story warehouse and manufacturing building occupies a long, narrow lot, and has an angled fagade, which
echoes the northwest line of Elliott Bay. Its main west fagade is oriented toward Alaskan Way and is currently set
fairly close to the Alaskan Way Viaduct. The other elevations are not visible from the street. The exterior walls
are masonry, while the interior structural system is heavy timber. It includes timber columns and flooring. The west
elevation, painted brick, consists, at the lower level, of a double height storefront, divided into two bays, which are
surmounted by a flat belt-course, emphasized by a dentil band beneath it. The upper part of the fagade consists of
two recessed bays. Here, each bay opening contains four wood sash double-hung windows, set side by side. The
four level bays are each emphasized by a simple band of raised brick which creates a rectangular enclosure around
each bay. The top of the fagade is topped by a sign that says “Prudential,” originally made of sandstone. A
rehabilitation in the mid- 1980s added a penthouse, which is barely visible from the street and only from certain
angles.
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Cultural Data

The Prudential Building appears to have been built in 1902, a time of great prosperity in Seattle, as a result of the
Klondike Gold Rush. Other records suggest that it was may have been built somewhat later, between 1904 and
1905. The building was erected on the tidal flats, which by 1893 were being reclaimed to create Railroad Avenue,
now Alaskan Way. Soil from the regrading of the Seattle’s hills was used to fill in the swamplands bordering
Elliott Bay. Because of the difficulty of this enterprise and a dispute over the grading of the new streets in the
tidelands area, construction had been held up for a time; however, by 1902, construction in this area was in full
force. The Prudential Building was a harbinger of the subsequent development of the Seattle tidelands into a
valuable manufacturing district. To the north of the Prudential Building is the former Heffernan Engine Works
Building, (110 Alaskan Way), a later building of 1918, which replaced a series of wooden industrial buildings; but
there are also vestiges of the first development of the area, right after the fire of 1889: the former Lowman and
Hanford Printing and Binding Building (68-74 South Washington St) from 1890, sits to the south of the Prudential
Building.

The Prudential Building is, in many ways, typical of the type of warehouse and manufacturing building, erected at
the time of the economic and industrial boom, after the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-98. While it is a simple
building, the design of its facade resembles many of the Chicago School influenced warehouse buildings, built in
this period in the Pioneer Square area, such as the Seller or the Hambach Building, on First Avenue South, between
Jackson and King Street, for instance.

The building was owned by the Prudential Bond Investment Company from 1904 to 1923, and then by William
Grimshaw, vice-president of the Prudential Company, primarily a real estate firm, from 1923 to 1946. At least from
the 1920s until the late 1960s, the Prudential Building housed industrial businesses. In the 1920s and 1930s, it was
the home of Acme Steel and Valco Chemical Companies, while the upper floors served a variety of uses:
warehouse, office and residential space.
Sources ‘

“The Prudential Building (Fred Cole Co. Bldg.), 114 Alaskan Way, Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part I,” September 13, 1982.

“The Compass Center, 77-79 South Washington Street, Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 24 January
2003.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996, City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.
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Address: 68 S. Washington St

Historic Name: Lowman & Hanford Printing and Binding Building Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800030

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Commercial '

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 11

Description

The former Lowman and Hanford Printing and Binding Building, now the Washington Park Building, was built
right after the Great Fire of 1889 and completed in 1890. It is irregular in plan, with its longer southern elevation
on Washington Street, as well as a shorter west elevation angled to the northwest, parallel to the former Railroad
Avenue, now Alaskan Way. The building exterior is distinguished, in particular, by its rusticated street level stone
piers, surmounted by characteristic triangular metal ornaments, which emphasize the main bays. Upper floors have
red brick cladding with stone sills. The street level is, in fact, a series of high commercial storefronts, with a
mezzanine clerestory. The base of the building, in stone and metal, contrasts with the upper two levels in brick, but
the entire composition is divided, both horizontally as well as vertically into a grid, not atypical of the Victorian
tendencies of buildings erected in the district, right after the Great Fire. Upper bays are well defined by brick piers,
which usually are a continuation of the rusticated stone piers at the ground/mezzanine level.

On the south elevation, at the second and third levels, there are nine similar bays, each with two individual double-
hung windows. Each brick spandrel between the second and third levels has a recessed square, relating to the
window above and below it. The most western bay of the south elevation consists of three windows, (per floor),
instead of two. Turning the corner on Alaskan way, there is a similar bay, consisting of a horizontal row of three
windows, but the design of the Alaskan Way elevation is generally less regular. Following this, a central bay at the
upper levels has two distinct and well spaced windows, and the last bay to the north is a typical bay with a
horizontal row of two windows. Because the width of the Alaskan Way elevation is so much smaller, and because
the Alaskan Way Viaduct currently cuts out a full view of the upper levels, the Victorian detailing of the lower
level - the rusticated piers and the comparatively flimsy cladding and triangular/pediment-like ornamentation above
it - takes on more prominence.

Currently, there is a painted sign on the brick at the third level announcing that this is the L& H Printing Company,
but another sign at the second level saying “Seattle’s Oldest Retail Company™ suggests that this sign, at least, is a
much more recent addition, since the word “retail” was not used in this way in the 1890s.
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Cultural Data

This building dates from 1890. Despite a little patching here and there, and perhaps the loss of some of the original
stone plinth, the building is a mostly intact example of an early industrial building, originally sited at the very edge
of the district. It appears to have been built for the Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company right
after the fire of 1889. One account, however, suggests that the occupants in 1905, Harrington and Smith, actually
built and first occupied the building. Other documents suggest that Lowman and Hanford were indeed the original
occupants of the building.

The building was erected close to what had once been the original coastal shoreline and on reclaimed tidal flats
along Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. This area was to become the site of increased industrial development,
particularly after 1902; however, this building, typical of the earliest buildings erected right after the fire of 1889,
would remain along Railroad Avenue, despite booms and busts and increased industrial growth.

James Lowman and Clarence Hanford, associated with the stationery and printing company, which was later to
have offices in the Lowman and Hanford Building, located in Pioneer Place, were both local civic and business
leaders, with important ties to Seattle’s earliest pioneer settlers. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing
Company was an early Seattle business, which began operation in the Pioneer Square area as early as 1885. The
Great Fire of 1889 destroyed all buildings, (save perhaps one), in the “burnt district,” as Pioneer Square was
known after the fire. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company returned to the former “burnt
district,” after the fire, apparently building both this building, which they moved into in 1890 and, subsequently,
the Lowman Hanford Building of 1892, facing what is now Pioneer Place. The firm advertised itself as
booksellers, stationers, printers and binders and blank bookmakers; but also showed great versatility and sold
typewriters, sewing machines, pianos and organs.

James D. Lowman, born in Leitersburg, Maryland in 1856, had come to Seattle in 1877 at the invitation of Henry
Yesler, who was his uncle. Famous for building Seattle’s first sawmill in 1853, a founding father and very early
Seattle entrepreneur, Yesler also commissioned several well-known buildings near Pioneer Place, employing first
Elmer Fisher and then Emil DeNeuf as architects. Later, Lowman and Hanford were to employ DeNeuf for their
1892 Lowman and Hanford Building in Pioneer Place.

Lowman’s association with the printing business predates this building. After working as assistant wharf manager
for his uncle for four years, in 1881, he bought half interest in a bookstore owned by W. H. Pumphrey. Pumphrey
and Lowman were in business, until Lowman bought out Pumphrey in 1882, and started the Lowman and Hanford
Stationery and Printing Company with Clarence Hanford in 1885. In the meantime, in 1886, Lowman would
become a trustee of Yesler’s estate, which included many businesses all over Washington State. As a result,
Lowman was involved in the completion of the Pioneer Building and of the Mutual Life Building, (then called the
Yesler Building), both commissioned by Henry Yesler before his death in 1892. Lowman himself commissioned
the Lowman Building on Pioneer Place.
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Lowman’s associate, Clarence Hanford was was born in Seattle in 1857 and the son of pioneer settlers. After
attending the Territorial University of Washington, Hanford learned the printing trade in the offices of the Seattle
Intelligencer,(the forerunner of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer), which was published by Thaddeus Hanford, his
elder brother. In 1880, he established a job printing business. When the Lowman and Hanford Stationery and
Printing Company was created, Lowman became president and Clarence Hanford vice-president. Lowman was also
principal stockholder, while Hanford, whose original business was absorbed by the new company, became manager
of the printing and bookmaking department.

By 1905, the building was owned, occupied and named after the Harrington and Smith Company, which had been
started in 1871 as Crawford and Harrington. Harrington and Smith were wholesale dealers of groceries, hardware,
building supplies and ship chandlery.

Sources

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1, 5 February ,
2004.

The Conservation Company, “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April, 1982.

Address: 81 S. Washington St

Historic Name: St Charles Hotel Built: 1889

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 5247800065
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian/ Commercial
Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 13

Description

This is a three story building, dating from right after the Fire of 1889. It has exterior walls in red brick and an
interior structure in heavy timber post and beam. Its one fagade on Washington Street has an implied symmetrical
composition, although the last bay to the east is wider than its counterpart to the south. There is a central bay with
a single arched doorway at the ground floor, a single window opening with a segmental arch at the second floor,
and a single window opening with an arched opening at the third floor. This is topped by a raised portion of the
parapet with a sign with “1889,” emphasized by a special thickening of the brick wall on each side with corbel
decoration.

To each side of the central bay are two bays of storefront. These are surmounted at the second level by two
separate windows, topped by segmental arches. The top of all the openings at this level are framed by smooth
stone, with decorative keystone motifs, that protrude out of the frame. Corresponding to the second floor openings,
are the arched third floor openings, with stone frames around the arched portion of the opening, in rusticated stone.
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Of note are the engaged brick piers, that vertically separate the bays and the decorative corbelling, which runs the
length of the Washington Street fagade. The east elevation, facing the alley, is visible from the street. It has regular
window openings, topped by segmental arches. In general, windows are wood frame and double-hung.

Cultural Data

Part of the property of early settler Dr. David Maynard, this building was built in 1889, not long after the Great
Fire of June 6, 1889. Like many of the buildings of this time, it has a brick fagade, divided in Victorian fashion by
a grid. It uses two similar, but differing, window openings. Its chief adornment is brick corbelling, in addition to a
modest amount of stone trim. It is typical of buildings erected in the district, right after the fire and yet has its own
distinctive architectural quality. Its original name is the St. Charles Hotel and it has operated as a hotel for a long
time.

The St. Charles Hotel can be seen in later historic photographs of the elevated Seattle Municipal Street railway,
which was completed on September 4, 1919. The elevated railway line ran east and west along Washington Street,
from and to the former Railway Avenue, now Alaskan Way. It moved past what is now the former Pacific Coast
Company Building at 77 S. Washington St, the St. Charles Hotel, (still its name in 1919), the “little Collins
Building,” which in 1919 housed the C. M. & St. P. Employment Agency, and past the J & M Café. The railway
was built mainly to speed the arrival of workers involved in shipbuilding in Seattle’s southern harbor, which was
heavily involved in building ships for the war effort during World War 1.

Sources
Dorpat, Paul. “101 The Railroad Avenue Elevated.” Seattle, Now and Then. Seattle: Tartu Publications, 1984.
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972 (source of date of building).

Address: 77 S. Washington St

Historic Name: Pacific Coast Company Building Built: 1904 & 1908 (5" f1.)
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 5247800070

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Commercial

Architect: James Donnelson? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 14
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Description

This five story building is roughly square in plan. It has exterior un-reinforced brick walls, interior steel columns
and beams and wood floor and roof joists. It occupies a corner lot on the south side of South Washington Street,
along the former Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. The building has two street facing elevations, the main
north fagcade on Washington Street and the west elevation, which sits close to the current Alaskan Way Viaduct.
The upper four floors of these elevations are both clad in light brown dry-pressed brick, with sandstone trim, while
the ground floor level has a veneer of flush sandstone, cut in relatively long narrow bands. The interior lots walls
are of unadorned brick.

The main fagade is divided into three bays. At the ground level, the central bay has an arched entry, while each bay
opening to either side contains storefront. Each storefront is divided into three sections by thin, delicate metal piers
and has transoms. The storefronts are set over a sandstone base, corresponding to the basement level, and a double
stone belt-course. Each of the four top levels have central bay openings, filled by a row of five double-hung
windows. On either side of the central bay, the bay openings have a row of three double-hung windows. The main
cladding is light brown brick. Lintels and string-courses, which sometimes double as sills or lintels, as well as
rusticated quoining to each side of the upper window openings, are of sandstone.

The west, Alaskan Way fagade, is also divided into thirds, with a configuration similar to the South Washington
fagade, on its upper floors. The ground floor elevation has paired double-hung windows in three centered groups.
In general, these elevations reflect the interior structural layout of four primary columns at the bay division lines.

Cultural Data

The first four floors of the building, originally owned by the Pacific Coast Company, were erected between 1903
and 1904, a time of prosperity in Seattle, as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush. A fifth floor was added in 1908.
According to a 2003, “Historic Certification Application, Part 1,” the architect was James Donnelson. The building
was erected on the tidal flats, which by the 1890s were being reclaimed to create Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan
Way. Soil from the regrading of the Seattle’s hills was used to fill in the swamplands bordering Elliott Bay.
Because of the difficulty of this undertaking and a dispute over the grading of the new streets in the tidelands area,
construction of buildings had been held up for a time; however, by 1902, construction began to boom, creating a
new and thriving industrial and manufacturing area.

The building was originally occupied by the Pacific Coast Company, later known as the Pacific Railroad Company,
which operated both coal mines (mainly near Issaquah and Newcastle), as well as railroad and steamship lines. The
Pacific Railroad Company appears to have occupied this building into the 1920s. By 1926 and into the 1930s, there
were several tenants, including Seattle Public Employment, which remained until 1938, when the Volunteers of
America Mission took over occupancy of the building. Subsequently, in 1941, the Lutheran Church, which
founded Lutheran Compass Center, owned the building, although, from 1943 to 1945, the Coast Guard were
tenants and used it for a communications center and offices. In 1946, the Lutheran Compass Mission and the
Compass Center Hotel moved in and still occupy the building today.
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Sources
“The Compass Center, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1, 77-79 South Washington Street,” 24
January, 2003,

Address: 210 Alaskan Way S.

Name: Lutheran Compass Center Addition Built: 2004

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 2 Parcel #: 5247800080
Style: Modemn

Architect: Stickney Murphy Romine

Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 15

Description
New construction has recently replaced what little was left of one of two historic buildings, which had already
undergone a complete makeover in the 1960s.

The present building, a four story concrete structure, functions as an addition to 77 S. Washington Street and
adjoins it along Alaskan Way. It has only one main, west fagade along Alaskan Way, not visible at the third and
fourth levels, because of the Alaskan Way Viaduct, located just to west. The facade is clad at the first level in
concrete, treated to match the color of the sandstone of the main building, while the upper floors are clad in
concrete with brick veneer. All openings are trabeated.

On the north side of the facade, the first level consists of four bays: a recessed bay with service doors is followed
by a double door entrance, surmounted by large, glazed fixed windows. The entrance is further emphasized by two
vertical columns, made from steel sections, surmounted by a canopy of bent steel sections. To the south of the
entrance are two bays, each consisting of pairs of large window openings with clerestories. At the upper levels,
openings begin to the south of the recessed bay. Each bay consists of a row of three double-hung windows.

Significance
The present building was completed very recently, in 2004. It was designed by the Seattle architectural firm,
Stickney Murphy Romine, as as an addition to 77 S. Washington Street. Like 77 S. Washington Street, this
building is presently owned and operated by the Lutheran Compass Center. The exterior cladding and fenestration
were carefully detailed to fit with the original building. Because of the date of this building, it is non historic, non
contributing.

This new building replaced the vestiges of historic structures. Two one-story masonry retail buildings originally
occupied the site at 208-210 Railroad Avenue (now Alaskan Way South). Tax Assessor’s Records suggest that the
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northern one dated from 1889 and the southern one from 1916. These buildings housed various second-hand shops
and hardware stores, such as the People’s Supply Company. In 1961, the northern portion of the site, (adjacent to
the Lutheran Compass Center), was demolished and replaced by a surface parking lot, while the exterior of the
west portion of the southern building was also apparently demolished, but rebuilt.

Sources

“People’s Supply Company, 208-210 Alaskan Way, Historic Certification Application, Part 1.” 23 December,
2003.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 212 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: O. K. Hotel Built: 1917

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 3 Parcel #: 5247800090
Style: Commercial

Architect: Ishram Johnson Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 16

Description

This is a five story building, with exterior brick walls and an original wood frame interior structure. It has one
primary facade along Alaskan Way, divided into three bays. It has a 61 feet by 136 feet footprint, with a concrete
foundation and basement. The ground level of the fagade consists of wood sash storefronts, with plate glass
windows and high transoms, divided by tall vertical muntins. The three storefronts are trimmed with turquoise-
colored brick lintels. Above the storefront level, the bays are separated by four story brick piers, which have
corbels for capitals. There is also continuous corbelling between the “capitals™ at the parapet level. At the upper
level, each bay has two trabeated window openings, with a pair of double-hung windows in a wood frame. The top
light of the double-hung windows is multi-pane, and has been so historically. Edges of window openings, areas
under sills and above lintels, as well as the corners of piers, are emphasized by darker brickwork. This establishes
an overall decorative grid pattern, which contrasts with the regular and predominant red facing brick of the fagade

Cultural Data

Drawings for 212 Alaskan Way South, known as the O. K. Hotel, were completed by Ishram B. Johnson in March
1914, with construction occurring between 1915 and 1917. There seems to be little other information on Ishram
Johnson. The building was commissioned by Harry Buttnick, who bought the site in 1909. He had begun his
project as a warehouse building, but then constructed a hotel, with retail at the ground floor and warehouse
facilities in the basement.

While the building has a later date, its structure and facade follow many of the conventions used on earlier Pioneer
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Square buildings: the separation of bays by tall multi-story piers, the use of corbelling to create both the idea of
pier “capitals” and general decoration at the top of the fagade. This building was part of the development of the
area, first after the economic and industrial upturn, caused first by the Klondike Gold Rush and the building of the
railroads, and then by the increased industrialization of the area, associated with World War 1.

The hotel opened in 1917 and offered lodgings to World War I industrial workers and then to loggers, and was
known as a workingmen’s hotel.

Sources
Andrews, Mildred. “O.K. Hotel — 212 Alaskan Way South, Seattle, Historic Preservation Certification Application,
Part 1.” n.d. (ca. 2002).

Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 76 S Main St/ 218 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Boston Hotel/ Puget Sound Hotel Built: 1907
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800095
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 17

Description

This three story building, which has red brick exterior walls and stone trim, is located on the northeast corner of
Alaskan Way South and Main Street. It is virtually rectangular in plan, but has an angled bay between its two
primary facades on Main Street and on Alaskan Way. It is distinguished by storefront on the first floor of the Main
Street fagade, which continues past the doorway of the angled bay, into the first southern bay of the Alaskan Way
facade. These storefronts include transom levels, topped by a projecting cornice. There is also a similar projecting
cornice above trabeated openings at the north bays of the Alaskan Way elevation. The Main Street storefronts are
also distinguished by several original cast-iron columns, which separate storefront bays. At the upper levels, all
primary facades have trabeated openings, including five windows, (per floor), facing Main Street; a single opening
per floor on the angled bay; and ten openings along Alaskan Way. There is a thin stone belt-course, which doubles
as a continuous sill, below the second and third story windows. Lintels are also of stone, which constrasts in color
with the red brick.
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The building exterior retains the most important architectural features, while others have been carefully replaced in
kind, or in keeping with the original design, following changes that have occurred over the years. The original
metal cornice at the top of the building was removed in 1968 and never replaced. In 1980, the Main Street entry to
the first floor was changed from a double to a single door entry, which provided access to offices on the second
and third floors. The building was renovated and certified around 1990. It retained the business storefront on the
ground floor, facing Main Street, while the interior on the upper levels has been modified to create apartments. The
1990s renovation also changed the Main Street entry back to a double door. Storefronts were restored to match the
historical appearance of the original storefronts, with some small differences. In addition,the cornices above the
first floor were rebuilt to match the profile of the original cornices, which were in disrepair. A penthouse, which is
not visible (or hardly visible) from the street was also added.

Cultural Data

According to King County Tax Assessor Record cards, the Boston Hotel building dates from 1907, although the
Victorian style of some of the detailing makes it more typical of buildings constructed earlier, perhaps a few years
after the Great Fire of 1889. On its ground floor, the building housed the Puget Sound Hardware Company, known
for providing supplies to potential prospectors involved in the Klondike Gold Rush. The upper floors housed the
Boston Hotel, which provided lodging to similar clientele. Historically, the building had a second address : “218
Railroad Avenue.”

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Brunner Jr., George David. “Old Boston Hotel, 76 S. Main Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application,
Part 1,” 9 February 1990.

Address: 80 S Main St

Historic Name: Victor Appel Building Built: 1951

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800100
Style: Modern/ Industrial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 17
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Description

This is a two story building from 1950-51, which replaced an original one story building from 1895. Its primary
fagade on Main Street is of concrete block, with brick veneer on the lower level. It is unobtrusive and, in terms of
scale, fits in with the rest of the Historic District. It is not architecturally striking in any way.

Cultural Data (80 S. Main St)

This building is non- historical, non-contributing within the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. It
sits on the former site of a one story building from 1895, which was torn down in 1949-50. That building’s
demolition may well be related to the 1949 Earthquake. The previous building was also the location of some of
Seattle’s early Chinese laundries and housed a bath house.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

“Department of Community Development, Pioneer Square Preservation District Inventory.” May, 1982.

Address: 75 S Main St

Historic Name: Alaska Hotel, Alaska Commercial Hotel, Our Home Hotel Built: 1892
Plat: Our Home Hotel/ Lot Unit 85 Parcel #: 6347008888

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 19

Description

This is a three story building with basement. It has a primary fagade along Main Street and an elevation facing the
former Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. Exterior walls are of red brick and, as is typical of many Pioneer
Square buildings, the interior structure was of heavy timber construction, but was rebuilt in the late 1980s. The
building footprint is 135 feet along Main Street and about 40 feet along Alaskan Way South. Alley facing walls to
the east and south are also of red brick. The plan is virtually rectangular with a single angled bay between Main
Street and Alaskan Way.

The Main Street fagade is divided into seven bays. Like many Victorian facades in the district, the facade is
divided into a grid, both horizontally, by belt-courses in metal and in brick, and vertically, by engaged brick piers.
The ground floor consists of wood storefronts, now reconstructed, set between brick piers. A metal belt-course
surmounts the first floor. At the second and third levels, the facade consists of repeated window openings with
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segmental arches. These are emphasized by raised ornamental brick bands, which follow the outline of the top of
the openings. The first six bays consist of three segmental window openings per bay. The seventh bay has only two
segmental openings per floor. The bay divisions are emphasized by the engaged brick piers between bays. Below
the brick sills of the second story windows, rectangles with angled stretcher bricks add visual interest, as does the
corbelling at the top of each bay and at the parapet. Except for the metal bases applied to the ground level piers and
the sheet metal cornice above the first level, all ornamentation is achieved in brick, most often by various types of
corbelling or bands of trim brick.

The single angled bay between Main Street and Alaskan Way uses all the same devices and is a continuation of the
Main Street fagade. The same is true of the northernmost bay of the Alaskan Way elevation. Beyond this bay, the
metal cornice, detailing of the window openings and corbelled cornice stops abruptly. The rest of the elevation,
which currently buts up fairly closely to the Alaskan Way Viaduct, has plain segmental openings and unadorned
red brick cladding.

Cultural Data

75-85 South Main Street was originally known as the Alaska Hotel and its address at the time was “113 West
Main.” According to historian John Tess, it dates from 1892, although Victor Steinbrueck’s handwritten draft for
“Pioneer Square Historic District — Seattle Register of Historic Places” says 1895. The building is typical of
buildings erected in the district, soon after the Great Fire of 1889, both in its general construction and in the
Victorian grid composition of its facade. The design uses the same repeated segmental opening, while the main
embellishments of the facade rely on an interesting use of brick detailing. It was rehabilitated in the late 1980s and
retains the most important features of its exterior. The exterior is virtually intact.

The original proprietors of the Alaska Hotel were Jacob T. Martin and George Worrall, both of whom resided in
the hotel, according to the Seattle City Directories from 1892. In 1891, the Seattle directories listed Jacob T.
Martin as an engineer, so it is possible that he had a hand in the construction of the building; however, by 1893, the
new proprietors of the building are listed as John Willard and Lorenzo Tatro.

By 1895, “William F. Butler & Son” were owners and seem to have run the Alaska Hotel as a family business.
Butler Family members, residing at the Alaska Hotel in 1895, included Spencer Butler, presumably the son, and
Mabel and Maggie Butler, listed as chambermaids. William Butler had previously been the proprietor of the West
Street Hotel at Columbia Street (and Western Avenue) in 1893. He appears to have switched from running the
West Street Hotel to the Alaska Hotel sometime in 1894. He continued to be listed as the proprietor of the hotel
until 1900, although the name of the hotel was changed to the Alaska-Commercial Hotel in 1899, because the
former Alaska Hotel was now being run jointly with the Commercial Hotel, next door at “107 West Main Street.”
It is likely that the Alaska-Commercial Hotel was a typical workingman’s hotel. By the late 1890s, there were
many hotels in the neighborhood that would cater to the influx of people, as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush. A
restaurant, the Alaska Restaurant, was added to the hotel, in 1897.
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From 1901 to 1905, Jacob Haas and Joseph Perry were proprietors of the Alaska- Commercial Hotel. In the 1920s,
J. Nishimoto was listed as proprietor, at a time when many hotels in the district were run by Japanese families. By
the 1890s, Nihonmachi, “Japan Town,” ran along Main Street, but started farther east from Second Avenue South
and ran east from there. In 1930, the hotel was renamed ‘Our Home Hotel.” By this time, it is likely that the hotel
was being run from the original “Alaska Hotel” building.

Sources

Chin, Doug. Seattle’s International District: The Making of a Pan-Asian American Community. Seattle:
International Examiner Press, 2001 (especially pages 25-30).

Tess, John M., Historic Consultant and President, Heritage Investment Corporation and DKB Corporation. “Our
Home Hotel, 75-85 South Main Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Parts 1 and 2,” 14 August,
1986 and 12 September, 1986.

Address: 304 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Oregon and Washington Railroad and Navigation Co. Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 5247800140

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 20

Description

Located between South Main Street and South Jackson Street, this is a three story building with only one primary
fagade along Alaskan Way South. It has exterior brick walls and an original interior structure of wood post and
beam. It has a footprint of 50 feet by 110 feet with a parapet. It has a concrete foundation and basement. Above the
ground level, the main facade is distinguished by three bays, each composed of two segmental arched openings, per
floor. Separating the three bays are brick piers. Corbelling visually closes off each of the bays. There is also a
corbelled band that runs the length of the fagade. The first level is used as a loading dock, and also has a low,
angled wood roof, that has been added, making it difficult to see the openings. This much is obvious: to the north is
a segmentally-arched doorway, followed by a window opening with a segmental arch, then, a series of trabeated
openings, including a main entry with double doors and two windows with multi-pane transoms, which look

original.

Cultural Data

304 Alaskan Way South was completed in 1890, according to King County Tax Assessor records. It is typical of
buildings erected in the district, right after the Great Fire of 1889. This is true, both in terms of construction and in
the design and detailing of the fagade: the expression of the brick piers, the use of corbelling and the repeated
segmental arched openings. From 1913 to 1954, the Oregon and Washington Railroad and Navigation Company
owned the building, which was used to warehouse goods, transported by their trains. Based on an historical
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photograph from the 1930s, the building already had a loading dock and many signs that obscured its ground level.

Most historical studies do not give the building much credit, except for being part of the district, but it is, in fact,
one of the few remaining buildings from as early as 1890 in the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic
District, and also located close to the former tidal flats. Only the former Lowman & Hanford Printing and Binding
Building from 1890, (69 S. Washington St), is located as close to the former tide flats. The St. Charles Hotel from
1889 is located one building to the east, but in the vicinity. The building’s exterior is also virtually intact,
particularly the upper floors. The makeshift wooden roof at the lower floor and the wood fire stairs make it hard to
see some details, but the most important elements seem to be unchanged.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Steinbrueck, Victor, “Inventory Nomination Form, Seattle Register of Historic Places, Item 20,”
Hand-written draft, ca. 1969.

Address: 316 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Terminal Garage Built: 1909

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lots 2-3-4 Parcel #: 5247800150
Style: Utilitarian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Non-Contributing Site ID #: 21

Description

Located on the north corner of Alaskan Way and Jackson Street, this 1909 building has three stories and a
basement. It has a stucco veneer and wide trabeated windows. Underneath the stucco, the exterior walls are of
brick and the window openings have brick sills. The building has eight bays along Alaskan Way and seven bays
along Jackson Street and its footprint is 150 feet by 140 feet. It has interior wood timber structure, as well as some
concrete walls.

A photo from 1936 shows a brick parapet, set back over the stucco, suggesting that the building was reclad at some
point. It may have originally looked like many earlier brick buildings in Pioneer Square from 1909. Its interior,
with the preponderance of heavy timber structure, is typical of many buildings in the district from the period. The




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQuARE-SKID RoAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 47 of 289

1936 photo shows that the windows were then industrial sash, which have been replaced. The photo also shows
one open trabeated opening along Alaskan Way and on the Jackson Street elevation, two similar ones on the west
side, as well as another opening on the east side.

Cultural Data

This building, formerly given the address 84 South Jackson Street, dates from 1909, according to King County Tax
Assessor Record cards. It currently serves as a garage for Pioneer Square. It was called the Terminal Garage from
1919 to 1948. The building was considered an intrusion in the original nomination. Its significance still remains
doubtful. The exterior has clearly been significantly changed, although the heavy timber interior structure is typical
of early district buildings and is relatively unchanged.

In 1957, records show that the Orphans Home of Seattle made changes to the building. There do not seem to be
any records that show what the building looked like in 1909, but it seems likely that, while the general shape and
the window openings may not have been changed for some time, extensive changes were made to the exterior and
particularly to the cladding, parapet and windows.

Although the building has served as a garage since 1919, in general, it does not appear to be associated with
specific historic events or significant people.

Sources
King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Historic Name: Schwabacher Warehouse Annex Built: 1909
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800203
Style: Commercial-Chicago School

Architect: Bebb and Gould Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 22

Description
This is a three story building, located behind the main Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, which has
elevations on First Avenue South and Jackson Street. This building is clad in dark red brick, similar to that on the
main building, and has a similar corbelled parapet. The design and detailing of this building, however, is simple.
Window openings are almost square and contain pairs of double-hung windows at the second and third levels. At the
first level, openings are wider: There is now a large opening at the first bay, which leads to the Merrill Place

alley /courtyard, as well as an entry to what now serves as the local Post Office for Pioneer Square.
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Cultural Data

Designed by the Seattle architecture firm of Bebb and Gould, this was originally a warehouse building, and an annex
to the original Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, designed by the firm of Bebb and Mendel (Architect
Charles Bebb was in partnership first with Louis Mendel, then with Carl Gould). It dates from 1909 and was at one
time, (and sometimes still), known as the Schwabacher Warehouse Annex. While it is much simpler than the main
building, it was only built about four years after the original. Its architectural style clearly echoes it. With the other
buildings on the block — the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, the Seller and Hambach Buildings - it
reflects the cleaner lines and simplicity of buildings of this period. It was clearly designed as an annex, rather than a
building that was to have a major presence, as were the other buildings on this block. Its upper level windows appear
to have been double-hung, as they are now, while the wider openings, although mostly the same width, have been
modified to fit various uses. Still, the building exterior is reasonably intact. The building is an important part of the
ensemble of buildings on the west side of First Avenue South, from Jackson to King Streets.

The building was built for the Schwabacher Hardware Company, which was a leading supplier of dry goods during
the Klondike Gold Rush (The Canadian government required that Americans coming to the Klondike have a year’s
worth of supplies). The Schwabacher Brothers had been important in this part of Seattle since 1869 and had
previously built the Schwabacher Building (First Avenue South and Yesler Way) and the State Building (Occidental
Avenue South and Main Street), both of which are extant. This building, like its neighbors, represents the extension
of the earlier part of the city, originally built closer to Pioneer Place right after the Fire of 1889.

Sources
R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, p 288-289.

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Name: (Fountain pool and seating) Built: 1985

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800201

Style: Modern

Architect: NBBJ/ Olson Walker (Merrill Place Complex) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 23

Description

This is a water feature and seating, accessed from the added entry in the north elevation of the Schwabacher
Warehouse Annex at 83 S. Jackson St. The fountain and its surrounding seating relate to the modern glazed west
wall of the Seller Building at 411 1% Avenue South, directly to the east (across the alley).
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Significance

The pool and surrounding seating were built in 1985, as part of the creation of the Merrill Place complex by
architecture firms, NBBJ and Olson Walker. It is therefore a non historic, non contributing resource. While the
seating and the glazed back wall of the facing Seller Building are from 1985, the complex includes major historical
buildings, which are mainly intact, particularly along First Avenue South. In addition to the Seller Building, the
historical buildings are: the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, (401 1* Avenue South), the building at 83
S. Jackson Street and the Hambach Building, (419 1* Avenue South).

Sources
Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999,

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Historic Name: Merrill Place Parking Garage Built: 1984

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800201

Style: Modern

Architect: NBBJ/ Olson Walker (Merrill Place Complex) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 24

Description

This is a three story concrete parking garage in a modern utilitarian and tasteful style (for a garage). It serves as a
parking structure for the Merrill Place complex. It also covers the entire lot, which formerly included a building
considered intrusive and a parking lot .

Cultural Data

This is a modern building from 1984, part of Merrill Place, which also includes the four historic buildings: the
Schwabacher Hardware Company Building (1903-05), the M. Seller Building (1906), the Hambach Building (1913)
and the Schwabacher Warechouse Annex (1909). This garage is the most utilitarian portion of the entire complex, for
which Olson/Walker Architects and NBBJ were responsible. It does not itself contribute to the Pioneer Square-Skid
Road National Historic District.

Sources
King County Assessor Property Characteristics Report.

Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999.
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Address: 701 1% Avenue

Historic Names: First and Columbia Garage/ People’s Bank and Parking Garage Built: 1970
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 1-6 Parcel: 8591400025

Style: Commercial /Modern/ Brutalist

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 25

Description

This is a nine story concrete building, with Brutalist tendencies, which is mostly open parking garage. Its main
fagade along First Avenue consists of five bays of open parking structure, followed by a narrow bay surmounting a
double door, and then, a full width end bay with a triple height storefront, surmounted by more open parking
structure. Its north elevation is windowless and has no openings for three stories and then, is topped by more open

parking.

Significance

This concrete garage building from 1970 is non historic, non contributing.
Source

King County Assessor Property Characteristics Report. Database Available at:
<http://www5.metrokc.gov/ddes/gis/parcel/>

Address: 627 1* Avenue

Historic Names: Silver Hotel / Pioneer Drug Company Built: 1908
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 7 Parcel #: 8591400055
Style: Commercial /Modemn

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Non-Contributing Site ID #: 26

Description

This is now a two story building, which began as a five story building. The main east elevation has a double height
storefront, divided into two bays at street level, framed by big piers. The current fagcade composition consists of
recessed rectangles, set vertically next to the piers and horizontally above the door openings. The top level is one bay
and has a large three-light window, with the central light wider than the other two. The division of the window is
reflected in the three horizontal recessed rectangles of the parapet. The present fagade is not the historical fagade
dating from the 1900s.

Based on photos in the King County Tax Assessor’s records, the building had lost its three upper floors by 1952,
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probably as a result of the 1949 Earthquake. In addition, a photograph (Historic Preservation Program files, City of
Seattle), which probably dates from the 1960s, indicates that the extant portion of the original 1900s fagade was then
considerably altered, particularly at the ground level. The 1900s facade had big piers, which divided the ground level
into two, as does the modern facade, but the piers also had classical capitals (or moldings approximating capitals)
and were topped by low segmental arches

The west elevation is clad in red brick and has single segmental arched openings, typical of buildings erected in the
district right after the Fire of 1889; however, there is no direct evidence that this part of the building dates from this
early period.

Cultural Data

The original building is given a date of 1908 in the King County Tax Asssessor’s Records. According to a Baist Map
from 1912, the building housed the Silver Hotel and “Gary Silver” was the owner of the building in 1937 (Tax
Assessor’s Record Card). While employing differing architectural elements, the original 1908 fagade was more of a
cousin to the western fagade of 625 First Avenue, which still retains somewhat flamboyant, but Beaux-Arts derived
elements. The original fagade also had various types of moldings, emphasizing the shapes of the various architectural
elements: the segmental arches or rectangular projecting moldings in rectangular shapes, emphasizing the shafts of
the piers. The present remodel of the fagade may have been inspired by these, but does not retain the shape or sense
of the original ornament or architectural elements. In addition, the building has lost three floors.

The west facade, more typical of early construction techniques and styles from right after the Fire, may well date
from that time, although no records prove this. It suggests that the more ornate 1900s facade may have been added to
an older five story building and that the Assessor’s Records may have only documented the fagade change of 1908,
as the date of the building construction. In turn, about a decade after the loss of the upper floors, the remaining
details of 1900s fagade were replaced in the 1960s by the present fagade.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1912.
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Files, Historic Preservation Program, Department of Neighborhoods, City of Seattle.

Address: 625 1* Avenue

Historic Name: K & R Building/ Pioneer Office Equipment Built: ca.18907?; ca. 1905; 1908
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 8 Parcel #: 8591400060

Style: Beaux Arts/ Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 27
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Description

This two story building has a main east fagade with a double height storefront level, topped by a projecting cornice,
which is now painted. At each side of the fagade are tall ionic columns, which rise almost to the top of the building,
just underneath a masonry parapet wall, recessed behind it. The second level above the storefront is topped by a
horizontal element, which is curved in profile and then flattens out at the level above the capitals. This band runs the
length of the fagade between the capitals and is adorned with repeated circular ring shapes.

Of interest are the thin piers, which are concave in profile and ornamented with a running pattern of interlinked
circular and floral shapes. These piers are further topped by less delicate ornaments, original in style, that look like
volutes seen from the side. Rising from these ornaments and the curved section of the horizontal element, (more an
ornamental lintel, it seems, than a real lintel), above the columns, are acanthus leaf shapes.

According to historic photos and records, the building was originally a four story building. Despite this, it retains
striking and significant architectural detail. The many coats of paint sometimes make it difficult to identify the
materials used in the fagade, although the main ornamental metal elements and the masonry above the ornamented
facade are easily identifiable.

The back western wall is of red brick and has single, segmental arched openings, typical of buildings erected in the
district right after the Fire of 1889. The south wall, perhaps an original party wall shared with the Starr-Boyd
Building, is also of red brick. It appears to be from the same period as the western wall. Also of interest is what
appears to be an ornamental vestige of the Starr-Boyd Building, adjoining the main facade: a cast-iron pier, topped
by short columns with cushion capitals, decorated with running floral motifs, surmounted by a portion of brick wall
with terra cotta ornamentation. These elements are now part of 625 First Avenue.

Cultural Data

According to King County Tax Assessor’s Records, the building was completed in 1908, however it appears
consistently on Baist Maps as the “K & R Building” from 1905 onward. It adjoined the now demolished Starr-Boyd
Building, designed by Elmer Fisher and completed in 1890. While the present building’s storefront was somewhat
modernized in the 1960s and then in 1982 by architect R. L. Stasny and Harvey Dodd and Associates Engineers, the
important elements of the main fagade and the somewhat loopy but rich, ornamental detailing remain. This building
fagade was constructed at a time of explosive growth in the Pioneer Square area and in Seattle in general. The
building is similar in scale and shares a similar history with 627 First Avenue, which unfortunately lost most of the
original elements of its fagade, in addition to several floors.

The architectural vestiges, now forming part of this building, both the ornamental features attached to the eastern
facade and the north wall, are most likely remains of Elmer Fisher’s Starr-Boyd Building. In addition, the western
back wall may date from a period closer to the Fire of 1889, although no records prove this. In any case, the 1908
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fagade and the vestiges of the earlier adjoining building form an intriguing ensemble, significant in the context of the
district.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1905, 1908, 1912.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Stasny, R. L. and Harvey Dodd & Associates, Consulting Engineers, Drawing for remodel, 1 October, 1982 (State of
Washington, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Microfiche files).

Address: Not given

Name: Diamond Parking Lot (surface parking) Built: NA

Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition, Block M/ Lot: POR Parcel # : 8591400065
Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 28

Address: 606 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Fischer and MacDonald Wholesale Store Built: 1892
Plat: Unit 88 Yesler Parcel #: 7804128888

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher/ Emil DeNeuf Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 29

Description

This is five story building, square in plan, with a flat roof and parapet. The main elevation faces Yesler Way. There
is a secondary street elevation, facing west on Post Alley (Avenue). Above the double height storefront on Yesler
Way, the symmetrical fagade is divided into three bays of equal width. The building is mainly clad in red brick, but
the composition of the Yesler Way elevation is accented by light colored, (it looks white in many places), rusticated,
stone trim. Stone trim occurs at the belt course above the double height storefront, again, above the third floor
trabeated windows, and as a continuous band above the fourth floor main window openings. It is also used for the
fourth and fifth floor window sills and occurs over the arches of the fourth floor clerestory windows and between the
fifth story windows and clerestories. Finally, rusticated stone punctuates the top of the facade. Another notable
feature is the textured brick pattern of shallow incised rectilinear shapes between the arches of the fifth floor
windows and the top of the parapet.

The side and west elevation is less composed, but has many regularly spaced windows with segmental arches and a
cast-iron storefront, located on the south part of this elevation. A continuation of the storefront of the main fagade,
the cast-iron storefront is divided into three bays by posts, which flair out at the top in a gentle curve.
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Cultural Data

This building, constructed as the Fischer and McDonald Wholesale Store, was completed in 1892. Based on historic
photographs and drawings, the building appears to be intact, except for the obvious changes to the double height
storefront level. The building is also interesting in terms of the careers of Elmer Fisher and Emil DeNeuf, both of
whom produced important buildings in the Pioneer Square district. Elmer Fisher produced many post-fire buildings
in the district, especially between 1889 and 1891. Emil DeNeuf began his career in Seattle, working for Fisher. Some
architectural historians believe that he may even the real designer of many buildings produced in Fisher’s office. In
the case of this building, Elmer Fisher had designed a building for this site, the Feurer Building in 1889, but it had
not been built at the time. In 1892, DeNeuf was the supervising architect on the construction of the present building.
Whether or how much DeNeuf redesigned the building is unclear, however. In any case, it is typical of early
buildings erected in the “burnt district,” after the Great Fire.

Aside from the great number of buildings that Fisher produced from 1889 to 1891, what we know about his career is
somewhat spotty. It is known that he came to the Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed buildings in Vancouver,
Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to Seattle in 1889. His most well-known work in Seattle is the Pioneer
Building, which he designed for Henry Yesler. By 1891, despite the accolades the Pioneer Building received in 1892,
he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle, which he had also designed and built.

Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in Elmer Fisher’s office. While working
for Fisher, he was also responsible for the Metropole Hotel and the First Avenue fagade of the fire-damaged
Schwabacher Building, both in the Pioneer Square district. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He
was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the upper floors of the Mutual Life Building, originally the “Yesler
Building,” whose design was begun by Fisher. DeNeuf also was the designer of the Lowman and Hanford Building.
His partnership with Augustus Heide, with whom he designed the Lowman Building (ca.1906), lasted from 1901 to
1906. (For additional information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the Statement of Significance).

Sources
Luxton, Donald, editor, Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia, Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February
2004. . Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

The Conservation Company. “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
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Washington, Microfiche File.

An Illustrated History of Skagit and Snohomish Counties. Chicago: Interstate Publishing Company, 1906.

Address: 605 1*' Avenue

Historic Name: Mutual Life Building/ Yesler Building Built: 1890, Alt. 1893; ca.1904 (w. addition)
Plat: Terrys 3" Addition / Block M/ Lots 11-12  Parcel #: 8591400075

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf; Robertson & Blackwell Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 30

Description

The Mutual Life Building, formerly called the Yesler Building, is rectangular in plan and six stories in height. It is
clad in red sandstone at the ground level and buff colored brick on the upper floors. According to an historical photo
at the Museum of History and Industry, the sixth story used to rise on the northeast and southeast corners, defining
two towers. These portions of the sixth floor were lost as a result of the Earthquake of 1949. On First Avenue, two
projecting bays, which used to be part of the tower-like structures, flank three recessed bays. The main entry to the
building is on the First Avenue elevation. It has a wide low- slung arch supported on flat pilasters and wide, flat
capitals with Romanesque Revival floral patterns, all in red sandstone Above the ground floor level, each typical bay
consists of a tall wide arch, two stories in height, at the second and third floors, which is topped by a red sandstone
stone belt-course. Just below another belt-course, three tall linked arches, also two stories in height, complete the
fourth and fifth levels of the fagade. At these levels, the wide pilasters that define the bays have carved red sandstone
capitals. The series of arches are topped by groups of trabeated window openings on the top floor, surmounted by a
generous classically detailed sheet metal cornice.

Red sandstone is used liberally as trim, and rusticated or carved with floral motifs throughout the upper levels of the
building exterior. The original Yesler Way elevation has a projecting bay to the east, and then one single typical
recessed bay. Two more identical bays, set next to the Post Hotel Building at 606 Post Avenue (Alley), were
apparently added subsequently.

Cultural Data

The building, originally called the “Yesler Building” and subsequently the Mutual Life Building, was built on the
approximate site of Henry Yesler’s cookhouse, which served as Seattle’s first public space and restaurant. Henry
Yesler commissioned Elmer Fisher to design this building as well as the Bank of Commerce Building, now
confusingly called the “Yesler Building.” Emil DeNeuf is now credited with the design of the upper floors in 1892-
93, and Robertson & Blackwell for the 1904 (or circa 1904) rear addition to the west and for the redesign of the
cornice of the original building, which was modified to be horizontal.
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Henry Yesler was one of Seattle’s early founding settlers, and an influential early Seattle entrepreneur and owner of
prime real estate in the area around Pioneer Place and north of Yesler Way. He owned Seattle’s first steam mill and
operated his famous cookhouse, a grist mill as well as a general store. Two of the four mills he owned were focated
west of the site of this building.

Only the basement and first floor of Elmer Fisher’s design were actually built. The first floor rusticated stone
cladding was smoothed over in 1904. Fisher had grand plans for the building, which included two major towers. A
quote from the March 1891 Northwest Real Estate and Building Review read: “ When completed the building will
present one of the most showy [sic] exteriors in Seattle. Its design is semi-Romanesque, with two red tile-covered
towers on the broad eastern front.” The first floor was temporarily roofed over in 1891. Henry Yesler died in 1892
and economic conditions were also poor in this period.

In 1892, five floors were added, according to a design by Emil DeNeuf. DeNeuf did not follow Fisher’s original
design exactly, although he was responsible for two towers. Instead he created a more unified design of repeated
arches. Based on other works such as the Lowman and Hanford Building and the First Avenue South fagade of the
Schwabacher Building, the more unified design and the use of light colored brick, seem to be hallmarks of DeNeuf’s
work. The upper parts of the sixth level of the building were lost during the 1949 Earthquake, oddly enough giving
even more consistency to DeNeuf’s design. In some historical studies, James Blackwell is credited with the five
floors, added by DeNeuf. More recent studies credit Robertson and Blackwell for the western addition near the Post
Hotel and a new horizontal cornice for the original building.

Elmer Fisher produced a great number of buildings in the district, especially between 1889 and 1891 His most well-
known work in Seattle is the Pioneer Building, which he also designed for Henry Yesler. By 1891, despite the praise
the Pioneer Building received in 1892, he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle,
which he had also designed and built. Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in
Elmer Fisher’s office. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He also was the designer of the Lowman
and Hanford Building. (For more complete information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the Statement of
Significance)

In 1895, the Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York bought the building and it has been named the Mutual
Life Building (or some variation on this name, since that time). This insurance company occupied the southeast
corner of the second floor until 1916. The main floor was occupied was the First National Bank, which incorporated
on this site in 1892 and in 1929 merged with other local Seattle banks, the Dexter Horton Bank (originally in the
Maynard Building) and the Seattle National Bank to form the Seattle-First National Bank, then Washington State’s
largest financial institution.

Sources
Three Fine Buildings Almost Finished,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 2 April 1892, p 5.
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Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999.

Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia. Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

Olson/ Walker. “The Mutual Life Building - Historic Significance and Existing Conditions, Part 1,” ca.1983.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 95 Yesler Way

Historic Names: Yesler Building, Bank of Commerce Building, Scandinavian-American Bank Built: 1891; ca.1895
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1 / Lot 8 Parcel #: 5247800055

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/Commercial

Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf  Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 31

Description

The former Bank of Commerce Building, more recently known as the Yesler Building, is four stories in height and
was built on a lot measuring 24 feet by 70 feet. It is almost rectangular in plan, but has an angled fagade between the
long Yesler Way fagade and a one bay fagade along First Avenue South. The longer Yesler Way facade, clad in
rusticated sandstone, is organized as four bays of tall arches, three stories in height. The fourth level, added
subsequently, is clad in light grey brick, with each upper bay consisting of two separate rectangular openings with
double-hung windows. A prominent cornice, featuring decorative and somewhat squat bracket shapes, set above the
inset window openings, caps the parapet.

The single First Avenue South bay is composed in the same way as the typical bay on the Yesler Way facade. The
angled elevation is also has one bay with a tall arch. Here, however, a grand portal occurs and leads to a business on
the lower level. Above the main portal, is a balcony, also of rusticated sandstone. Delicate Romanesque Revival
carved floral motifs spring up under the balcony and at both sides of the portal. They also occur on the capitals of all
the rusticated piers that define the bays.

Cultural Data
The bottom three floors of the former Bank of Commerce Building, more recently now the Yesler Building, were

designed by architect Elmer Fisher. An early photo of the building by Asahel Curtis indicates that the top floor of
the building was added somewhat later, probably by 1895. Architect Emil DeNeuf is responsible for the upper floor.
The original building was commissioned by mill owner and entrepreneur Henry Yesler in 1890, along with the
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building across the street on First Avenue, the Mutual Life Building (confusingly enough called the “Yesler
Building” in Fisher and Yesler’s day). Both buildings were located across Pioneer Place, from Fisher’s very
successful Pioneer Building, also commissioned by Henry Yesler.

Henry Yesler was one of Seattle’s earliest and founding settlers, and an influential early Seattle entrepreneur,
guiding force and owner of prime real estate in the area around the Public Square and north of Mill Street, currently
known as Yesler Way. He owned the first steam operated mill in Seattle and in all of Puget Sound, and also operated
a grist mill as well as a general store.

Elmer Fisher produced many postfire buildings in the district, especially between 1889 and 1891. He arrived in the
Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed buildings in Vancouver, Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to
Seattle in 1889. His most well-known work in Seattle is the Pioneer Building, which he designed for Henry Yesler.
Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in Elmer Fisher’s office. He had an
independent practice by the end of 1891. He was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the Mutual Life Building and
was the designer of the Lowman and Hanford Building. (For more information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the
Statement of Significance).

Sources
Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia. Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Woodbridge, Sally and Roger Montgomery, A Guide to Architecture in Washington State. Seattle: University of
Washington Press, 1980.

Address: 105 1¥ Avenue S.

Historic Names: Schwabacher Building Built: 1890; ca.1892

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1/ Lot 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800046

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Italian Renaissance/ Commercial

Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf (1% Avenue fagade) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 32
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Description

The Schwabacher Building is a four-story building with brick walls, as well as rusticated stone at the storefront level
of its Yesler Way facade. Its plan is L-shaped and its fagade on Yesler Way dates from 1889-1890, while its First
Avenue east facade was altered as a result of a fire and completed in 1893. The Yesler Way fagade, mainly clad in
red brick, is organized as three bays of tall arches, which are three stories in height and inset between brick pilasters.
The arches are set over a clerestoried storefront which takes up the length of the lower level. The storefront is
flanked on each side by blocks of rusticated stone. At the top of the fagade, directly under each arch are a semi-
circular window and a set of paired, double-hung windows, at the two lower levels. Distinctive elements include the
decorated spandrels, particularly a weave pattern above the second floor, Romanesque Revival pilaster capitals and
raised decorative bands, consisting of egg-and-dart motifs, which follow the semi-circular shape of the arches.

The First Avenue South fagade, four stories in height, is clad in cream colored brick with stone trim. The facade
consists of three bays of rectangular openings at the second and third levels, set over a storefront, with, at the top
level, a triad of smaller semi-circular arches at each bay. These are separated by short columns with decorative
capitals. Raised bands also emphasize the curve of the arches below. The wall below the projecting stone cornice is
decorated by a somewhat intricate pattern of lozenge shapes in brick, often punctuated by raised circular shapes at
their centers. The stone lintels above the third floor window openings and the stone spandrels between second and
third floor windows contrast in color with the cream-colored brick.

Cultural Data _

The original building was designed in 1889-1890 by architect Elmer Fisher. The Yesler Way fagade dates from the
original design by Fisher. In June 1892, the building suffered a major fire. Emil DeNeuf, who had originally worked
in Fisher’s office, by this time, was an architect in his own right and designed the First Avenue South elevation. This
accounts for the difference in the design of the two elevations. The Yesler Way elevation is Romanesque Revival in
derivation, whereas the First Avenue South elevation shows a Renaissance influence. Also, DeNeuf often used light
colored bricks in his work, as demonstrated also in the fagade of the Lowman and Hanford Building, also in the
district.

The building was designed for the Schwabacher Brothers, grocery wholesalers, who had been in business since 1869
on this site. They continued to have a thriving business in this area. Later, they also commissioned the Sullivanesque
Schwabacher Hardware Company Building at First Avenue S. and Jackson Street, designed by Bebb and Mendel.
The 1892 fire in the Schwabacher Building is reported to have cost the business $ 425,000; however, the fire was
contained and illustrated the success of the new building regulations as originally set forth in Ordinance No. 1147
(see Context Statement for details on Ordinance No. 1147).

This building is the work of two architects who contributed to the rebuilding of the “burnt district,” as the Pioneer
Square area was known right after the Great Fire of 1889, and particularly near Pioneer Place. Elmer Fisher is
considered the most prolific of the post-fire architects. He came to the Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed
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buildings in Vancouver, Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to Seattle in 1889. His most well-known work
in Seattle is the Pioneer Building, which he designed for Henry Yesler. By 1891, despite the praise the Pioneer
Building received in 1892, he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle, which he
had also designed and built. Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in Elmer
Fisher’s office. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the
Mutual Life Building, originally the “Yesler Building,” which Fisher had begun. He also was the designer of the
Lowman and Hanford Building. His partnership with Augustus Heide, with whom he designed the Lowman Building
(ca.1906), lasted from 1901 to 1906. (For additional information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the Statement of
Significance).

The building, commonly known as the Schwabacher Building, is also known as the Gatzert-Schwabacher Building,
named after Bailey Gatzert. Bailey Gatzert, who had married into the Schwabacher family and became the head of
the Schwabacher business, was also mayor of Seattle in the 1870s.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February
2004. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Address: 109 1*' Avenue S.

Historic Names: Terry Denny Building/ Northern Hotel Built: 1891
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1 / Lot 6-7 Parcel #: 5247800041
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Italian Renaissance

Architect: Saunders and Houghton Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 33

Description

This is a five story building, located mid-block between Washington Street and Yesler Way, on the west side of First
Avenue South. It is located between the Maynard Building by Albert Wickersham to the south and the First Avenue
elevation of the Schwabacher Building to the north. Its only street facing elevation is along First Avenue South. Its
fagade is divided into five bays until the fifth floor and is clad in red brick with stone trim. The composition of the
fagade is symmetrical, with a prominent central portal at the ground floor. This has a wide archway and distorted
classical elements, including a broken pediment with scrolls and griffins to each side of a mysterious urn-shape, set
on piers of rusticated stone. To each side of the portal are clerestoried storefronts, with a metal cornice overhead.

The central bay, slightly recessed, continues up the building for three floors, with rectangular openings, inset with a
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triad of three double-hung windows, each surmounted by a stone lintel. At the top and fifth level is a large semi-
circular window, decorated at its perimeter with circular panes along the arch and with rectangular lites along the
base. This window is then topped by a remarkable cornice. The cornice includes repeated brackets that run the length
of the fagade and features a woman’s head, set between the names “TERRY” and “DENNY.” Each of the other bays,
also slightly recessed from the second to the fourth levels, has three individual rectangular openings, also
surmounted by a continuous stone lintel. At the fourth level, however, each stone lintel has a segmental arch shape.

Ornamental terra cotta panels occur typically at the spandrels, separating the second from the third floor and the third
floor from the fourth floor, and also in the spandrel below the central semi-circular window. At the top level, the
bays are not differentiated; the windows to each side of the central bay are single arched windows, with decorated
terra cotta keystone shapes and raised bands, that follow the shape of the arched window below.

Cultural Data

Commissioned by early Seattle settlers, Charles Terry and Arthur Denny in 1889, and described in the 1889 Seattle
Post-Intelligencer, the building was designed by the architectural office of Saunders and Houghton and completed in
1891. It housed the Northern Hotel on its upper floors. During the Klondike Gold Rush, this was a popular hotel for
miners and loggers on their way to Alaska. During the 1920s and 1930s, the hotel was described as a “Prohibition
oasis,” where liquor could be obtained. Its exterior is virtually intact, except for changes to the storefronts and the
loss of an upper part of the cornice that once included a pediment-like piece and a delicate railing.

The architectural firm of Saunders and Houghton did a number of projects for William Bailey, including the more
restrained, but well composed Bailey Block, now called the Broderick Building, also in the district. The Terry Denny
Building is from around the same period as the Bailey Building, also begun in 1889 and completed in 1892, but
seems more Victorian in style: It has a grid-like composition and an interesting juxtaposition of ornamental elements.
The difference in the designs of these two buildings suggests the variety in the work of Saunders and Houghton. This
building has definite roots in the history of Seattle’s development right after the Great Fire of 1889 and in the arrival
of those who saw great opportunity in the rebuilding of Seattle at this time. This is an early design by two Seattle
architects who were to make important contributions to Seattle and later had established architectural practices.

Charles Saunders appears to have first come to Seattle in 1889, as a result of his association with William Elder
Bailey, whom he had met in California. William Bailey, the son of a leading Pennsylvania iron and steel
manufacturer, was involved in the rebuilding of Seattle right after the Fire and provided capital for many local
ventures in real estate, railroads and newspapers. Bailey was sometimes involved in business ventures with other
Seattle businessmen, such as Thomas Burke.

Saunders had grown up in Cambridge, Massachusetts. He practiced architecture for a time, from 1886 to 1889, in
Pasadena, California, along with his wife, Mary, before moving to Seattle in June 1889. By September of 1889, he
had formed a partnership with Edwin Houghton, whom he may have also met in California. Edwin Houghton was
born in Hampshire, England in 1856 and came from a family of quantity surveyors and architects. He was
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apprenticed in the London architectural office of Thomas Houghton, his brother and in Chelsea. Before arriving in
Seattle in September 1889, he had first worked as a farmer outside of El Paso, Texas. He then opened an independent
architectural practice in Pasadena, California. He moved with his family to Port Townsend, Washington in early
1889. One of the other early projects of the firm, and designed for Bailey, was the now demolished Washington
Territory Investment Company (1889-90). Like the Terry-Denny Building, it exhibited a combination of Victorian
composition and Richardsonian Romanesque style. It had more similarities with the Terry-Denny Building than the
Bailey Building. Saunders and Houghton also designed the Olympic Block, once located on the corner of Yesler and
First Avenue South, which collapsed famously and dramatically in 1972.

The Saunders and Houghton partnership dissolved around 1891, when Saunders established an independent practice.
It was around this time that Saunders designed Denny Hall, the first building on the present University of
Washington campus. In 1898, Saunders formed a partnership with George Willis Lawton. In Pioneer Square,
Houghton also designed the original Cannery Building on the corner of Main Street and Second Avenue Extension,
which lost one its original facades as a result of the Second Avenue Extension.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

“The Northern Hotel — ‘It had personality.” ” In “Pictorial,” The Seattle Times, 16 April 1972

Address: 119 1* Avenue S.

Historic Names: Maynard Building, Dexter Horton Building Built: 1892
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1 /Lot 5 Parcel: 5247800035

Style: Chicago School/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 34

Description

This is a five story building, clad in buff brick and sandstone. It is rectangular in plan and also has a basement level,
partially visible from the street. It has a shorter main elevation on First Avenue of six bays and a secondary street
elevation facing south on Washington Street, consisting of two sets of five bays, separated by a continuous pilaster,
which rises to the cornice level. The cornice is somewhat elaborate and includes a dentil band of corbel shapes and a
tower-like ornament at the southeast corner of the building. The tower-like ornament is also extended down to the
ground level by an engaged cylindrical shape set on a circular plinth.

In general, ground level openings on the first level are simple arched openings in sandstone. Above the ground level,
the typical vertical bay is mainly clad in brick and has two levels of trabeated window openings, surmounted by an
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arched window opening. Spandrels consist of a checkerboard pattern of squares, with every other one recessed
slightly. Above the fourth floor, is a belt course, which includes a dentil band. The top level windows are rectangular
in shape. The Washington Street elevation has two sets of five similar bays. Below the second level of the five
western bays of the Washington Street elevation, are three sets of wide rectangular openings at the ground level.

The main First Avenue South is not symmetrically composed: It has four similar bays, followed by two slightly
projecting bays at the upper floors, surmounting a striking entry portal at the ground level. The portal has a low slung
arch and elaborate Romanesque Revival carving. The ornamental carving of the entry portal consists mainly of
interlaced floral patterns with an occasional small carved head. Two short, round columns, at each side of the entry
arch, have shafts of pink marble and carved sandstone capitals.

Cultural Data
The Maynard Building, originally known as the Dexter Horton Building, was designed by architect Albert
Wickersham in 1892. The building was designed to house the Dexter Horton Bank.

This building has beautifully composed elevations, fine detailing and delicate Romanesque Revival carving. It has
been praised by many, including Sally Woodbridge and Roger Montgomery, who stated in A Guide to Architecture
in_Washington State: “The most sophisticated of the Chicago School buildings of the area, it is true to the
Sullivanesque principle of weaving spandrel and pier to create a refined and structurally expressive design.” Jeffrey
Ochsner and Dennis Andersen have also pointed out echoes of the buildings of Burnham and Root and more
specifically of the now demolished Insurance Exchange Building in Chicago. If anything, the Maynard Building is
perhaps very slightly more sophisticated, in its balancing of rectangular and arched forms, the overall unity of the
composition and the restraint and delicacy of the carved ornament.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889 as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was the
supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished, as a result the Denny
Regrade (For additional information on the Denny Regrade, please see the statement of significance). He had an
independent practice by 1893. Despite the work on the Maynard Building, he appears to have received few
commissions outside of this building and the Seattle Hardware Company Building that allowed him to show off his
full design capabilities. (The Seattle Hardware Company Building is also a located in the Pioneer Square-Skid Road
National Historic District at 83 King Street - See Field Entry 51).

Dexter Horton, who originally commissioned this building, was born in Seneca Lake, New York in 1825 and raised
on a farm 70 miles from Chicago. He arrived in Seattle in 1853, as part of the Bethel Party, Seattle’s second covered
wagon expedition, which also included Thomas Mercer, the Reverend Daniel Bagley and their families. He and his
first wife worked in Henry Yesler’s mill, while he also helped Thomas Mercer with his hauling business. Horton
later started a general store on First Avenue and Washington Street. It was as the manager of the general store that he
began to safeguard fishermen and loggers’ money. At first, he placed it in sacks and hid the sacks in various parts of
his store. Through an advertisement, he eventually acquired a small safe, which apparently had no back. After a stint
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in San Francisco in the brokerage business, he returned to Seattle in 1870, with a heavy, steel safe, (including a
back), as well as a better knowledge of banking. He established the first real bank in Seattle in a one story stone
house, a building which partially survived the Great Fire of 1889. Despite the fire, the building’s bank vault
preserved the money it contained. The present building was built on this site and became the new bank building.
Dexter Horton’s bank later became Seafirst Bank and is currently the Bank of America.

Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of King County. Chicago-Seattle: S. J. Clarke Publishing Co., 1929.

Crowley, Walt. National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1997.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Rochester, Junius. “Horton, Dexter (1825-1904),” HistoryLink.org, 1 December 1998. Database on-line. Available
from http://HistoryLink.org/

Warren, James R. “Seattle at 150: Dexter Horton turned hard work into a bank.” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 30
October 2001. Database on-line. Available from http://Seattlepi.nwsource.com/

Woodbridge, Sally and Roger Montgomery. A Guide to Architecture in Washington State. Seattle and London:
University of Washington Press, 1980.

Address: 89 S. Washington St

Historic Names: Walter Collins Building/ J & M Annex Built: 1892

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 8 Parcel: 5247800130 (part of J & M Building)
Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 35
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Description

This small building adjoins the J & M Building and is currently part of the same parcel. It faces north on
Washington Street and has an alley elevation facing west. The northern half of the building is one story, while the
southern portion of the building, because of a grade change is three stories. The one story portion of the west
elevation has three segmental window openings. The southern three story portion of the west elevation has segmental
openings on its two upper stories and is filled in with new concrete block at the ground level. Currently, the north
elevation is covered with horizontal tongue and groove siding and has a remnant of an original brick pier with a stone
capital and a cast-iron base.

Cultural Data

Although listed separately in the original National Register nomination for the Pioneer Square-Skid Road Historic
District, the building is part of the J & M Building parcel. By itself, the annex building is not distinguished
architecturally. It may date from as early as 1889-1890 and therefore from the rebuilding of the “burnt district,” right
after the Great Fire or most likely from slightly later, around 1895. The remnant of the pier on the Washington Street
elevation suggests that there may be more details of architectural interest below the wood siding, but at present, this
has not been proven.

According to records at the Seattle Department of Planning and Development, in 1895, a permit was issued to Frye
and Bruhn, allowing them to build a “two story” building, with a 10’ by 10’ footprint at 201 Commercial Street, the
historical address of the J & M Café. This may very well refer to this structure, whose front dimension is about 10
feet (and the lowest level to the south may be considered a basement). This would give it a slightly later date than the
original J & M Building. In any case, it indicates that Charles Frye and his associate Charles Bruhn, who in 1891
created the Frye and Bruhn Meat Packing Company, probably owned the building site in 1895.

Now commonly known as the ] & M Building Annex, which is its role today, the building appears to have been
known as the Walter Collins Building by the 1910s. At least by 1919, the Walter Collins Building housed an
employment Agency, known as the C. M. & St. P. Employment Agency, which provided work to shipbuilders. The
Walter Collins Building can be seen in contemporary photographs of the elevated Seattle Municipal Street railway,
which was completed on September 4, 1919. At that time, the north elevation had an overhanging awning indicating
both the name of the agency, with, above it, an ornamental sign in raised letters with the name “Collins.” The
elevated railway line ran east and west along Washington Street from and to the former Railway Avenue, now
Alaskan Way, past 77 S. Washington St, (now the Lutheran Compass Center), the St. Charles Hotel (its name in
1919), the “little Collins Building” and the J & M Building.

Since the building is considered physically part of the J & M property and it has historical significance, it should
retain its contributing status. Also, additional vestiges of its original fabric may well be underneath the siding of the
north fagade.
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Sources
Dorpat, Paul, “101 The Railroad Avenue Elevated,” Seattle, Now and Then, Seattle: Tartu Publications, 1984.

Raffin, Melina and Shelley Krueger. “ 201-221 1* Avenue South.” Report for URBDP 586 A. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.

Address: 201 1" Ave S

Historic Names: ] & M Hotel/ J & M Card Room/ Seattle Bar Saloon Built: 1889; ca. 1900
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2 / Lot 8 Parcel #: 5247800130

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Comstock and Troetsche Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 36

Description

This is a three story, brick clad building with a small amount of stone trim. It is located on the southwest corner of
First Avenue South and Washington Street. The plan of the building is rectangular. Its roof is not visible and it has a
parapet, enhanced by a thin projecting cornice. The main elevation along First Avenue South has a storefront with
stained glass windows in the clerestory. On the second floor, the First Avenue facade consists of six single double-
hung windows, topped by segmental arches. The arches are further emphasized by omamental keystone shapes in
stone and small stone rectangular trim pieces on each side of the window opening. Thin raised bands link these
rectangles visually and also follow the upper contours of the segmental shapes of the windows.

Above the second floor, is a band of arched corbelled forms, topped by a series of slightly projecting bands.This was
probably the original cornice of the 1889 portion of the building. Surmounting this is a third level, with six paired
double-hung windows, surmounted by flatter segmental arches. The Washington Street elevation has similar window
configuration and detailing in its eastern bay, but then has mainly paired windows with flat segmental arches on the
second and third levels. The composition of this elevation is less regular. The ground level has several irregularly
placed arched openings and two large trabeated openings toward the west.

The interior of the ground level café is known for its period metal ceiling.

Cultural Data

The lower two floors of the J & M Café, also known as the J & M Hotel Building, were originally built in 1889 for
Captain J. H. Marshall. The King County Assessor’s Records also indicate that there was an alteration in 1900,
which may correspond to the third level of the building. Another report gives the date for the third floor addition as
1903. The original J. H. Marshall Building was designed for Marshall’s wholesale business by Comstock and
Troetsche, known mainly as San Diego architects, who were also responsible for the Squire Latimer Building at 216
1** Avenue South. The decorative band at the top of the second level is most probably the cornice of the original 1889
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building. The July 25, 1889 Seattle Post-Intelligencer made clear that this was to be a utilitarian building: “Captain J.
H. Marshall will erect a brick building on the southwest corner of Commercial and Washington Streets, which will be
used by a wholesale business house...It will be built in a most substantial and durable manner and will present a
massive and imposing appearance rather than ornamental. Architects Comstock and Troetsche are preparing the
plans. The building will cost about $ 20,000.”

According to records at the Seattle Department of Planning and Development, in 1895, a permit was issued to Frye
and Bruhn, allowing them to build a “two story” building, with a 10° by 20’ footprint at this address. This probably
refers to the small structure to the west of the main building, known as the “J & M Annex,” and which is still
standing (# 35). It indicates that Charles Frye and his associate Charles Bruhn, who in 1891 created the Frye and
Bruhn Meat Packing Company, owned the building in 1895. The Frye and Bruhn Meat Packing Company
Headquarters are thought to have occupied 15 acres of tideflats on the present site of Seahawks Football Stadium.
They also gained possession of the building, originally commissioned by Cyrus Walker, on Occidental Avenue
South, that currently houses “Al & Bob’s Saveway.”

Not long after, by the time of the Klondike Gold Rush, this building, like all the buildings on the block, was occupied
by a business on the ground floor and a hotel on the top levels. The building is typical of the buildings that were
erected right after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889. The shape and detailing of its second floor window openings, in
particular, have a Victorian quality, characteristic of many buildings of this period in Seattle (and its environs). With
the other buildings on the western block from Main Street to Washington Street, this building presents a unified
facade and a powerful sense of early Seattle, as it rose from the ashes right after the Great Fire of 1889. The building,
of course, is of the same construction type as these buildings: brick exterior walls with heavy timber construction on
its interior.

Its ground floor business, at some point abbreviated to “J & M,” has been a bar and card room, (when the Seattle was
a “wide-open” city and allowed card playing), since the Klondike Gold Rush. During the “wide-open™ times, from
1906 to 1916, it was known simply as the “J & M Saloon.” Several versions of what “J & M” stands for are
documented: “Jamieson & Moffett,” “Jamieson and McFarland” (around 1901) and then “Joe and Mary
McConagin.” In any case, the “ J & M” name appears to have been associated with the building for some time. The
building was located on a block which included several hotels, (in particular 213, 211 and 209 First Avenue), also
popular during the Klondike Gold Rush. Its hotel, housed in the upper stories, also served the same sort of clientele.

The architectural firm, responsible for this building, Comstock and Troetsche, had a thriving practice in San Diego,
during the mid 1880s. As a result of an acquaintanceship with Judge Thomas Burke, an important early Seattle
figure, the firm also opened a Seattle office. Comstock and Troetsche contributed to the rebuilding of Seattle after
the Great Fire of 1889, although their partnership dissolved in 1890, so that the 1900 alteration is probably not by
them.
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Sources
“The Wings of the Phoenix, Two New Brick Blocks on Commercial Street,” Seattle Post Intelligencer, 25 July 25
1889, p 4.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Raffin, Melina and Shelley Krueger. “ 201-221 1* Avenue South.” Report for URBDP 586 A. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.

Address: 207 1" Ave S Historic Names: Skagit Hotel/ Central Card Room Built: 1889
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 7 Parcel: 5247800120

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Unknown/ Comstock and Troetsche? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 37

Description

Rectangular in plan, this is a three story building, mainly clad in brick with cast stone and stone trim. The only street
elevation faces First Avenue South. The building is very similar in size and width to the buildings at 213, 211 and
209 First Avenue South, all located to the south on the same block. In fact, the similarities between its fagade and
211 First Avenue South are particularly strong.

The building retains the metal comice at the top of the facade, which, in this case, is divided into three bays,
reflecting the bay divisions of the wall below it. It consists of molding shapes in metal supported by tiny repeated
arches, similar to those that originally graced the 211 facade. Below this, the fagade is very close in appearance to
211 First Avenue South. There are two floors of double-hung windows. These are arranged so that the central bay is
wider and has two windows per floor, while each side bay only have one window per floor. Lintels and window sills
are of rusticated cast stone and the belt course just above the storefront level doubles as a sill for the second floor
windows. There are also thin bands of cast stone trim, just below the level of window lintels to each side of the
windows and on the brick pilasters that emphasize the bay divisions. Spandrels are decorated by a series of squares,
composed of header bricks set at right angles to each other, in a sort of checkerboard pattern. The metal storefront
takes up most of the width of the ground floor level, with an entrance to the upper floors located to the south.The
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storefront also has clerestory windows. To each side of the storefront, what little wall is visible made of rusticated
stone blocks.

Cultural Data

This building, commonly referred to as the Central, in reference to the bar at the ground floor, is also called the
Skagit Building. The building dates from 1889 and was built right after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889. Based on
historical photos, the Central’s facade appears to be intact, except for possible changes to the storefront. The upper
floors have historically housed the Skagit Hotel. With the New England Hotel, the buildings at 213, 211 and 209
First Avenue South, and the J & M Building, which make up the western block from Main Street to Washington
Street, this building presents a unified fagade and a powerful sense of early post-fire Seattle. The building, of course,
is of the same construction type as these buildings: brick exterior walls, with heavy timber construction on its
interior.

This building most likely served the same clientele as the string of buildings at 213, 211 and 209 First Avenue South,
whose upper floors were linked and served as brothels during the Klondike Gold Rush. At the very least, the upper
floors of the Central provided inexpensive lodgings. The central tavern, which claims to be Seattle’s oldest saloon, is
known to have catered to clientele involved in the Gold Rush. Both the Central and the J & M Café, located on the
same block, are supposed to have also functioned during the same period as shady employment agencies.While this
building and its neighbors are associated with Seattle’s rebirth after the Great Fire, they are also particularly
associated with the later rough and tumble existence during the time of the Klondike Gold Rush.

Sources
Andrews, Mildred, “Pioneer Square Journey — Map,” (walking tours), Seattle: Pioneer Square Community Council,
N.D. (circa 2001).

Raffin, Melina and Shelley Krueger. ¢ 201-221 1* Avenue South.” Report for URBDP 586 A. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.

Address: 209 1° Ave S

Historic Names: Hotaling Block/ Marathon Building Built: 1889; 1899?
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2 /Lot 7 Parcel #: 5247800125

Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Captain John Nixon

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 38
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Description

Situated between 211 First Avenue South and the Central Tavern, this building, once known as the Hotaling Block,
has one street facing elevation on First Avenue South. It is three stories in height with a basement level. Its storefront
has clearly been modemized, but, based on historical photographs, has retained the original division of the storefront
into four parts and the wooden bulkhead. The upper floors are brick clad and have two trabeated windows per floor.
Distinctively shaped trim pieces are set over the windows: They consist of a deep band with a small rising rectangle
at its center, and returns on each side of the opening at right angles to it. While the shape of the trim is original, it
appears to have been stuccoed or treated with some similar material recently, or at least painted beige. Other
characteristic elements include the metal cornice with repeated metal bracket ornaments with a dentil band and the
capitals and geometric ornament at each end of the fagade over the storefront. Aside from the treatment of the trim,
the overall appearance of the building seems to have changed little. The general design of the fagade and its detailing
is in keeping with the other buildings on the block between Main Street and Washington Street that also included the
New England Hotel, 213 and 211 First Avenue South, the Central Café and the J & M Café and Cardroom, many of
which were built at the same time in 1889, right after the Fire of 1889.

Cultural Data

With the New England Hotel, 213 and 211 First Avenue South, the Central Café and the J & M Café and Cardroom,
which make up the western block from Main Street to Washington Street, this building presents a unified facade and
a powerful sense of early Seattle, right after the Fire of 1889. It was originally constructed in 1889 by the A. P.
Hotaling Company of Puget Sound, who was its first tenant. Established in 1883, the A. P. Hotaling Company sold
wholesale liquor. The July 25, 1889 issue of the Seattle Post- Intelligencer announced: “Work on the Hotaling Block
on Commercial Street between Main and Washington was commenced yesterday. It is Captain John C. Nixon’s
intention to crowd construction on the building. He is confident that he can complete the building inside of ninety
days.” King County Assessor’s Records, which occasionally lack in accuracy, give the building a later date of 1899,
but the composition of the facade is in keeping with that of the slightly earlier buildings on the block. The directness
and simplicity of the design, on the other hand, is less Victorian and might reflect changes at a later date. The
building, of course, is of the same construction type as the earliest buildings, constructed right after the fire: brick
exterior walls with heavy timber construction on its interior.

The building was later known as the Marathon Building. It is the typical three-story building with storefront on the
ground floor and hotel on the upper floors, repeated on this block. During the Klondike Gold Rush, the building’s
upper floors were apparently used as a brothel and the second level had a doorway that led into the second floor of
211 First Avenue to the south (which in turn had a doorway leading to the second floor of 213 Fist Avenue South).
King County Assessor’s Records show that the building was owned by S. J. Kreielsheimer by the 1930s.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.
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Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996, City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files. —

“The Wings of the Phoenix — Two New Brick Blocks on Commercial Street,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 25 July
1889, p 4 (reference to the Hotaling Block).

Address: 211 1 Ave S

Historic Names: Parker Building/ Silver Bow Hotel/ Portland Hotel/ Lucky Hotel Lodgings/ Killion Building
Built: 1889

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 6 Parcel: # 5247800115

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 39

Description
Rectangular in plan, this is a three story building clad in brick with stone trim. At its ground level, it retains the most
striking elements of its original metal storefront and the detailing of the transom above a main doorway .

The only street elevation faces First Avenue South. The building is similar in size and width to 213 First Avenue
South to the south and to 209 First Avenue South to the north. The present cornice, although striking, appears to
have been added later, since the building had a pedimented metal cornice, which has been lost. The central spandrel
below is decorated with a series of inset rectangles, as are the spandrels of the flanking bays to each side of it. Below
are two floors of double-hung windows. These are arranged so that the central bay is wider and has two windows per
floor, whereas each side bay only has one window per floor. Lintels and window sills are of rusticated stone and the
belt course just above the storefront level doubles as a sill for the second floor windows.

A comparison with older photographs suggests that where the storefront has been rebuilt, it has been carefully
replicated, based on the original storefront design, or it may be mostly original. The storefront takes up most of the
width of the ground floor level, with an entrance to the upper floors located to the south. Thin metal pilasters with
acanthus-like capitals divide the remaining storefront into three bays. The pilasters do not line up with the central
brick piers which define the bays of the upper floors. The storefront also has clerestory windows, organized in
sections of four panes each, with two of these sections per storefront bay.




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SqQuaRE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 72 of 289

Cultural Data '

Originally known as the Parker Building, the building, like the ones constructed next to it, was built in 1889, right
after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889. Like its present neighbors, it housed a store on the ground level and a hotel on
the second and third floors. It is almost intact and/or renovations have been very sensitive to the original design and
materials. The detailing in brick and metal is distinctive. In design and detailing, 211 First Avenue South is also
typical of many of buildings erected in the district right after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889. With other buildings on
the same block, particularly the New England Hotel and 213 as well as 211 First Avenue, it forms a powerful
ensemble of buildings from that time. At the same time, it appears to be one of the most intact buildings on the block.

During the Klondike Gold Rush years, the hotel was called the Silver Bow Hotel and then the Portland Hotel. It is
thought that, at least during that time, the second floors of 213, 211 and 209 First Avenue South were connected, and
functioned as brothels. These connections would have allowed easy traffic between the three brothels or hotels.
Subsequently, probably in the 1930s, 211 and 213 First Avenue were combined as the Lucky Hotel Lodgings, which
provided fifteen cent beds.

Sources
King County Assessor’s Records.

Johnson, G. Rodney, Owner. “Luck Hotel, 213 First Avenue South, Parts I and I1,” 10 October 1985 and 18 April
1986, (includes related drawings by Mithun Architects and Stephen Peters, Architect and correspondence). Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

“211 First Avenue South, a.k.a. Parker Building.” Part 1, August 28 2001.

Address: 213 1 Ave S

Historic Names: Branagan-Smith Building/ Rocker Hotel Built: 1889
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 6 Parcel #: 5247800110
Style: Commercial/Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect:Unknown Builder: Matthew Branagan?

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 40
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Description

213 First Avenue South is a simple three-story brick clad building with cast-iron elements. The building dates from
1889. It is rectangular in plan and also has a basement level. It is located between the New England Hotel to the
south and the building at 211 First Avenue South. Its only street facing elevation is on First Avenue South. It has a
storefront at the ground level and a separate entrance to the upper level floors at its the southern bay.

The storefront is surmounted by two floors, each divided into three bays. Each bay has one rectangular opening per
floor, but each window area is divided into two double-hung windows separated by a thin ornamental pilaster,
probably of cast-iron. Windows and spandrels are inset between engaged brick piers, topped by cast-iron plates,
which rise into the generous ornamental metal cornice at the parapet level. This cornice is fairly ornate and includes
fan shapes, a projecting metal “belt course,” and various types of floral shapes. It also is subdivided to emphasize the
bay divisions of the fagade below. Similar elements adorn the lintel of the storefront below. Another distinguishing
feature: the ornamental rectangles of textured brick, that occur in the spandrels between the second and third levels,
(and similar to those that used to exist in the lunettes of the third level arches of the neighboring New England Hotel
before the 1949 Earthquake), a common ornamental device found in many neighboring buildings from the same
period.

In fact, the present storefront, including the metal lintel between the two original ornamental elements to each side of
the storefront, are due to a sensitive rehabilitation, done around the mid-1980s (after encouragement and approval
from the Washington State Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation and the National Parks Service). The new
pilaster capitals of the storefront were a simplified version of the central mullions of the upper fagade windows. The
pilasters are placed to reinforce the bay divisions of the existing upper levels of the building. The reconstructed metal
storefront is inset between two rusticated stucco finished pilasters, which were also restored. Correspondence
indicates that a penthouse, not visible from the street, was also added in the 1980s.

Cultural Data

This building dates from 1889 and was known as the Branagan-Smith Building from 1889 to 1916. The building was
commissioned by Matthew Branagan, a building and street contractor and by James M. Smith, a saloon keeper. At
some point, the building may also have housed or have been called the Luck Hotel. By 1918, the hotel was known as
the Rocker Hotel.

The composition of its fagade and many of its architectural elements are typical of brick buildings erected the
district, right after the Fire of 1889. It also had much in common with the much larger New England hotel, located
just to the south of it, particularly before that building lost much its textured brick ornament, its third floor arches and
its cornice as a result of the Earthquake of 1949; however this building has a cast-iron cornice, and has retained all
the brick decorative elements of its upper floors and the main decorative elements above its storefront.

During the Klondke Gold Rush years, this building was also connected to 211 First Avenue South, at the second
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level. 1t is thought that 213, 211 and 209 First Avenue South were connected at the second floor and functioned as
hotel/ brothels. These connections would have allowed easy traffic between the three hotels. The connections were
bricked in, probably during the 1960s, when the buildings were no longer served as hotels.

Sources
King County Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Johnson, G. Rodney, Owner. “Luck Hotel, 213 First Avenue South, Parts | and II,” 10 October 1985 and 18 April
1986, (includes related drawings by Mithun Architects and Stephen Peters, Architect and correspondence). Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Peters, Stephen, Architect. Letter to Stephen Mathison, Restoration Designer, Washington State Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, “Re: Luck Hotel Preservation Application, Request for Certification of
Completed Work, Pioneer Square Historic District, Seattle WA.” 30 November 1987. Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Address: 219 1* Ave S

Historic Names: New England Hotel Built: 1889

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 5 Parcel: # 5247800105
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 41

Description

Virtually rectangular in plan, except that it has an angled fagade between First Avenue South and Main Street, the
New England Hotel is three stories in height and clad in brick. It has lost its original cornice. At the ground level,
the Main Street elevation alternates between rectangular storefront openings and distinctive arched ones with
ornamental semi-circular forms, topped by pointed shapes in brick. All the other openings at the second and third
levels are trabeated.

At the second and third levels, bay divisions are emphasized by brick piers or a thickening in the wall. Some of these
piers go down to the ground level, others not. The Main Street fagade has two floors of nine bays, each with
distinctive windows, divided into two by a central mullion. Each half is divided in the vertical direction into three
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squares. Similar windows appear on the four northern bays of the First Avenue elevation. The nine bays of the Main
Street elevation and the four bays of the First Avenue elevation flank single wider bays, with windows divided into
three, which appear to be symmetrically angled in relation to the angled bay. The central angled bay has only one
vertical row of fenestration, which surmounts a doorway, between Main Street and First Avenue.

The building, which was severely damaged, was restored in 1977. Based on historical photographs, the current
fenestration carefully replicates the essential features of the original windows, with only a few minor differences
(This was approved by the Pioneer Square Historic Review Board in 1977). Other essential architectural elements,
including those that give texture to the building, such as the inset squares in the spandrels between the second and
third level windows and the inset rectangles at the top of the piers, are intact.

Changes to the Building Above the Top Level Windows and at the Cornice Level

There have been some interesting changes in general appearance, as a result of the loss of the cornice and of the wall
area just above the top level windows. In fact, the building, designed by architect Elmer Fisher, originally resembled
the Korn Building, at 119 Yesler Way, more than it does today. The nine bays of the Main Street elevation and the
four bays of the First Avenue South elevation were originally topped by arches, which were inset with what appears
to be a screen of ornamental brick. The arches, in turn, were surmounted by semi-circular ornamental bands with
added pointed shapes, much like the ones on the first level of the Main Street elevation. Rectangular shaped
“screens” of brick also surmounted the larger bays flanking the central angled bay. The elevations were further
augmented by the brick and terra cotta comnice, also divided into bays, (or continuing the sense of the bays below),
and decorated with many inset square shapes. This parapet rose even higher above the angled fagade, in a manner
similar to drawings of Fisher’s Korn Building.

This portion of the cornice had already disappeared by the 1930s, before the earthquake of 1949, according to King
County Tax Assessor’s photos.

Cultural Data

This building was built on the site of the first New England Hotel Building, built by L.C. Harmon in 1873. The
present New England Hotel was designed by architect Elmer Fisher in 1889-1890 for Mrs. Margaret Harmon. It
replaced the previous New England Hotel, which had burned down as a result of the Fire of June 6, 1889. The
building and Mrs. Harmon are mentioned in the July 31, 1889 issue of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer: “Mrs. Margaret
Harmon has decided to erect a hotel on the old site of the New England Hotel on the northwest corner of Commercial
and Main Street instead of a business block as was her original intention. A Chicago Hotel man has secured a lease
of the hotel for the number of years at $ 1, 200 a month and will furnish it in splendid style.”

From 1895 to 1904, the Frye and Bruhn Meat Packing Company had offices in the building. The actual meat packing
headquarters were located well to the south of this building on 15 acres of tideflats at the present site of Seahawks
Stadium. The site of this building is also where in 1852 Dr. David Maynard, known more commonly as Doc
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Maynard, built the second cabin when the area was first being settled.

Despite changes, the building retains essential elements of its original design and is architecturally significant in the
context of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. It is also another significant work of the very
prolific Elmer Fisher. This building shows Elmer Fisher’s tendency to divide the facades of his buildings into a grid,
the influence of Victorian architecture. It also reflects the influence of the American version of the Romanesque
Revival, popularized through the work of H. H. Richardson and others. (For more complete information on Elmer
Fisher, please see the Statement of Significance).

Sources
Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia. Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003, 244-5.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 31 July, 1889 issue.

“New England Hotel, Part 1, Application for Evaluation of Significance,” (includes written statements by Ibsen
Nelsen, dated June 6, 1977 and April 7, 1978). Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington,
Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Address: 301 First Avenue S. |

Historic Names: Matilda Winehill Block Built: 1889-1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lot 8 Parcel: # 5247800190
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Bucheler and Hummel Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 42

Description

This Bread of Life Mission Building, formerly known as the Matilda Winehill Block, is a three story building, with
exterior brick walls and cast stone trim, as well as two projecting wood bays. One of the wood bays is set on an
angled elevation, located between Main Street and First Avenue South; the other is placed at the central bay of the
Main Street elevation. The angled projecting bay actually indicates the former name of the building as well as the
date, “1889.” The two street facing elevations are on Main Street and First Avenue South.
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These elevations are divided vertically by brick pilasters that alternately rise from the ground or from above the first
level to a horizontal brick band or to a parallel dentil band, near the top of the parapet. The building is also
distinguished by typical repeated bays, some with paired windows, other bays with only a single window. The
window openings have low segmental arches, with decorative partial surrounds, which emphasize the arched shape
and the top of the window opening, and include a characteristic ornamental keystone. In addition to the various
moldings and dentils toward the top of the parapet wall, other elements that reinforce horizontality are the cast stone
window sills. The two projecting wooden bays, particularly on the angled entrance, are particularly noticeable: They
have long, single double-hung windows at two levels, and two levels of ornamental pilasters with simple Doric or
Tuscan capitals.

Significance

This building sits on the former site of Doc Maynard’s original general store. The Matilda Winehill Block was built
as a hotel between 1889 and 1890 by Bucheler and Hummel. In terms of structure, it is typical of the buildings
erected after the Great Fire of 1889: it has brick exterior walls and heavy timber interior structure. It followed the
rules as set forth in Ordinance No. 1147, which was publicized in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer shortly after the Fire
and outlined the regulations for buildings erected in the former “burnt district.” The wooden bays, however, were
more typical of the Victorian appendages on buildings constructed before the fire. They were also considered a fire
hazard by some, and according to an article in the April 3, 1890 issue of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, became the
target of a lawsuit. Originally the main angled projecting bay, also had a ridged roof, which has been lost.

Aside from the loss of the top level of the main angled projecting bay and a portion of the parapet, probably as a
result of the 1949 Earthquake, the building is fairly intact, particularly at the second and third levels. The building,
with the gridlike composition of its facade and the ornamentation over the flattened segmental arches, as well as the
wooden bays, has a particularly Victorian flavor, that harkens back to pre-fire buildings in the area, but also reflects
the changes in design and building as a result of Ordinance No. 1147.

Sources
Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 3 April, 1890, p.8.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, 339-340, Note 30.

King County Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 305 First Avenue S.

Name: Diamond Parking Lot (Surface parking lot) Built: NA
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3 / Lot 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800185
Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 43
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Address: 311 First Avenue S.

Historic Name: Maud Building Built: 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lot 7 Parcel: # 5247800180

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Charles Saunders; Saunders & Houghton Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 44

Description

The Maud Building is a narrow three story building, clad mainly in red brick. Visual interest is created by the
contrast between light gray trim brick and small areas of gray stone with the predominant red brick. Lozenge shaped
openings, created in brick, also emphasize the top of the parapet wall. The ground floor level has a clerestoried
storefront, divided into three sections by very thin, cast-iron columns. A short overhang set over cast-iron and
ornamented brackets surmounts the columns. To the side and south of the storefront is a narrow door opening with a
semi-circular arch. This opening consists of a doorway, topped by an interim clerestory and then a semi-circular
lunette. The second and third floors bays consist each of two sets of paired windows, with flat arches for the second
floor openings and semi-circular openings at the third level. Typically, the second floor openings have single double-
hung windows, topped by a transom, created by a stone lintel. “Quoining” is created visually at the second and third
floors by the use of light colored bricks which contrast with the predominant red brick.

Cultural Data

The Maud Building was designed in 1889 and completed in 1890 by Saunders and Houghton. The Saunders and
Houghton partnership had been created in 1889, because Saunders had a backlog of work. While the building was
begun by Charles Saunders alone, this is supposed to be one of the first projects that the firm took on soon after the
partnership was formed. The building was built for William Maud and housed a hotel on its upper floors. It was built
right after the Great Fire of 1889, although in terms of style, it seems to have much in common with some of the
buildings of the subsequent wave of building during the Klondike Gold Rush. While it was built earlier than the
other buildings on the same block, the Smith, Squires and Crown Hotel Buildings, it also became part of an area of
the city, which thrived as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush.

Charles Saunders first came to Seattle in 1889, probably as a result of his association with William Elder Bailey,
whom he had met in California. William Bailey, the son of a leading Pennsylvania iron and steel manufacturer, was
involved in the rebuilding of Seattle right after the Great Fire and provided capital for many local ventures in real
estate, railroads and newspapers. Saunders had grown up in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Saunders practiced
architecture for a time, from 1886 to 1889, in Pasadena, California, along with his wife, Mary, before moving to
Seattle in June 1889. By September of 1889, he had formed a partnership with Edwin Houghton, whom he may have
also met in California. Edwin Houghton was born in Hampshire, England in 1856 and came from a family of
quantity surveyors and architects. He was apprenticed in the London architectural office of Thomas Houghton, his
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brother and in Chelsea. After working as a farmer outside of El Paso, Texas and running an independent architectural
practice in Pasadena, California, he moved with his family to Port Townsend, Washington in early 1889. Saunders
and Houghton also designed the Olympic Block, once located on the corner of Yesler and First Avenue South, which
collapsed famously and dramatically in 1972. The partnership dissolved in 1891. For more information on Saunders
and Houghton, and subsequent career moves, please see the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data section
for the Terry Denny Building (# 33).

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 313 1% Avenue South

Historic Names: Crown Hotel Built: 1900

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lot 6 Parcel: # 5247800170

Style: Commercial- Chicago School/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic Mixed
Architect: Charles Bebb? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 45

Description :

Rectangular in plan and mainly clad in gray brick, the Crown Hotel Building is a four story building with parapet.
There is also a basement level, which is not visible from the exterior. The only street facing elevation is on First
Avenue South. Its general fagade design - the width and height of the elevation, the proportion of its floor levels and
bays and the detailing - is similar to the neighboring Squire/ Squires Building to the south.

It too has a high clerestoried storefront level, surmounted by a projecting metal band, set at the sill level of the
second floor windows. Two tall, delicate cast iron pillars reinforce the central storefront entry at the ground level. At
the second and third levels, there is a row of three square windows, separated by ornamental pilasters, as in the case
of the Squires Building at 317 1* Avenue South. The fourth level consists of a horizontal row of four thinner,
rectangular window openings, with thin, raised bands of brick emphasizing the unity of the bay. Again, as in the case
of the Squires Building, a metal projecting band, with a rectangular cross-section, occurs at the sill level of the fourth
floor windows. There is a deep flat, metal panel, set at the parapet level, with a simple, long, rectangular, raised
shape outlined within it.

The Crown Hotel Building, although much simpler in detailing, and devoid of the characteristic geometric flourishes
seen in the neighboring building, appears as though it was designed in reference to the Squires Building and possibly
by the same hand.
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Cultural Data

This building forms a striking and pleasing ensemble with its neighbor, the Squires (now Squire) Building. Like the
Smith and Squires Buildings, it was part of a logical extension of the early “heart of Seattle,” as a result of the
Klondike Gold Rush. The original “heart of Seattle” was located closer to what is now Pioneer Place. 1ts upper
floors, like many buildings from this later wave of building, housed the Crown Hotel from 1912 to 1928, hence its
current name. Although simpler in detailing, it uses metal, sometimes with geometric designs, as trim, to great effect.
It appears to have been designed in reference to the neighboring Squires Building, possibly by architect Charles
Bebb, although records do not prove this (See the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data Section for # 46
below, for additional information on Charles Bebb).

Sources
Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript. 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Woodbridge, Sally and Roger Montgomery, A Guide to Architecture in Washington State. Seattle: University of
Washington Press, 1980, p. 114.

“The Smith Building, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 1984. Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Address: 317 First Avenue S. (part of 80 South Jackson St complex)
Historic Name: Squires Building Built: 1900

Plat: 80 South Jackson Building/ Lot: Unit 101 Parcel #: 2285430000
Style: Chicago School/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic Mixed

Architect: Charles Bebb Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 46

Description

Rectangular in plan, this four story building is mainly clad in light gray and buff colored brick, with a fair amount of
ornamental metal trim. There is a basement level, which is not visible from the exterior. The only street facing
elevation is on First Avenue South. It has a high clerestoried storefront level, surmounted by a projecting metal band,
ornamented by a repeated pattern of thin, curving and crossed bands, which define longer pointed ellipse shapes. The
second and third levels have one slightly recessed bay, with two horizontal sets of paired windows per floor. The
windows are separated by what appear to be ornamental metal pilasters. The top level has a projecting metal band,
rectangular in cross-section, surmounted by a loggia-like arrangement in stone: four windows separated by circular
stone columns, with simple Doric capitals, and Doric piers at the ends. A spiritedly ornamented band and cornice
top the stone lintel of the loggia: There are fairly large pointed ellipse shapes, interlaced with circular shapes, for




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - PIONEER SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 81 of 289

instance, on the deep metal band just above the top windows. The projecting loggia cornice, below the current
coping of the fagade, is ornamented with smaller irregular polygonal shapes, which are variations on squares and
rectangles, but also include curves.

Cultural Data

The Squires Building was designed by architect Charles Bebb in 1900. The building was commissioned by Samuel
E. Squires, who had become rich during the Klondike Gold Rush. Over the years, the “s” in “Squires” was dropped
and the building has more recently been known as the “Squire Building.” Not only is this building associated directly
with the area’s economic and physical growth as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush, but it is interesting in terms of
Charles Bebb’s career. It dates from Bebb’s early practice before the Bebb and Mendel partnership was formed in
1901. The building appears to be virtually intact. Its architectural interest derives in part from the original use of
metal panels and the detailing of the loggia at the top of the fagade, in addition to the general proportions of its

elements. It is an important contributing building.

Charles Bebb, later one of Seattle’s pre-eminent architects, was born in England in 1856 and unlike some of Seattle’s
earlier architects, had a well-rounded general and professional education. He attended a preparatory school in
Switzerland and then the University of Lausanne. He also studied engineering at the School of Mines in London.
During his early career, he was a railroad engineer in South Africa. After returning to England, he departed for the
United States. By 1888, he had been hired by Adler and Sullivan in Chicago, as the “chief superintendent architect”
on the building of the Auditorium Building. In 1890, he was sent by Adler and Sullivan to supervise the building of
the Seattle Opera House. The project was never built and later in 1890, Bebb, still in the employ of Adler and
Sullivan, returned to Chicago. He came back to Seattle in September 1893 and became a designer for the local Denny
Clay Company. His work there is credited with making the Denny Clay Company a leading producer of terra cotta on
the West Coast. It is also reflected in his approach to terra cotta ormament and cladding in several of his later
buildings.

By 1898, Bebb had established an independent architectural practice and by 1901, formed a partnership with Louis
Leonard Mendel, originally a native of Mayen, Germany. The firm of Bebb and Mendel produced several Seattle
architectural “gems,” including the Hoge Building in downtown Seattle, just outside Pioneer Square and the
Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, (401 1* Avenue South), not far from the Squire Building. It also
produced the Washington State Pavilion at the Seattle Alaska Yukon Exposition in 1908 (no longer standing). After
the Bebb and Mendel Partnership dissolved, Bebb formed a successful partnership with Carl Gould, producing more
well-known Seattle buildings, such as the Times Square Building and Suzzallo Library at the University of
Washington.

Over the years, the building has come to be known as the Squire Building, possibly as a result of a confusion of
Samuel E. Squires with the former Governor of Washington State, Watson Squire (who was one of the partners
responsible for the Squire Latimer Building, now Grand Central on the Park). In 1984, this building and the
neighboring Smith Building were rehabilitated as a one property, a condominium complex.
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Sources
Crowley, Walt. National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: Preservation Press/ John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1998, p. 40.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

“The Smith Building, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 1984. Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Woodbridge, Sally and Roger Montgomery. A Guide to Architecture in Washington State. Seattle and London:
University of Washington Press, 1980.

Address: 321 First Avenue S. (part of Jackson Street Condominium)
Historic Name : Smith Building Built: 1900

Plat: 80 South Jackson Building/ Lot: Unit 101 Parcel #: 2285438888
Style: Commercial/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic Mixed

Architect: Max Umbrecht Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 47

Description

Rectangular in plan and mainly clad in light gray brick with stone trim, this is a four story building with basement. It
has a parapet and cornice. The street elevations are on First Avenue South and Jackson Street. Above the storefront
level, the facades are symmetrically composed. Both these elevations are distinguished by a recurring tripartite two-
story bay, surmounted by an independent ornamental stone element, which includes a central arch containing a
stylized shell motif. The shell motif appears to be a reference to the nautically related businesses originally housed in
the building. From a distance, the tripartite vertical bay, combined with the ornamental element, suggests an ornate
Palladian window shape. At the fourth level, a trio of linked arched openings surmounts this typical ornamental bay.
Simpler bays, usually set near the corners of the elevations, consist of pairs of rectangular openings at the second and
third levels and without the arched ornamental motif. They are topped at the fourth level by pairs of semi-circular
arched openings.

The First Avenue fagade has a metal storefront level and is divided into three bays above: an ornamental bay with the
crowning shell motif, flanked by two simpler bays. In contrast, on Jackson Street, the trabeated openings at the
ground level, doorway and window openings, are more random. At the upper level, however, the elevation is
symmetrically composed and has five bays: the three central ones are of the more ornamental variety, and the
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flanking bays at each end of the elevation are of the simpler type. Corbelled brick ormament emphasizes the top of
the wall just below the lower projecting cornice. There is also an upper cornice a few feet above the lower one. A
modern penthouse level is visible from some angles on the Jackson Street elevation.

In 1984, the Smith Building and the neighboring Squire Building, designed by Charles Bebb, were certified and
rehabilitated as one property, a condominium, and given the official address: 80 South Jackson Street. (See entry for
317 First Avenue S., the Squires/ Squire Building).

Cultural Data

The Smith Building, designed for L. C. Smith, later responsible for the Smith Tower (1914), was completed in 1900
and designed by architect Max Umbrecht. The Smith Building and buildings in its vicinity, particularly those on the
same block, including the Squire (Squires) and the Crown Buildings, were part of the extension of the original “heart
of Seattle,” originally located closer to the public square, now Pioneer Place. The Klondike Gold Rush and the
railroads were in large part responsible for this growth. While hotels often took up the upper floors of several
buildings, and were sometimes used for “despicable purposes,” more warehouses and stores were also needed. This
building was constructed as a warehouse and like many Pioneer Square buildings, had a storefront at its ground level.
A photo of the period (ca.1900) shows a variety of signage indicating that the Smith Building housed companies that
manufactured sails and riggers as well as net and twine.

Max Umbrecht, became a well-known architect in Seattle, and has a sometimes eclectic, but identifiable style. He
practiced architecture in Syracuse, New York (The home of Gaggin and Gaggin, the architects of the later Smith
Tower) and in New York City, before coming to Seattle. He came to Seattle, in fact, on the request of the Smith
family in 1900; so this is one of Umbrecht’s earliest works in Seattle. In Seattle, he also designed the W. D. Hafins
House (now the Roman Catholic Archbishop’s Residence) on Seattle’s First Hill in partnership with A. Spaulding
and the original building of the New Richmond Laundry in the Cascade neighborhood (1917).

Sources
Crowley, Walt.National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: Preservation Press/ John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1998.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

The Smith Building, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 1984. Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Woodbridge, Sally and Roger Montgomery. A Guide to Architecture in Washington State. Seattle and London:
University of Washington Press, 1980, p. 114.
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Address: 401 1" Avenue S.

Historic Names : Schwabacher Hardware Company Building/ Pacific Marine Schwabacher Building Built: 1905
Plat: Merrill Place Building Parcel: # 5479608888

Style: Chicago School: Sullivanesque

Architect: Bebb and Mendel Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 48

Description

The five story Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, located on the southwest comer of First Avenue South
and S. Jackson Street, was constructed as a warehouse. It has exterior walls of brick and an interior structure of
| heavy timber post and beam, the typical structural system for buildings erected in the former “burnt district” after the
Fire of 1889. It is rectangular in plan, 75 feet by 125 feet, with a main fagade on First Avenue south and a major
entry on the northeast corner of the building. Over each doorway of the entry is a terra-cotta bas-relief with floral
motifs, reminiscent of the designs of Louis Sullivan. Ground floor storefront openings are recessed between piers,
clad in rusticated brick, which have simple bases and capitals in light colored granite. Bays established at the ground
level are picked up at the upper levels. On the First Avenue fagade, pairs of individual rectangular window openings
at each upper floor flank two recessed central bays, each with paired windows, which are wider than those in the side
bays. The Jackson Street elevation has six bays, with typical side bays, flanking four central recessed bays. The top
of the brick wall on both street elevations ends in a repeated corbel pattern, topped by a relatively modest cornice.

Cultural Data

The Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, also formerly known as Pacific Marine Schwabacher Building, was
designed as a warehouse building by the architectural firm of Bebb and Mendel from 1903 to 1905. Like most of the
buildings in Pioneer Square, its exterior walls are of brick, while the interior framing consists of wood columns and
beams. The simple recessed rectangular bays, set over of the finely detailed base of the building and the
Sullivanesque ornament over the main entry, give this building both strength and elegance. It is an example of a new
architectural sophistication, brought to the design of buildings in Seattle in the early 1900s, thanks to architects, who
were educated and apprenticed as engineers and/or architects, and had a more worldly background than their
predecessors. It also clearly shows the influence of the Chicago School of Architecture and in particular of Louis
Sullivan.

The building was built for the Schwabacher Hardware Company, another venture of the Schwabachers, who were a
leading supplier of dry goods during the Klondike Gold Rush (The Canadian government required that Americans
coming to the Klondike have a year’s worth of supplies). The Schwabacher Brothers had been important in this part
of Seattle since 1869 and had previously built the Schwabacher Building (First Avenue South and Yesler Way) and
the State Building (Occidental Avenue South and Main Street), both of which are extant. This building, like its
neighbors, represents the extension of the earlier part of the city, originally built closer to Pioneer Place right after
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the Fire of 1889. Bebb and Mendel’s building is yet another product of that economic growth, spurred by the
Klondike Gold Rush and the railroads.

The building is also representative of the work of the firm of Bebb and Mendel. Charles Bebb, later one of Seattle’s
pre-eminent architects, was born in England in 1856. Unlike some of Seattle’s earlier architects, he had a well-
rounded general and professional education: He attended a preparatory school in Switzerland and the University of
Lausanne and then studied engineering at the School of Mines in London. By 1888, he had been hired by Adler and
Sullivan in Chicago, as the “chief superintendent architect” on the building of the Auditorium Building. In 1890, he
was sent by Adler and Sullivan to supervise the building of the Seattle Opera House. The project was never built and
later in 1890, Bebb, still in the employ of Adler and Sullivan, returned to Chicago. He came back to Seattle in
September 1893 and became a designer for the local Denny Clay Company. His work there is credited with making
the Denny Clay Company a leading producer of terra cotta on the West Coast. It is also reflected in his approach to
terra cotta ornament and cladding in several of buildings and particularly in the case of this building.

By 1898, Bebb had established an independent architectural practice and by 1901, formed a partnership with
Louis Leonard Mendel, originally a native of Mayen, Germany. The firm of Bebb and Mendel produced several
notable buildings in Seattle, including the Hoge Building in downtown Seattle, just outside the district and the
Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, (401 1* Avenue South), not far from the Squires Building. After the
Bebb and Mendel Partnership dissolved, Bebb formed a successful partnership with Carl Gould, producing more
well-known Seattle buildings, such as the Times Square Building and Suzzallo Library at the University of
Washington.

Sources
R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 411 1* Avenue S.

Historic Name : Seller Building Built: 1906

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4 Parcel #: 5247800200
Style: Commercial -Chicago School

Architect: A, Warren Gould Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 49
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Description

This is a seven story building, whose only street facing elevation in on First Avenue South. It is rectangular — almost
square - in plan, 107 feet by 119 feet. It is located between the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building to the
north and the Hambach Building to the south. The First Avenue South facade is divided into six long vertical bays. It
presents a stone clad ground floor level, topped by six floors of recessed window bays, constructed with steel
columns and spandrels clad in brick. Windows take up the width of the bay and are emphasized by cast-stone sills.
The long vertical columns clad in brick have cast- stone bases and at the top level, unadorned capitals. The fagade is
surmounted by a projecting classical cornice in metal.

The Seller Building is an interesting mix of construction types: The front wall was constructed of steel spandrels and
columns, clad in brick. The original rear wall, now replaced by the new glazed wall of the 1985 rehabilitation and the
south party wall were of concrete. The interior columns of the first two floors are of steel and covered with concrete.
These parts of the structure reflect A. Warren Gould’s experience with steel frame construction and a sophisticated
knowledge of structural engineering, given the period; although the interior structure also includes heavy timber
posts at the upper levels and wooden beams and flooring, the traditional structural system used in buildings erected
in the former “burnt district.”

The rear elevation of the building is a modern glazed addition that was added along what began as an alley, when this
building, along with the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, the Schwabacher Hardware Annex Building and
the Hambach Building were rehabilitated as part of Merrill Place complex in 1985. A related water feature was also
added in the former alleyway and is located to the west of the building.

Cultural Data
Originally called the Seller Building, and for a time named after its tenant, the West Coast Wholesale Drug

Company, the building was designed by A. Warren Gould in 1906. Its strong ground floor base level, trabeated
openings, recessed vertical bays and strong cornice show the influence of the Chicago School of Architecture and of
its neighbor, the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building. In fact, it was completed only a few years after that
building. This building and those in its vicinity, (from Washington to King Streets), were part of the extension of the
“heart of Seattle,” originally located closer to Pioneer Place. The Alaska Gold Rush and the railroads are credited for
this growth.

This is an early Seattle work by A. Warren Gould, just as the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building by Bebb
and Mendel was completed early in their architectural careers in Seattle. The Seller Building is an example of a
simple and elegant design, influenced by the Chicago School, although A. W. Gould also often used Neoclassical and
Beaux Arts flourishes in his work. It also reflects A. Warren Gould’s experience with steel and steel frame
construction and other construction materials and methods.

A. Warren Gould was born in Nova Scotia in 1872. There is evidence that he received some education at the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He began his career in Boston as a contractor. In the late 1890s, he practiced
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architecture in Boston, producing, for instance, the Neoclassical Phillips Brooks School. He arrived in Seattle in
1903 and clearly had a good knowledge of the latest construction techniques. An early project in Seattle was the steel
framed Standard Furniture Company Building, one of Seattle’s earliest skyscrapers, completed in 1906 (later
destroyed by implosion in the 1970s). A. W. Gould’s architectural career in Seattle was thriving but varied. It
included an almost three-year partnership with Edward Frere Champney, (beginning in 1909), civic activism and
support of the Bogue Plan, expulsion from the Washington State AIA over a purported breach of ethics in securing
the King County Courthouse Commission, the design of the lower floors of the King County Courthouse and of the
terra-cotta-clad Arctic Building. He produced many other notable Seattle buildings.

Sources
R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

Address: 419 1" Avenue S.

Historic Name : Hambach Building Built: 1913

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4 Parcel: # 5247800200
Style: Commercial -Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 50

Description

The Hambach Building, which dates from 1913, is rectangular in plan, 78 feet by 119 feet, with the narrower and
main elevation on First Avenue South. The other street elevation faces south on King Street. The building is seven
stories in height with a parapet and comnice. Its structure is somewhat advanced for its time. The structure is entirely
of reinforced concrete and consists of two-way concrete slab with coffered bays and concrete columns. The skin of
the Hambach building is a veneer of light colored brick on First Avenue South and on King Street and clay block
covered with stucco on the rear elevation.

The First Avenue South fagade is divided into four bays and the King Street elevation into six bays. The design of
the exterior facades is based on the notion of a well-defined base, shaft and capital, as seen in many buildings of the
Chicago School. The “base” consists of a ground floor with clerestory, topped by a belt-course, with a second level
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topped again by a belt-course. This gives the Hambach building a really generous base as well as a sense of solidity.
The “shaft” consists of the next four floors, again topped by a belt-course. The “capital” consists of trios of single
double hung windows topped by a classical cornice. Below the top level, bays consist of three linked double-hung
windows at each level. From the second level to the fifth level, the bays, which are recessed, are the same, although
they are narrower on the First Avenue South elevation. The floors of the Hambach building were designed to align
with those of the adjacent Seller Building. A narrow, arched entrance, ornamented in terra cotta, occurs at the fourth
bay, (counting from King Street). It contrasts somewhat with the simple, clean lines of the rest of the building.

The building was restored as part of the R. D. Merrill Complex, which includes the Seller and the Schwabacher
Hardware Company buildings, in 1985.

Cultural Data

The Hambach Building, built in 1913, forms part of an interesting ensemble of buildings, aligned along First Avenue
South, from Jackson Street to King Street, all designed as warehouse buildings. The Schwabacher Hardware
Company Building by the architectural firm of Bebb and Mendel of 1903-05 on the comer of Jackson and First
Avenue and the Seller Building of 1906 by A. Warren Gould are the two others. So far, the architect of the Hambach
Building is a mystery. All the buildings are clearly influenced by the Chicago School and as a result, are stylistically
tied together. The Hambach was obviously designed to fit in with the other two, but, in fact, its exterior has a more
clearly defined base, middle and top, with repeated recessed vertical bays.

Previous studies, by Victor Steinbrueck and Elizabeth Brians, for instance, have commended the building for fitting
in with the others, but have described it as “undistinguished;” but particularly as a utilitarian warehouse building, its
overall design seems to be greater than the sum of its parts. With a simple, repeated bay, a well defined base and
seemingly lighter top level, it is striking in its own right. It is also structurally more advanced than the other two
buildings. The Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, remarkable because of its exterior design and
Sullivanesque ornament, has the most traditional structure, while the Seller Building had absorbed more cutting edge
aspects of construction (for its time), but was not quite up to the level of the Hambach Building.

The Hambach Building was designed for Albert Hambach, a successful wholesale dealer in steam and plumbing
supplies. He had owned property or commissioned buildings in the district since 1898 and is listed at an address on
Western Avenue local directories in 1898. In 1905, a warehouse building designed by Josenhans and Allan at 212
Second Avenue/313 Second Avenue Extension, between 2™ Avenue and 2" Avenue Extension was also built for
Hambach. Hambach also commissioned the 1907 Westland Building (one of its former names was the “Hambaca
Building™) across the street at 100 S. King Street.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.
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R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Steinbrueck, Victor. “Pioneer Square Historic District — Seattle Register of Historic Places.” manuscript (n.d.,
probably ca. 1969-70). Victor Steinbrueck Papers, Manuscripts and Special Collections, University of Washington,
Seattle.

Address: 83 S. King St

Historic Name : Seattle Hardware Company Building Built: 1904

Plat: Seattle Tide Lds BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 1-3 Parcel #: 7666206895
Style: Commercial -Chicago School

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 51

Description

Virtually rectangular in plan, with a west elevation angled toward Alaskan Way, this eight story building has, on its
east and north facades, a double-height storefront level, mainly clad in sandstone, topped by six floors in light brown
brick. It ends in a parapet emphasized by a ornamental corbel band and stone coping. Delineating the bays and
separate storefronts are sandstone piers, which are rectangular in plan with rounded edges. In a few places, the recent
storefront renovation and structural strengthening of the building included the introduction of a steel lintel and
smaller piers were replaced with matching piers in painted concrete.

The storefront level is surmounted by a sandstone corice/ belt-course, which includes a dentil band. Above this, six
stories consist of similar recessed bays, each a vertical row with five single trabeated openings topped by an arched
one. The east elevation on First Avenue South has nine bays, while the King Street elevation is very long: nineteen
bays. The west elevation is similar to the east elevation. The south elevation is common bond masonry with
segmental arch window openings.

A distinctive element of the building is the corner entry at First Avenue South and King Street, with a large round
stone column set at the actual “corner.” Affixed to the column is a metal plaque that says : “Seattle Hardware
Company.” The actual door hardware and design behind this column are modern.

The building retains the most important features and materials from its original design, while doors and hardware
and storefronts have been replaced by sleekly detailed modern replacements. The building also has a later annex,
which dates from 1923. The building exterior was damaged by the Nisqually Earthquake of 2001 and has been
restored since then.
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Cultural Data

This building was built in 1904 as a combination warehouse and office by architect Albert Wickersham, responsible
for several interesting buildings in the Pioneer Square area, including the Maynard Building which bears some
resemblance. The Seattle Hardware Company Building is the first monumentally scaled office-warehouse to be
constructed in the district during the period of economic and industrial growth in the 1900s. Along with the buildings
in its near vicinity, it formed an extension of the original heart of the district. Typical of all of these buildings, is the
clear base, shaft and capital arrangement, following the model for warehouse/ office buildings, established by the
Chicago School. The component bays ending in arched openings and with stone spandrels are very typical of many
of the buildings of the same period and significance.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889 as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was the
supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished thanks to the Denny
Regrade. He had established an independent practice by 1893. Despite the work on the Maynard Building for Dexter
Horton, he appears to have received few commissions outside of the Seattle Hardware Company Building and the
Maynard Building that allowed him to showcase his full design capabilities. He was also the architect of the former
Yesler Hotel, now the Pioneer Square Hotel, completed in 1914.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills, “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December,
1987 and approved 6 May, 1988.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Address: 501 1* Ave S.

Historic Names: Seattle Hardware Company Warehouse Annex Built: 1923
Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 3 Parcel #: 7666206830
Style: Commercial

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: -

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 52

Description

This is an annex to the main Seattle Hardware Company Building. It is two stories in height, rectangular in plan and
continues the belt course as well as the storefront of the adjacent building. Major piers and thinner piers are
rectangular in plan with rounded edges, as in the main building. The regular storefront clerestory is multi-pane glass.
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A large central expanse of the fagade has a veneer of thin black plexiglass, added more recently. Within this bay, the
entry is a wide rectangle with two small windows placed symmetrically.

Cultural Data

This was designed in 1923 as a warehouse-office by Albert Wickersham and as an addition to the original eight story
Seattle Hardware Company Building, also designed by Wickersham in 1904. It was originally planned to rise to the
same height as the original building. It mimics many of the elements of the original building, particularly the stone
piers which are rectangular in plan with rounded edges. Based on historical photos, it originally consisted of five
bays, set between piers, with large two over two windows.

Sources
Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

City of Seattle, Department of Planning and Development, Microfiche Library.

Address: 535 1*' Ave South

Historic Name: NA Built: 1969

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 4-7 Parcel #: 7666206897
Style: None

Architect: Unknown Builder: -

Classification: Non- Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 53

Description
This is a one story concrete parking structure. It has no windows or openings of any sort on First Avenue South and

no real distinguishing architectural characteristics. There is an entrance on southwest corner of the building, which
is not visible from First Avenue. The rest of the lot is occupied by a surface parking to the south.

Cultural Data
The concrete structure dates from 1969, according to the King County Tax Assessor Report. This property is non-

historic, non contributing
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Address: 547 1*' Ave South

Historic Names: West Transfer Company Building/ Duncan and Sons Building Built: 1919
Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 7-8 Parcel #: 7666206930

Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 54

Description

This is a one-story building with a trapezoidal plan and exterior brick walls. Along First Avenue South, it has a two-
part fagade, divided into five unequal bays. The three northernmost bays exhibit original storefronts, with high
transom lights. The top of the First Avenue fagade features a stepped parapet, with a central, almost free standing
curved section, which rises well above the building’s flat roof. The rear elevation is painted brick and includes
altered steel sash window and miscellaneous delivery doors.

Cultural Data

The building was constructed on the site of previous wood frame commercial buildings. It dates from 1919, and post-
dates the initial period, 1900 to 1910, when the district experienced really explosive growth. By 1919, there was
increased industrialization of the neighborhood, when the United States was involved in World War 1. In the
meantime, the commercial center of Seattle was moving north from its original center. As the West Transfer
Company Building, the building appears to have operated as a truck transfer station and was used to store and move
goods from the railroads along the former Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. Similar enterprises operated in the
area during the same period. At a much later time, this building was also associated with Duncan & Sons, a saddlery

and harness shop, which moved here from its original digs on Second Avenue and Jackson Street at 315 2™ Ave
South in 1977.

Sources
Krafft, Katheryn Hills, “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December,
1987 and approved 6 May, 1988.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

City of Seattle, Department of Development and Planning (formerly DCLU), Microfilm records.
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Address: 551 1 Ave S.

Historic Names: Triangle Bar/ Flatiron Building Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 8 Parcel #: 7666206935

Style: Commercial/ Tudor Revival

Architect: C. A. Breitung Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing (Individual listing - National Register) Site ID #: 55

Description

The Triangle Hotel is trapezoidal, almost trianguiar in plan, and three stories in height. It was sited on a triangular
lot, whose shape was dictated by the intersection of First Avenue South and the railroad tracks which led to Seattle’s
wharves. It has a narrow, south elevation of one bay, which is only six feet in length, a major 48 foot elevation facing
east along First Avenue South, a less complete 56 foot west elevation along Railroad Avenue and a rear, north
elevation of 28 feet. The basement is concrete and below grade, the east basement wall extends an additional six feet
under the sidewalk. In general, the building stands out because of its shape and eclectic detailing, which includes
rusticated brickwork with a Flemish bond pattern and pointed arches, inspired perhaps by late Medieval architecture
(or possibly by Venetian or Moorish architecture).

The ground story structure is of cast concrete and has a brick and pebble-dashed stucco veneer exterior. On the First
Avenue South fagade, the ground floor exterior has three large openings, topped by steel spandrel beams and then by
three flat pointed arches. The central bay is slightly narrower than the other two. Above the ground level, a projecting
string course is decorated with a band of lozenges in copper-green ceramic tile. The second and third level walls are
faced with dark red brick and darker clinker header bricks set in a Flemish bond pattern. The brickwork is also
rusticated. Set within the brick walls are three projecting wood frame window bays with decorative brackets and
zinc-coated sheet metal veneer. The wood bays are completed by a cornice with a deep cavetto molding pierced by
pointed arches, which is then topped by a projecting fillet molding. The brick wall in the background continues up
several feet and is surmounted by a corbelled parapet. The topmost course is a cast concrete beam, originally tinted to
match the brick and ornamented with a raised floral design. The rich surface ornamentation, particularly the brick
detailing, string course and cornice, also also occur on the south and east elevations.

The ground level of the narrow, south elevation has a rectangular glazed opening framed by cast-iron columns with
cushion capitals, which support the steel spandrel beam. Above the beam is a narrow, round arched opening. The top
levels, clad in rusticated brick in the Flemish bond pattern, also have narrow arched window openings.

The longer elevation along Railroad Avenue only has one typical, wide arched opening at the ground level, while
the rest of the wall is concrete, (and apparently partially filled in), with a small doorway and one small opening to the
north. At the upper levels are two wood frame bays, similar to those on the main fagade. In other respects, the
detailing of the upper levels reflects the detailing of the First Avenue South fagade.
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Cultural Data

The Triangle Hotel, also known as the Flatiron Building, was designed by architect C. A. Breitung for real estate
figure and financier, Victor Hugo Smith. It is architecturally distinctive because of its rich detailing and its shape,
dictated by its location at the intersection between First Avenue South and the railroad tracks which led to Seattle’s
wharves. The site had previously been occupied by the Stetson and Post Sawmill and Planing Mill Company.

Construction on the Triangle Hotel was begun in 1909 and completed in 1910. The hotel was built in the northern
portion of First Avenue South, south of King Street. In the early 1900s, this part of First Avenue South was still a
planked street and the adjacent tidelands were being filled. The area was developed to allow more direct access from
railroad cars to the wharves along the waterfront, facilitating both transportation and industrial growth. This
development was typical of the explosive growth of the original commercial center of Seattle, (more or less
represented by the original Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District created in 1970), from the period
1900 to 1910. Heavily involved in real estate development, Victor Hugo Smith acquired the site around 1908 or
1909. In 1909, Pacific Builder and Engineer announced Victor Hugo Smith’s intention to erect a building on the site
for $ 15,000. The building was completed by December of 1910 for $22,000.

Victor Hugo Smith (1854 or 1860 -1927) was a successful Seattle financier and real estate investor. President of the
Peninsular Land and Building Company, when the Triangle Hotel was built, Smith played an important role in
Seattle’s real estate boom from 1889 to the height of the tidelands development in 1907. A native of lowa, he arrived
in Seattle in 1883 and began his career at the Puget Sound National Bank, a position he held until 1887. From 1887
to 1889, he was cashier for the Bank of Snohomish in Snohomish County (Washington State). He returned to Seattle
in 1889, launching a career in real estate and loans. By 1892, he had formed the brokerage house of V. H. Smith and
Company and was also an unsuccessful candidate for City Treasurer. He secured financial backing for the
electrification of the Second Avenue street car line and was one of the incorporators of the Seattle Electric Railway.

Carl Alfred Breitung, the architect of the Triangle Hotel, is often mentioned in association with the short-lived, but
productive partnership with Theobald Buchinger, which lasted from 1905 to 1907. The Seattle firm produced designs
for the Academy of the Holy Names (1906-07) and the House of the Good Shepherd (1906-07), both well-known
Seattle landmarks. In general, Breitung’s work reflected knowledge of Classical architecture, as well as exposure to
Central and Northern European examples. The Triangle Hotel, a Seattle landmark as well a National Register
landmark, is a famous work by Breitung, as is the Jackson Building (the former Capital Brewing and Malting
Company) at 322 1*' Ave S., also in the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. Another well-known
building is the Odd Fellows Temple of 1908-10 in Seattle’s Capitol Hill neighborhood. All of these projects reflect
Breitung’s early life and education in Europe, but also the influence of his practice in various parts of the United
States.

Breitung was born near Munich in 1868 and according to most accounts, studied architecture in both Munich and
Rome. He began his career in the United States in the late 1880s, first on the East Coast and then in Kansas City,
Missouri. His architectural career in Seattle began in 1900 and one of his earliest projects was the Jackson Building.
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After the dissolution of the Breitung & Buchinger Partnership in 1907, Breitung worked independently in Seattle
until the early 1920s, when he appears to have relocated to San Antonio, Texas. Nothing seems to be known of his
life or career after that time.

The Triangle Hotel’s history, however, is documented at least into the late 1920s. The hotel opened at the end of
1910 and at that time, had a saloon and eight rooms. At some point, like many hotels in the district, it operated as a
brothel, while the ground story continued as a neighborhood tavern until 1929. In 1929, the Western Union
Telegraph Company established its “C” branch in the space. The “C” branch was the first Western Union branch
office in Seattle and communicated with the main office at Second and Cherry Street by pneumatic tubing. It is also
thought to be one of the telegraph company’s early urban branch offices.

Sources
“A Lot of Worthy Men: Brief Biographies of Republican Candidates,” Seattle Press-Times (7 March, 1892), Page 1.
Note on Victor Hugo Smith, candidate for City Treasurer.

City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program, Files.

Greissinger, Walter. Historic Building Data Sheet prepared for the City of Seattle Landmarks Preservation Board. 8
July 1974,

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Pacific Builder and Engineer. Tidelands and Business Realty Special Supplement (1904).

Potter, Elizabeth Walton.“Triangle Hotel and Bar — Flatiron Building, National Register of Historic Places Inventory
— Nomination.” 19 December 1975.

“Seattle’s Old Triangle Building,” Seattle Times Magazine, 17 July 1966, p 7 (Article on cover illustration by
William Oakes).

Victor H. Smith, Obituary, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 4 March 1927.
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Address: 706 1" Avenue Historic Name : NA Built: 1958

Plat: Borens & Dennys Add/ Block 5/ Lots 4 & 5 Parcel: # 0939000175
Style: Modern/ Utilitarian Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 56

Description

This is a two story concrete parking garage, with nine bays on First Avenue and five bays on Columbia Street. It is
essentially an open parking garage structure, although regularly spaced, vertical metal elements have been added on
the exterior, as barriers in front of the openings.

Cultural Data
This two story parking structure is non-historic, non contributing.

Sources
King County Assessor Property Characteristics Report. Database Available at:

http://wwwS5.metrokc.gov/ddes/gis/parcel/

Address: 110 Cherry Street / 700 1% Ave. S.

Historic Name : Scheuerman Block Built: 1890 & 1903

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Block 5/ Lot 8 Parcel #: 0939000235
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 57

Description

The building at 110 Cherry Street/ 700 1% Avenue is a three story building, mainly clad in brick. It is located on the
northeast corner of First Avenue and Cherry Street. It is rectangular in plan, with a flat roof and parapet. Its south
elevation faces Cherry Street and its west elevation First Avenue. The building has a cast-iron storefront beginning at
the two western bays of the Cherry Street elevation and continuing along the First Avenue elevation. On both
elevations, the second floor has segmental arched openings, topped by rusticated sandstone trim, while the third floor
has arched openings with rusticated stone trim following the arch of each opening. The spandrels directly above the
third floor arches are filled with cast-stone.

The south elevation along Cherry Street is divided into nine bays. The ninth bay, (from First Avenue and closest to
Second Avenue), has a distinctive arched entry with stone trim over the arch and header bricks organized in a
checkerboard-like pattern of square shapes. These square shapes are alternately inset, which creates a special pattern
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as well as texture, emphasizing the entry. The First Avenue fagade is divided into five bays. The cast-iron storefront,
which runs the length of the First Avenue elevation, includes pilasters ornamented with rosettes and acanthus shapes.
A metal fire escape with gracefully curving rails is attached along the first two northern bays of this elevation.

Cultural Data

King County Tax Assessor’s Records give this building a date of 1903, but photos that are part of the previous
Pioneer Square Historic Inventory give a date of 1890. The combination of differing types of arches and cast-iron
storefronts suggest that the building might well be from the earlier date, with perhaps modifications made in the early
1900s. It is typical of buildings erected in Pioneer Square right after the Fire of 1889. Other records make clear that
this is a building designed by architect Elmer Fisher, designed in 1889 and completed in 1890 and associated over
the years with the same name, spelt alternatively: “Sherman,” “Scheuerman,” and “Scheurman.”

An item in an article entitled “The Spirit of the Time — New Buildings Additional to Those Already Announced” in
the Seattle Post-Intelligencer of June 19, 1889, describes a three story building, “of brick, iron, stone and terra cotta,”
about to be constructed on the “northeast corner of Front and Cherry Streets.”( Front Street became First Avenue). It
was commissioned by “Mr. Chris Sherman,” and the architect who was drawing up the plans was Elmer Fisher. The
lower floor was to be divided into two stores. The corner store was to be occupied by Hirchberg and Co. clothiers
and the “other store” by “Hasbrouck, the druggist.” The upper floors were to be designed for office space. The
description fits very closely with the present building and a photo of the period shows the Hirchberg sign attached to
the building. In addition, the Cherry Street entrance has tilework which includes the name “Scheuerman,” suggesting
that the early newspaper article spelled the owner’s name incorrectly; therefore, it is almost certain that an initial
construction date of 1889-1890 is correct and that the architect was Elmer Fisher.

The building is identified as the “Scheuerman Block™ on a Baist’s Map from 1905 and clearly some version of that
name has been attached to the building from 1890 to at least the 1960s. The building was owned by the “Scheurman
Investment Company” in 1928, according to King County Tax Assessor’s Records. According to Henry Broderick,
(as quoted in a 1969 Seattle Times article), during the early 1900s, the “Scheurman Block,” as it was called in the
late 1960s, was “the major commercial building in Seattle” and housed the original office of Washington Mutual
Savings Bank, now a leading banking establishment in Washington State, before Seattle’s downtown center moved
north (from the present Pioneer Square Historic District). Around 1969, the building underwent a major restoration.
Except for the loss of the parapet and some possible changes to the spandrels above the third floor arches, the
building retains its original exterior architectural features.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1905, 1908, 1912
and 1928.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.
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“The Spirit of the Time — New Buildings Additional to Those Already Announced,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 19
June 1889,p 4 (7)

“Building Shows Its Age Proudly,” The Seattle Times, 23 March 1969, C7

110 Cherry Group, “110 Cherry Street, Seattle, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 12-1-78.

“Pioneer Square Preservation District Inventory, Department of Community Development,” June 1982: Item 4-5-8
(Note: “ Photographs show date of construction 1890.”)

Address: 107 Cherry Street Historic Name : Lowman Building Built: 1906

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Block 4/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 0939000120

Style: Commercial/ French Chateauesque/ French-French Renaissance/ Other-Eclectic
Architect: Heide and DeNeuf Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 58

Description

The Lowman Building is a ten story building. It is the only building with marked Chateauesque tendencies in the
Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District, although it bears the influence of the Romanesque Revival and
of French Renaissance eclectic styles. It is located on a 51°-4” by 111’ lot, at the corner of First Avenue and Cherry
Street. On First Avenue, it faces Pioneer Place. It has varied roof shapes, including a gabled roof type and hipped
dormers, which occur on the primary north and west facades. Its exterior walls are made of two wythes of common
red brick. On the south and east elevations, which do not face the street, the common brick is mainly exposed. On the
main elevations, facing west on First Avenue and north on Cherry Street, the walls have a veneer of “steam-pressed”
light gray colored brick, with buff terra cotta coping and ornament of a lighter gray color terra cotta. The light gray
brick veneer also wraps the corners of the south and east elevations.

In terms of structure, according to historic King County Tax Assessor’s records, the building has a concrete cable-
reinforced foundation, floors slabs and roof and a riveted “steel frame skeleton.” There is also a 13’ by 30°-4” light-
well located at the middle of the south elevation above the first floor, so that the mass of the building is partly cut
away, but this is not visible from the street. The building is currently (2004) undergoing a “‘substantial renovation,”
which will may affect the interiors, as well as the elevation not visible from the street.

The First Avenue elevation consists of two major bays. Its composition has many of the same elements as the Cherry
Street elevation, which has four major bays. Both elevations have an arrangement, based on a “base,” “shaft” or
“middle” and “capital” or “top” arrangement. The “base” of the building consists of the first floor, mezzanine and
second floor levels, where each bay is marked by tall pillars, with ornamented capitals. A continuous terra cotta
cornice separates the base from the middle. The shaft consists of tall recessed vertical groupings of six single
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window openings, each grouping ending at the sixth level with an arched opening. The arch shape is emphasized by
several rows of corbel brick, which project slightly. Thin double-belt courses aligned with the springline of the
arches provide a continuous horizontal tie between the arches. In general, windows are separated by recessed
spandrels in the same light brick.

The northern bay of the First Avenue elevation consists of four tall vertical groupings. This portion of the elevation
projects out slightly from the southern major bay consisting of three of these vertical elements. The “shaft” or
“middle” is surmounted by a second terra cotta belt-course, which includes a band of repeated curved bracket shapes
and a dentil band. At the “capital” or “top” of the First Avenue elevation, the northern bay consists of a two story
gable end, with a horizontal row of four single windows at its first level and a second level of three windows with a
common sill. At the third level of the gable end is a circular opening surrounded by stylized swirls in terra cotta. On
each of the angled edges of the gable end is a stepped decorative band in lighter colored terra cotta. The outer end of
the gable is capped by a pinnacle with crockets and a finial. The “top” of the second recessed bay to the south, has a
lower level with a horizontal row of three single windows, topped by a belt-course, with an egg-and-dart band. The
very top level here has a prominent hipped dormer with two single windows.

The Cherry Street facade uses a similar configuration of bays, roof elements and belt courses to create a longer
fagade. The western major bay, which projects out slightly from the rest of the fagade above the first belt-course, is
topped by a gable end and has the same design as the north bay of the First Avenue fagade. The rest of the fagade
consists, from east to west, of twelve of the typical tall vertical groupings of windows. These are not really
differentiated into separate major bays, until the top level, where three hipped roof dormers each correspond to four
of the vertical groups. Each dormer is wider than the dormer on the west fagcade and has a horizontal row of three
rectangular windows. Original roofing was of slate. In 2001, it was replaced by synthetic slate roof tiles.

At the ground level of the Cherry Street fagade, the entrance to the upper floors occurs at the second bay from the
east. Light gray granite was used for exterior steps and for cheek-blocks. The entrance is surmounted by a bas-relief
in granite with the words “LOWMAN BUILDING.”

Cultural Data

The Lowman Building was designed by the architectural partnership of Heide and DeNeuf for James Lowman.
According to the King County Assessor’s records, it was completed in 1906, although some records suggest an
earlier completion of 1903, or perhaps even earlier. Architecturally, it is one of the most stately buildings in the
district. It has retained the most important elements of its original design, which is extremely rich. In particular, its
upper floors are intact, except for the replacement of metal window frames, but by similar ones. Its storefronts have
had few major changes. It has an imposing presence on Pioneer Place, and along with the neighboring Lowman and
Hanford Building, the Howard Building and the Pioneer Building, forms the eastern edge of one the area’s original
public square.

The partnership of Heide and DeNeuf was formed by Augustus Heide and Emil DeNeuf in 1901 and lasted until
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1906. Augustus Heide came from from Alton, Illinois. He was an architectural apprentice in Chicago and worked in
Los Angeles from 1886 to 1889. In 1889, he moved to Tacoma, where he established a practice that lasted until
1892. He then moved to Everett, Washington, where he became the architect for the Everett Improvement Company
and designed many notable buildings. Heide also designed the 1914 Washington State buildings at the San Francisco
Pan Pacific Exposition and at the San Diego Exposition.

Emil DeNeuf began his career as a draftsman in Elmer Fisher’s office, after his arrival in Seattle in 1889. While
working for Fisher, he was also responsible for the Metropole Hotel and the First Avenue fagade of the fire-damaged
Schwabacher Building, both in the Pioneer Square district. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He
was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the upper floors of Mutual Life Building, originally the “Yesler Building,”
which Fisher had begun. DeNeuf was also was the designer of the Lowman and Hanford Building. Subsequently,
DeNeuf practiced architecture in Guatemala from 1894 to 1900 and was Mayor of West Seattle from 1900 to 1905.
Sometime around 1906, DeNeuf moved to San Francisco, where he practiced architecture and designed several
notable Mission Style Revival public buildings. He died in 1915.

The building is also significant because of its association with James Lowman and tangentially with Henry Yesler.
James Lowman was a civic and business leader in early Seattle, with important family ties to one of Seattle’s earliest
pioneer settlers. Born in Leitersburg, Maryland in 1856, he came to Seattle in 1877 at the invitation of Henry Yesler,
who was his uncle. Henry Yesler was one of Seattle’s founding settlers, and an influential early Seattle entrepreneur
and owner of prime real estate in the area around the public square, (now Pioneer Place), and north of Mill Street,
currently known as Yesler Way. He was famous for building Seattle’s first sawmill in 1853. He also commissioned
several well-known buildings in Pioneer Square and employed first Elmer Fisher and then Emil DeNeuf as architects.

James Lowman is perhaps chiefly associated with the Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company, which
he started with Clarence Hanford in 1885. The Great Fire of 1889 destroyed all buildings (save perhaps one), in the
“burnt district,” as Pioneer Square was known after the fire. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing
Company returned to the former “burnt district,” after the fire. The firm advertised itself as booksellers, stationers,
printers and binders and blank bookmakers; but also showed great versatility and sold typewriters, sewing machines,
pianos and organs

James Lowman had many other business and personal interests. In 1886, he became a trustee of Yesler’s estate,
which included businesses all over Washington State. As a result, Lowman was involved in the completion of the
Pioneer Building and of the Mutual Life Building (then called the Yesler Building), both commissioned by Henry
Yesler before his death in 1892. He also ran the thriving Yesler Coal, Wood and Lumber Company and was the
secretary of the Union Trunk Line (the James Street Railway System). He was a trustee and stockholder in the
Washington National Bank, the Guaranty Loan and Trust Company, the Home Insurance Company, the Denny Hotel
Company and Seattle Steam, Heat and Power. His civic contributions were also numerous. For instance, he was the
president of the Seattle Theater Company, a founding member of the Seattle YMCA and served on the Board of Park
Commissioners from 1896 to 1898.
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Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of Seattle from the Earliest Settlement to the Present Time. 3 vols. Chicago: The S. J.
Clarke Publishing Company, 1916.

The Conservation Company. “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February
2004. . Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

King County Tax Assessor Records, ca. 1936-1972.

The Conservation Company. “Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation Certification,
Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington,
Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Wolfe, Wellington C. Sketches of Washingtonians: Containing Brief Histories of Men of the State of Washington.
Seattle: Wellington C. Wolfe and Company.

Address: 616 1* Ave

Historic Name : Lowman and Hanford Building Built: 1892; 1897; 1902

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Block 4/ Lot: Portion Parcel #: 0939000125
Style: Commercial/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic /Mixed

Architect: Emil DeNeuf Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 59

Description

This is a seven story building clad in orange-beige pressed brick. The building was originally designed as a four story
building and completed at the end of 1892. The building is supposed to have undergone remodels, according to the
King County Tax Assessor Records in 1893, as well as 1897. The upper three floors were apparently completed in
1902. The only street facing elevation is on First Avenue on Pioneer Place.
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The main fagade has a storefront on the first level, surmounted by a rectangular sign with the name “Lowman and
Hanford.” Above this is a horizontal row of four rectangular window openings. A projecting cast-stone molding runs
the length of the fagade. This is surmounted by a four double-story bays, topped by semi-circular arches. Bays are
also defined by flat piers with ornamental capitals and raised semi-circular corbel bands.

Above this, begins the 1902 vertical addition. On the fifth level is a row of four regular trabeated window openings,
topped by a second belt-course in lighter colored cast stone. The configuration of the top floors repeats that of the
two-story arched bays at the third and fourth levels, although the double-hung windows at the sixth level appear to be
longer. Slightly recessed circular medallions, encircled by circular corbel bands, are set above and between the
arches and thin raised arched bands. Moving up the fagade, another belt-course occurs. The parapet wall curves up at
the edges of the facade and is capped by bands of lighter cast stone.

Cultural Data

The Lowman and Hanford Building was designed by Emil DeNeuf. Construction of the first four floors of the
Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company was completed by late 1892. King County Tax Assessor
Records also claim that the building was also remodeled in 1893 and 1897. The top three floors were added in 1902.
The use of light colored brick - beige brick with an orange cast - and the relative clarity of the fagade design, are
typical of DeNeuf’s work in the 1890s, as is the eclectic combination of the Commercial Style with shades of the
Italian Renaissance. There are similarities with the fagade for the fire damaged Schwabacher Building across Pioneer
Place near Yesler Way, which DeNeuf created for the original building designed by his previous employer and
associate, Elmer Fisher.

Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in the office of Elmer Fisher, considered
the most prolific architect in the “burnt district” of Seattle right after the Fire of 1889. DeNeuf had an independent
practice by the end of 1891. He was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the Mutual Life Building, originally the
“Yesler Building,” which Fisher had begun. His partnership with Augustus Heide, with whom he designed the
Lowman Building (ca.1906), lasted from 1901 to 1906. DeNeuf also practiced architecture in Guatemala from 1894
to 1900 and was Mayor of West Seattle from 1900 to 1905. Sometime around 1906, DeNeuf moved to San
Francisco, where he practiced architecture and designed several notable Mission Style Revival public buildings. He
died in 1915.

James Lowman and Clarence Hanford, who commissioned and owned this building, were both civic and business
leaders in early Seattle, with important ties to Seattle’s earliest Pioneer settlers. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery
and Printing Company had operated in the Pioneer Square area since 1885. The Great Fire of 1889 destroyed all
buildings (save perhaps one), in the “burnt district,” as Pioneer Square was known after the fire. The Lowman and
Hanford Stationery and Printing Company returned to the former “burnt district,” after the fire and built this
building. (For additional information on James Lowman, see the Context Statement and the entry for 107 Cherry
Street, the Lowman Building, Resource # 58).
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Clarence Hanford was born in Seattle in 1857 and was the son of early pioneer settlers. After attending the Territorial
University of Washington, he learned the printing trade in the offices of the Seattle Intelligencer, which was
published by Thaddeus Hanford, his elder brother. In 1880, he established a job printing business. When the
Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company was created in 1885, Clarence Hanford became vice-
president, while Lowman was president. In addition, Hanford, whose original business was absorbed by the new
company, became manager of the printing and bookmaking department, while Lowman was the principal
stockholder.

Sources for Lowman & Hanford Building (also see sources for the Hanford Building, No. 58)
Bagley, Clarence. History of Seattle from the Earliest Settlement to the Present Time. 3 vols. Chicago: The S. J.
Clarke Publishing Company, 1916.

The Conservation Company. “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February
2004. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

King County Tax Assessor Records, ca. 1936-1972.
The Conservation Company. “Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation Certification,

Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington,
Microfiche File.

Address: 612 1% Ave

Historic Name : Howard Building Built: 1890

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Block 4/ Lot: 4-5 Parcel: # 0939000140
Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher (attributed) Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 60
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Description

The Howard Building at 612 First Avenue is a four story building, rectangular in plan, with a flat roof and parapet. It
is one of the earlier buildings erected on what became Pioneer Place and sits between architect Emil DeNeuf’s
Lowman and Hanford Building and the Pioneer Building by architect Elmer Fisher. The ground floor and mezzanine
level of the Howard Building are clad in rusticated stone. The composition of this part of the facade is asymmetrical.
Openings are mostly trabeated, but at the mezzanine level, a distinctive arched opening appears over the main
doorway, creating a more prominent entry. Above this level, there is a projecting stone belt course. The top two
floors are clad in brick and the composition shifts to a symmetrical one, with three rectangular flat arched openings.
Above these is a thin decorative molding, then a band of stretcher bricks set at angles, surmounted by a cast stone
belt course. The top level has three arched openings with projecting brick ornamental trim, following the half
circular curve of the arches. Flat piers between the arches have decorative Romanesque Revival floral capitals.

The spandrels above the curved decorative brick bands are decorated by a pattern of bricks, defining a series of
squares. Terminating the wall are a series of decorative bands in brick including a dentil band. The top of the parapet
has a projecting cast stone cornice, with a profile consisting of what appears as a classical combination of flat bands
(fillets), convex moldings and smaller concave moldings.

Cultural Data

The building was designed immediately after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889 and first completed in 1890. It is typical
of many post-fire buildings that, although its composition is somewhat simpler than many of these early buildings. It
has been attributed to architect Elmer Fisher. It is important as one of the earliest buildings that defined the triangular
Pioneer Place. King County Assessor’s Records give another date for the building as 1892, so it is likely that further
changes were made by 1892. (For information on Elmer Fisher, please see the Statement of Significance or the
Cultural Data section for the Pioneer Building, below).

Sources

Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia.Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February ,
2004.

Address: 606 1st Ave

Historic Name : Pioneer Building Built: 1892

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Block 4/ Lot: 5 & 8 Parcel: # 0939000150
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing (National Register Landmark) Site ID #: 61
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Description

The Pioneer Building, designed by Elmer Fisher, consists of six floors, with brick exterior walls and stone and terra
cotta trim. The building’s design is marked by its Victorian composition, which divides it into almost discrete
vertical bays, set off by pilasters, with horizontal bands of brick, dividing up these areas at various floor levels. The
building also shows the influence of the Richardsonian Romanesque style: the main and side entrances are marked
by heavy masonry arches in Bellingham Bay sandstone; but these are accentuated by projecting cast-iron bay
windows above them. The entire building is marked by a very spirited use of window openings, some arched, some
trabeated and in varying sizes. The base of the building is generally in ashlar cut sandstone. Above this, the walls are
clad in red brick, with sandstone and terra cotta trim.

Toward the center of facade, the main, low slung, arched entrance is accentuated by pilasters, made of blocks of
rough hewn Bellingham Bay sandstone, which rise to the top of the building. These once ended in a tower, which has
since been demolished. Supporting the entry arch itself, on each side, are four small, engaged, pink, polished granite
columns, with stone capitals that blend together and are ornamented with Romanesque Revival floral motifs. Above
the entrance, still as part of the base level of the building, are four small arched openings. A terra cotta egg-and-dart
belt-course set between floral capitals separates the base level of the building from the upper floors.

The central bay above the entry level is distinguished by a projecting cast-iron bay, which at the second level, has
arched openings and at the third level, rectangular openings. At the fourth and top level, there is an arched central
opening, divided into two, with two single, arched openings, set to each side of it. The projecting bay ends at the fifth
level. At the sixth level, there are three trabeated openings in red sandstone and above them, in arched lettering, the
words: “ Pioneer Building” with, below it, a basket weave medallion, surrounded by decorative swirls, set within a
semi-circular shape

There are similar projecting cast-iron bays and window openings between First Avenue and James Street and at the
center of the south elevation. In plan, the corner bay approaches a semi-circular shape. In comparison to the First
Avenue/ Pioneer Place elevation, the James Street elevation is more symmetrical, but the general detailing and
design is similar.

Cultural Data

The Pioneer Building was commissioned in 1889 by mill owner and entrepreneur Henry Yesler and designed by
architect Elmer Fisher. The building has a grid composition and includes an amazing variety of window openings
and decorative elements, all typical of Victorian buildings; but Elmer Fisher himself described the building in a
October 1889 article in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer as “Romanesque, after the great architect of America, Mr.
Richardson.” It owes a debt to both traditions and is typical of buildings constructed right after the Fire of 1889, but
it stands out in the variety of its detailing and the richness of its interior. Completed in 1892, the Pioneer Building
won an award from the American Institute of Architects for “being the finest building West of Chicago.”

Henry Yesler was one of Seattle’s earliest and founding settlers, and an influential early Seattle entrepreneur, and
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owner of prime real estate in the area around the Public Square and north of Yesler Way. He built Seattle’s first
sawmill in 1853 and ran a grist mill as well as a general store. Yesler also commissioned the Mutual Life Building,
(formerly the “Yesler Building” in Fisher and Yesler’s day), and the Yesler Building, (formerly the Bank of
Commerce Building), both by Fisher and located across Pioneer Place.

The Pioneer Building itself was briefly at the vortex of a controversy between Yesler and Seattle’s City Council over
the 1889 project to raise and widen the streets. Quoted at length in the July 1, 1889 issue of the Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, Yesler complained about the hardships created by the replatting of the streets near his properties. He
had intended to complete the Pioneer Building, “as fast as men and money should accomplish the work,” he stated,
but was held up by the decision to raise and widen the streets. He planned to sue the City over this issue. The upshot,
of course, is that the streets were raised and widened and the construction of the Pioneer Building was completed, to
much acclaim. By 1891, though, the interior finishes for the building, the beautiful lobby wainscoting, for instance,
were still being added.

Elmer Fisher produced an incredible number of buildings, especially between 1889 and 1891 and is considered the
most prolific of the post-fire architects; but his account of his birth in Scotland in 1840, arrival in Massachusetts at
age 17 and architectural apprenticeship in Worcester, Massachusetts now appears to be untrue or at least completely
uncorroborated. It is known that he came to the Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed buildings in Vancouver,
Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to Seattle in 1889. Despite the number of buildings he designed in the
former “burnt district,” his most well-known work in Seattle is the Pioneer Building. By 1891, despite the accolades
the Pioneer Building received in 1892, he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle,
which he had also designed and built.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, specifically pages 84-86, 142-143, 150-156.

Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia. Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003, 244-5.

Link, Karin, “The Rise of the Urban Center,” in Mildred Andrews and Marc Blackburmn, Dana Cox, Leonard
Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square: Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London:
University of Washington Press, forthcoming 2005.

Pitts, Carolyn, “Pioneer Building, Pergola and Totem Pole,” National Register Nomination, 22 February, 1977.
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Address/ Location: Pioneer Place

Historic Name : Pioneer Square, “Occidental Square” Built: 1889-1910
Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Lot: POR Parcel: # 0939000160
Style: Various

Architect: NA Builder: NA

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 62

Description

This is a virtually triangular public square, famous for its cast-iron pergola, totem pole and small drinking fountain.
The fountain includes a bust of Chief Seattle, sculpted by James Wehn in 1909. Facing Pioneer Place are some of the
well-known Pioneer Square buildings, many commissioned by Henry Yesler or by his nephew, James Lowman. The
surrounding buildings include the Pioneer Building, the Howard Building and the Lowman and Hanford Building,
and the Lowman Building to the east, the Scheuerman Building, now known as 700 First Avenue to the north, as well
as the Mutual Life Building (formerly the Yesler Building) and the Yesler Building (formerly the Bank of
Commerce) to the west.

A more recent addition are the late Twentieth Century panels, created by Edgar Heap of Birds and written in
transcribed Lushootseed (Salish) and English. Entitled “Day and Night,” the panels refer to Pioneer Place’s Native
American roots.

Cultural Data

This public square has had several names since it was created. Now called Pioneer Place, it has historically been also
known as “Pioneer Square,” and “Occidental Square,” not to be confused with the 1972 Occidental Park. It sits at
the known location of what was once a Native American village, before the arrival of the pioneers and platting of the
streets in the area in 1853. Now a triangular square, it sits in the location of what was once a large open meadow,
used by pioneer settlers for social occasions, such as picnics and ballgames. Sometime before the Great Fire of 1889,
there was a persistent and uncomfortable bottleneck for wagon traffic near the square meadow, known at that time as
“Occidental Square.” This was due to the change of direction in the platting of the streets at Yesler Way, with the
streets south of Yesler organized along a north- south axis and the streets to the north, set at an angle, so as to be
parallel to the waterfront. To resolve the problem, First Avenue South, then Commercial Street was extended north
across “Occidental Square™ to tie in with First Avenue, then called Front Street. This cut across the square area and
created a triangular piece of land, which by then was owned by Henry Yesler.

Shortly after the Great Fire of 1889, the triangular area was purchased from Yesler by the City of Seattle and
renamed Pioneer Square. Sometime subsequently, it also appears to have been also called the Public Square. It was
improved with lawn, flowers, six gas lamps and a perimeter iron fence. Pioneer Place, eventually surrounded by
many new buildings commissioned by Yesler, was also where trolley, cable cars and the Interurban all converged.
Sunday concerts and public events, such as the celebration for the arrival of the first tradeship from an Asian Port,
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the Miike Maaru, in 1896, took place here.

In 1899, a group of Seattle worthies, including Jacob Furth, J. W. Clise, James Hoge, Thomas Prosch and E. F.
Blaine, (later honored as the “Father of Seattle’s Park System™), were involved in an excursion to Southern Alaska,
during which four totem poles were cut down and taken from the Tlingit village of Tongass. One of the totem poles
was erected in Pioneer Place in 1899, amid much celebration, although there was a legal suit brought against the
group of notable men for stealing the pole. The erection of the pole coincides with the Klondike Gold Rush.

Pioneer Place was essentially the center of Seattle’s commercial district and saw incredible growth and prosperity. It
was clearly a hub of transportation, when Seattle was hosting the Alaska Yukon Exposition in 1909. The Pergola,
and its richly appointed underground “Queen Mary of Johns,” underground toilets, were commissioned by the Seattle
Parks Board. Architect Julian Everett designed the Pergola and it was constructed during 1909 and the very
beginning of 1910. At the same time, the Parks Board hired Seattle’s foremost Seattle sculptor, James Wehn, to
design a drinking fountain which could be used by man, dog and horse, and was topped by a bust of Chief Seattle.
The fountain was completed in 1909.

During the redevelopment of Pioneer Place around 1923, while new flower beds were planted and walks paved, the
totem was relocated from a point at the apex of the triangle to one midway along the east side of the triangle. In
1938, the totem was damaged by fire and Tlingit tribesmen carved a new totem. In the 1970s, the totem pole was
again in disrepair. (In 1972, a Seattle longshoreman and a traditional carver from the Tsimshian Tribe of Northern
British Columbia, John C. Hudson, Jr., restored the totem pole. Bill Holm, the anthropologist and Jones and Jones
Architects, Landscape Architects, were also involved in the restoration. The new totem was placed at the original
location of the first totem pole).

In 1958, the walk areas in Pioneer Place had been repaved with asphalt and the stairways to the underground toilets
effectively sealed off. In 1971, James Casey, founder of the United Parcel Service, donated a substantial amount of
money for the rehabilitation of Pioneer Place, as well as for the creation of Occidental Park and Occidental Mall. Iize
Jones of Jones & Jones Architects Landscape Architects was responsible for the restoration of the Pergola structure
and for the landscape design of the public square. The original flowerbed alongside the Pergola retained the trees
planted in 1958 and the square, slightly enlarged, was paved with reclaimed cobblestones, which had once covered
Seattle streets. The work by Jones and Jones was completed in 1972. The cobbles, although picturesque, were
sometimes considered difficult to walk on and were replaced by brick pavers in 2004. (See separate entries on the
Pergola and on the totem pole)

Sources
Sherwood, Don. “Pioneer and Occidental Squares.” Sherwood History Files. Seattle Parks and Recreation. 1972-77.
Database on-line. Available from www.CityofSeattle.net/parks/history/sherwood.atm

Andrews, Mildred to Karin Link, “Totem Scoop,” (e-mail), Friday, July 18, 2003, 1:17 P.M.
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Garfield, Viola E. The Seattle Totem Pole. Bellevue, Washington: Thistle Press, 1996.

Garfield, Viola E. Seattle’s Totem Poles. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 1980.

Link, Karin in Mildred Andrews and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer
Square: Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press,
forthcoming 2005.

“Special Problems of Comfort Station Designs.” Pacific Builder and Engineer, 29 January 1910, pp. 34-36.

Display on Franz Boas, Viola E. Garfield and students of Franz Boas who studied Northwest Native tribes, Suzzallo
Library, University of Washington, summer 2004.

Location: Pioneer Place

Historic Name : Pergola/ Comfort Station Built: 1900-1910

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Lot: POR Parcel #: 0939000160 (for Pioneer Place)
Style: Beaux Arts

Architect: Julian Everett Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing (on National Register) Site ID #: 63

Description

The now well-known cast-iron pergola, which was built in 1909 and completed early in 1910, is mainly sited along
Yesler Way at the base of the virtual triangle that describes Pioneer Place. It consists of delicate intersecting barrel
vaults of glass, which have a cast-iron framework and are supported on ornate columns with Corinthian capitals. The
structure has a ridge line, ornamented with repeated circular rings in bent iron, ornamented brackets and finials, as
well as garland reliefs on the column shafts. In addition, four separate ventilating columns for the original
underground comfort station are decorated with similar motifs. The ventilating columns double as light standards and
carry tiers of round light globes.

Cultural Data

Designed by architect Julian Everett, this open air structure has become the symbol not just of Pioneer Place, but of
the entire Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. It was built, in part, to greet the many visitors who
came to Seattle for the Alaska Yukon Exposition, located on the new campus of the University of Washington. The
Pergola served not only as a shelter, but also as the upper part of the underground comfort station, frequently
described, because of the elegance of its design, as the “Queen Mary of Johns.” Both parts of the project were
completed in November, 1909 with finishing touches to the “superstructure” completed during the week of January
15, 1910.
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The whole project was described in glowing terms in 1910 in Pacific Builder and Engineer: “The man of travels will
find nowhere in the Eastern hemisphere a sub-surface public comfort station equal in character to that which has
recently been completed in the downtown district of Seattle..” Before their construction, there was initial resistance
to the building of the Pergola and the comfort station by the local Seattle press and owners of property near them.
Once the Pergola was completed, it was hailed as a wonderful addition to an area still considered an important
commercial center: “Three of the four nearest street corners are occupied by banks, and the fourth by the city ticket
office of one of the transcontinental railroads. Two of the crosstown and the Tacoma interurban car lines terminate
within a block of it; it is also passed by a large majority of the Puget Sound and coastwise steamship passengers. It is
on the base of the triangle, the apex of which is occupied by the totem pole that has made Seattle famous.”

The architect of the Pergola and comfort station, Julian Everett studied at Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
This suggests a new trend in the 1900s, when architectural practitioners of some education and sophistication began
to arrive in Seattle. During the decade before, many of the architects came into the field of architecture through the
building trades and/ or had received no formal education in architecture. Julian Everett had an independent practice
in Seattle from 1904 to 1922. Aside from the Pergola, in Seattle, he designed Pilgrim Congregational Church (1905-
6), still extant and Temple de Hirsch (1906-08).

Sources
“Special Problems of Comfort Station Designs.” Pacific Builder and Engineer, 29 January 1910, pp. 34-36.

Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Seattle: Historic Preservation Foundation and
University of Washington Press, 1999.

Address/ Location: Pioneer Place

Historic Name : Chief Seattle Fountain Built: 1909

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition Parcel: # 0939000160 (for Pioneer Place)
Style: Early Twentieth Century/ Representational

Sculptor: James Wehn Builder: NA

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 64

Description

This bust of Chief Seattle was completed by sculptor James Wehn in 1909. The bust is part of a fountain, which once
served as watering trough for dogs and horses and people. The fountain itself is wide and circular in plan and the
bust, supported on a representation of rocks, is set to the side of the circle.
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Cultural Data

The bust of Chief Seattle in Pioneer Place was sculpted by James Wehn and completed in 1909. It has been part of
Pioneer Place since that time and appeared in the public square around the same time as Julian Everett's Pergola.
These additions to Pioneer Place also coincide with the Alaska Yukon Exposition of 1909-1910, which was located
on the new campus of the University of Washington and drew many visitors to Seattle, enhancing Seattle's image as
a new city of rising importance, as well as the gateway to Alaska and the Yukon. The bust is a permanent part of
Pioneer Place. James Wehn, in his day, was a noted Seattle sculptor, who had spent his youth as an orphan and a
protégé of Father Francis Xavier Prefontaine, the head of Seattle's first Catholic parish. The lower fountain portion
of the work has been restored, while the statue retains the essential artistic qualities that have always distinguished it.

Sources
Curtis, Asahel. “Chief Seattle fountain for horses and dogs, Pioneer Square, Seattle.” Photo. 1909. Asahel Curtis
Photo Company Collection. Manuscripts and Special Collections, University of Washington.

Pitts, Carolyn, “Pioneer Building, Pergola and Totem Pole,” National Register Nomination, 22 February, 1977.

Sherwood, Don.“Pioneer and Occidental Squares.” Sherwood History Files. Seattle Parks and Recreation.1972-77.
| Database on-line. Available from www.CityofSeattle.net/parks/history/sherwood.atm

Address: Pioneer Place

Historic Name : Totem Pole

Built: 1938 replica of pre-1899 Tlingit totem pole; restored 1972.

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition (Portion) Parcel: # 0939000160 (for Pioneer Place)

Style: Replica of Tlingit totem

Artist: Charles Brown and father, Tlingit Tribe Restoration: John C. Hudson, Tsimshian Tribe
Classification: Historic Contributing (on National Register) Site ID #: 65

Description

The wooden totem pole in Pioneer Place is a late 1930s replica of a Tlingit totem pole, originally erected in 1899. It
was restored in 1972. The totem pole includes representations of Raven with a crescent moon in Raven’s beak, a
woman holding her frog child, a woman’s frog husband, Mink Raven, a whale with a seal in its mouth and at the very
base, “Raven-at-the-Head-of-Nass,” also called the Grandfather of Raven.

Significance
This is a 1938 replica of the original wooden totem pole, first erected in Pioneer Place in 1899. It was also restored in
1972.The original totem pole belonged to the Tlingit lineage of the Raven clan, known in English as the Kininook

Family.
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The history of the totem’s origins and arrival in Seattle is the following: a group of Seattle businessmen and
worthies, including Jacob Furth, J.W. Clise, James Hoge and Thomas Prosch and E. F. Blaine, (later honored as the
“Father of Seattle’s Park System”), took an excursion to Southern Alaska and went to the Tlingit village of Tongass.
Finding few people in the village, because the able bodied men and women were working in the fields, the
businessmen apparently surmised that the village had been abandoned. They cut down four totem poles as a souvenir
of their trip and floated them back to their ship. While the Pioneer Place totem, repainted with garish paint, was
placed in Pioneer Place, soon after its trip from Tongass, what happened to the other three poles apparently remains a
mystery.

The Pioneer Place totem pole was officially dedicated on October 18, 1899. A January 29, 1910 article concerning
the nearby Pergola described it as the “totem pole that made Seattle famous.” Apparently, a federal grand jury in
Juneau indicted eight of the party for the theft and sent a United States Marshall to Seattle to arrest them, but he was
unsuccessful. A second envoy from Alaska, upon arrival in Seattle, was wined and dined at the Rainier Club. The
indictments were dropped, while the original fine of $ 20,000 was reduced to $ 500.

The totem stood in Pioneer Place until October of 1938, when it was damaged by fire. In 1938, Tlingit tribesmen,
(under supervision of the “U.S. Forest Service Division™), carved a new totem. The Tlingit craftsmen were Charles
Brown and his father, who used special adzes to carve the new totem pole. Although the current totem dates from
1938, it is a replica of the original totem which has been an integral part of Pioneer Place since 1899; therefore it
should be considered a contributing resource.

Sources
Andrews, Mildred to Karin Link, “totem scoop,” (e-mail), Friday, 18 July 2003, 1:17 P.M.

Garfield, Viola E. The Seattle Totem Pole. Bellevue, Washington: Thistle Press, 1996.

Garfield, Viola E. Seattle’s Totem Poles. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 1980.

Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming 2005.

Seattie Times, 24 May, 1974, N.P. (courtesy of Ilze Jones, Jones and Jones Architecture Landcape Architecture,
Clipping File).

Exhibit on Franz Boas, Viola E. Garfield and students of Franz Boas who studied Northwest Native tribes, Suzzallo
Library, University of Washington, summer 2004
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Address/ Location: Pioneer Place

Historic Name : “Day and Night” Built: Late Twentieth Century

Plat: Borens and Dennys Addition/ Lot: Portion (for Pioneer Place) Parcel: # 0939000160
(for Pioneer Place)

Style: Modern

Artist: Edgar Heap of Birds Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 66

Description

These are two vertical, rectangular panels. They have a white background with written characters in green. One side
of each panel is inscribed in transcribed Lushootseed (Salish) and the other side in English. The message on one of
the panels is: “ Far Away Sisters and Brothers We Still Remember You.” The other panel’s inscription reads: “Chief
Seattle Now the Streets Are Our Home.”

Cultural Data

Pioneer Place sits at the known location of what was once a Native American village, before the arrival of the
pioneers and platting of the streets in the area in 1853. The area has been consistently a gathering place from the time
the Duwamish tribe had a village at this site to the present day. Edgar Heap of Birds' two panels are written in
Lushootseed, (transcribed according to Franz Boas' notation system), and English. Entitled “Day and Night,” the
panels refer to the Native American presence in this area, which was considered a sacred site. Although an important
part of the public square, they post-date the periods of significance for the district and therefore are non historic, non
contributing.

Sources

Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming 2005.

Watson, Kenneth Greg. “Native Americans of Puget Sound —A Snapshot History of the First People and Their
Cultures.” HistoryLink, 2004. Database on-line. Available from <http://www historylink.org//>

Address: 102 1st Ave S.

Name : Olympic Building Built: 1984 -1985

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lots 1-2 Parcel: # 5247800440
Style: Modern/ Post-Modern

Architect: Olson/ Walker Architects/ Hewitt Isley Architects
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 67
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Description
This is a six story building with

These are located to each side o
Yesler Way and First Avenue S
building. Above the granite base,

historic buildings in the neighb
_apartments fill the upper floors.

of the building. Simple rectangy
spandrels, reflecting the influence, perhaps, of buildings dating from the 1900-1910 period. The parapet is marked by
a projecting comice with a curv

a steel frame structure and concrete exterior walls from the 1980s. It has a flat roof

with a parapet and penthouse. There are eight bays along Yesler Way and four full-sized bays on First Avenue.

f a narrower bay, which serves as transition to the angled fagade, located between
outh. Cladding consists mainly of scored concrete, with granite at the base of the
the concrete is painted, first a dark orange brown, and then a beige/ orange for most
ilar window openings are recessed between piers and extruded bands along the

ed cavetto profile, which is broken above the narrow “transition bays.” Like the
orhood, the Olympic Building has storefront at the ground level. Condominium

Cultural Data
This non historic, non contribut

Sources

Chapter 9.

ing building replaced Saunders and Houghton’s Olympic Block, which collapsed

dramatically in 1972, as a result of repair efforts and was subsequently demolished after some debate. Olson/ Walker
and Hewitt Isley Architects des
supposed to be brick, in keeping ¥

igned this building, amid more heated debate. At one point, the cladding was
vith the historic buildings in the district. The building was completed in 1985.

Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. M

fanuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming 2005:

Address: 104 1st Ave S.
Historic Name : Lippy Building
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block ¢
Style: Commercial
Architect: E. W. Houghton Buil
Classification: Historic Contribu

, Kind Building Built: 1902
3/ Lot Parcel: # 5247800461

der: Not known
ting Site ID #: 68

Description
The Lippy Building is currently
elevation faces First Avenue Sou
and trim on the main fagade. The
visible from the exterior. The

same location. The east side of

a four story building with a flat roof and parapet and a cornice. The only street
th. In general, exterior walls are of brick, with light gray brick and sandstone veneer
original interior structure is of heavy timber. The building has a basement level, not
in fagade lost its top floor and original cornice in 1950, a result of the Earthquake

a
of 1949. The current cornice, w"l%xich has very large projecting dentils, is a replacement for an original cornice in the

the building, not visible from the street, is characterized by its common red brick

exterior and arched window openings, several of which have been filled in with masonry. On this side the parapet is
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concrete

The straightforward and well-proportioned design, particularly the upper floors of the main facade, typifies
warehouse buildings of the early 1900s in the district. The building’s base level — a double floor — is clad in
rusticated sandstone, but a storefront takes up most of this portion of the facade. A tall, original, metal column,
occurs midpoint under the cast stone lintel of the large rectangular ground floor opening. Storefront then fills this
opening. The storefront had undergone many changes by the 1980s and the current storefront dates from a 1980s
restoration of the building. Above these levels, there is a projecting sandstone belt course, surmounted by two bays.
Wall cladding is mainly light grey brick, with rusticated stone trim between windows and at second and third floor
lintels; but each bay, (three floors of three windows grouped together in the horizontal direction), is framed by a
smooth molding, which projects out slightly from the light grey brick.

A curious detail at the north side of the fagade is a tall, engaged, stone column, set above the stone belt course, and
corresponding in height to the two top stories. It has a Romanesque Revival capital of modified acanthus leaves. It
appears to be a vestige of the original Olympic Block, by Saunders and Houghton, which collapsed in 1972 and was
subsequently demolished.

Cultural Data

Known for a time, at least in the late 1960s, as the Kind Building, the Lippy Building is named after its original
owner, T. S. Lippy. Lippy, who had previously been Secretary of the Seattle YMCA, had made a fortune in the
Klondike Gold Rush, where he had dug eighty-five thousand dollars worth of gold nuggets.The building was
designed mainly as a warehouse and had retail at the storefront of the First Avenue South elevation. The Lippy
Building was completed by 1902 and designed by E. W. Houghton, also the architect with Charles Saunders, of the
historic Olympic Block.

E. W. Houghton’s known career in Seattle began in late 1889 when he formed an architectural partnership, Saunders
and Houghton with Charles Saunders.(For information on Saunders and Houghton and their backgrounds, please see
the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data Section for the Terry Denny Building, # 33). That partnership
dissolved around in 1891 and Houghton started an independent practice, which began to thrive by the time of the
Klondike Gold Rush. He became known as a designer of theaters and worked for Seattle theater impresario John
Cort. Houghton, in fact, was the architect of theaters all over Washington State. He also designed the Heilig Theater
in Portland, Oregon (now Arlene Schnitzer Playhouse), the Cort Theater in Chicago (destroyed) and the Pinney
Theater Block in Boise, Idaho (destroyed). It is from the early years of this independent practice that the Lippy
Building, somewhat modest compared to some of these more ornate and intricate designs, also dates.

Sources
“The Lippy Building, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” March 1983. Office of Archeology and Historic

Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.
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Morgan, Murray. Skid Road, An Informal Portrait of Seattle, Seattle and London: University of Washington Press,
1995 (first publication 1951), especially 161.

Ochsner, Jeftrey Karl and Dennis A. Andersen, “Edwin Houghton,” Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the
Architects, Jeffrey Ochsner, Editor. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press in association with the
American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle Architectural Foundation), 1994, p 46-51, especially
photo page 46.

Address: 112 1st Ave S.

Historic Name : City Club Building /Olympus Cafe Built: 1897 & 1906 (fl. 2 & 3)
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lot 3 Parcel: # 5247800466

Style: Beaux Arts — Neoclassical/ Art Nouveau/ Eclectic Mixed

Architect: Heins and LaFarge/ Somervell and Cote (top 2 flrs) Builder: Not known
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 69

Description

The City Club is a three-story building, with exterior walls of brick and a basement level. Its only street facing, First
Avenue South elevation is clad in buff brick and what appears to be a combination of metal and cast-stone, all
painted one color. The fagade has dramatic Beaux Arts ornamental flourishes which also manage to have Art
Nouveau tendencies. Other elevations are not visible from the street. The building is set between the Lippy Building
to the north and the Terry-Kittinger/ Delmar Building to the south.

On the First Avenue South fagade, the ground level storefront is a two level space with piers of ornamented cast iron.
The high storefront level is divided into two bays by a central pier, emphasized by a delicate engaged pilaster, which
is topped by a fanciful floral capital in metal, a representation of a bunch of grapes set between bulging floral shapes.
The string course above the storefront is of metal. Above it is a single two level bay, striking in its use of elliptical
and oval shapes, floral ornament and somewhat exaggerated classical detailing. The first level of this bay is a wide
window, divided by mullions into a series of thinner and wider shapes, mostly rectangles. At the center, is a casement
window with a flat segmental arch and two thin rectangular lights on each side.This is topped by an intricate
elliptical lunette, (or half-ellipse), with a central light, set in an oval frame. The elliptical nature of the design is
further emphasized by a semi-elliptical mullion that ties in with the outer mullions of the fenestration below. The
second level of this bay is subdivided into three rectangular openings with casement windows topped by clerestories.

These two levels are set in a frame that includes a continuous floral pattern. At the top of the fagade, the middle of
the horizontal band that makes up the frame is punctuated by a wild Beaux Arts ornamental confection. This includes
an acanthus bracket, a scroll shape and a shell, with floating ribbons to each side. On each side of the entire floral
frame are oval medallions, also festooned with hanging floral garlands. The whole is capped by a projecting cornice
with exaggerated modillions. At each side of the fagade, two modillions have additional vegetal hanging ornament.
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An egg-and-dart band runs the length of the facade between hanging vegetal modillion ornaments. What little is left
to the eye is exposed buff brick wall

Cultural Data

The original structure was one story and dated from 1897. From 1897 to 1915, an elegant restaurant, the Olympus
Café occupied it. The top two floors were added in 1905 to accommodate a much larger Olympus Café, including the
classically designed Venetian Room, the German Room, the Blue Room and the Lumberman’s Club, which took up
the whole of the top floor. From 1908 to 1911, The Seattle City Club occupied the building. Described as possibly a
posh gentleman’s club or as a gambling club, the Seattle City Club, along with the City Club Café, occupied the
building from 1927 to 1933. The City Club Hotel occupied the upper floors from 1928 to 1965.

The building facade stands out because of the combination of Beaux Arts and Art Nouveau architectural detailing.
The ornate second and third stories were added in 1905 by Heins & La Farge, with Somervell and Cote, as the local
supervising architects. During the same period, Heins and La Farge, also with Somervell and Cote as supervising
architects, were involved in the design of St. James Cathedral in Seattle’s First Hill neighborhood (St. James
Cathedral was planned as early as 1903 and completed in 1907).

The architectural firm of Heins & La Farge is perhaps best known for winning the competition for the design of St.
John the Divine in New York City, still not considered “finished,” as of this writing. In general, aside from St. James
Cathedral, the firm’s work is not associated with Seattle. By 1891, when it won the St. John the Divine competition,
Heins & La Farge was considered a relatively young firm. Until that time, its only major commission had been the
Roman Catholic Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament in Providence, Rhode Island. George Lewis Heins studied at the
University of Pennsylvania and MIT. Christopher La Farge, the son of the painter and stained glass artist, John
LaFarge, who had decorated H. H. Richardson’s Trinity Church in Boston, studied at MIT and apprenticed in H. H.
Richardson’s office. Both Heins and LaFarge also worked for Cass Gilbert in St. Paul, Minnesota. In the case of the
City Club fagade, a very small project in comparison to their big church projects, and St. James, they brought a
sensibility and aesthetic, shaped by the Beaux Arts and other trends in the United States and Europe. For Seattle, and
particularly for the date, the redesign of the City Club fagade is unique. The adjacent Lippy Building is much more in
keeping with what was being built in the 1900s. On the other hand, since this was a building meant for purposes
other than a warehouse, the ornate redesign makes some sense.

The restoration has kept the essential architectural elements of the storefront level and left the top levels intact.
Sources

Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

Crowley, Walt. National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: Preservation Press/ John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1998, p 39.
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Dolkart, Andrew S. Morningside Heights, A History of Its Architecture and Development. New York: Columbia
University Press, 1998.

Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and
University of Washington Press, 1999.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 19 November, 1905, Section I1, p. S.

Steinbrueck, Victor. “Pioneer Square Historic District — Seattle Register of Historic Places.” manuscript (n.d.,
probably ca. 1969-70). Victor Steinbrueck Papers, Manuscripts and Special Collections, University of Washington,
Seattle. (source of date)

Tobin, Carol. Downtown Seattle Walking Tours. Seattle: City of Seattle, 1985.

Address: 108 S. Washington St

Historic Name : Terry Kittinger Building Built: 1891

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800481
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Eclectic Mixed

Architect: Hermann Steinmann Builder: Not known
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 70

Description

Rectangular in plan, this four-story, brick clad building is located on the northeast corner of First Avenue South and
South Washington Street. The First Avenue fagade is divided into four equal bays. The Washington Street elevation
is divided into six bays, with a central bay that is slightly wider, (three windows instead of a pair of windows), than
the others. On First Avenue South, a typical bay is composed of a two-story, semi-circular arched opening, topped by
an ornamented, hobnail terra cotta panel. There is a stone belt-course above this, and topped by two levels of paired,
rectangular, double hung windows at the third and fourth levels. Storefronts occur at the ground level of the two-
story arched openings, which are also emphasized by tall piers with Romanesque Revival capitals and deep bases.
The faces of the piers are also adorned by a characteristic sheet metal fagade orament.

The South Washington Street elevation has the same typical bay, which includes semi-circular arches and terra-cotta
spandrels in the first bay to the west and in the two corner bays to the east. The bays between are much simpler and
have flat arched window openings at the second and third levels. Terra-cotta ornamental panels, which are fluted, are
set between the top level windows on both elevations. The building has clearly lost its original parapet and cornice,




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 119 of 289

which has been replaced by a reinforced, poured-in-place, concrete parapet, currently a pinkish color.The interior of
the building is notable for the pressed metal wainscot panels in the main entry stair.

The building was restored by two Seattle firms: in 1979, the architectural firm of Stickney Murphy architects appears
to have worked on the southern portion of the property; in 1985-86 Tonkin Koch Architects, worked on the northern
portion. In the 1985-86 restoration, original wood frame windows were retained and repaired in place. The interior
structure was unsound, but care was taken to retain important architectural elements, such as interior brick arches
and pressed metal wainscot panels. A penthouse, that is not visible from the street, was also added at that time. Aside
from the loss of the parapet and cornice, the building has retained its architectural integrity and remains a very
important and contributing building in the district.

Cultural Data

Now called the Delmar Building / State Hotel, this building was originally designed as a joint block for two different
owners by architect Henry Steinmann. It was completed in 1891 and was part of the wave of building activity right
after the Fire of June 6, 1889. The northern portion of the property, later the State Hotel, originally served as a dry
goods store. The building is also supposed to have housed the city’s earliest pharmacy as well as a Chinese laundry
in the basement.

Two different owners, Kittinger and Terry, originally had possession of the property, so the original name of the
building was the Terry-Kitttinger building. In one version of the story, it was G.B. Kittinger and R.L. Terry who
jointly developed the property. In another version of this story, Mary C. Terry Kittinger and her brother, Edward
Terry, each inherited adjacent properties from their deceased father, Charles Terry, and jointly developed them.
According to the Part I for the certification application, the building was physically divided into two parts, either
before construction or soon thereafter, possibly in 1902. In 1909, the northern portion of the building became a 200
room, low budget hotel, with an entry on First Avenue South. The State Hotel continued to serve as a low-budget
hotel until a fire occurred in an upper floor of the building in 1967. The Delmar name stuck to the southern portion
of the building at a later date, and even in the 1969/ 1970 National Register nomination for the Pioneer Square-Skid
Road Historic District, was written “Del Mar.”

There is a little more certainty about the architect of the building. Herman Steinmann was born in 1860 and practiced
architecture in St. Louis, Missouri from 1883 to 1887, before arriving in Seattle in 1887. He designed several
buildings before the Fire of 1889, including a Squire Building in 1888, which was destroyed. His only known extant
building in the Pioneer Square area appears to be the State Hotel/ Delmar Building. He also designed a brewery
building in Vancouver B.C. in 1890. He later worked in New York City, where he designed breweries. Sadly, he also
committed suicide there in 1905.

Sources

Andersen, Dennis. “Herman Steinmann.” in Jeffrey Ochsner, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the
Architects. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 1994.
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Stickney & Murphy Architects. “The State Building, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 1979,
Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Tonkin Koch Architects. “The Delmar Building, Historic Preservation Certification, Parts 1 & 2.” 1985-86. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

“Building a Better City, the Terry-Kittinger Block on Commercial Street,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, July 12, 1889, p
4, Col. 4 (unfortunately, the microfilm on which this article appears is barely legible either at the Seattle Public
Library or at the University of Washington).

Address: 202 1% Avenue S.

Historic Name : Brunswick Balke Collender Building/ Buttnick Building Built: 1909
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 5247800380

Style: Commercial/ Utilitarian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 71

Description

The Buttnick Building is a three story building, with brick masonry walls. Wall thicknesses vary from 23 inches at
the basement level to 18 inches at the parapet. The building is almost rectangular in plan, roughly 60 feet by 100 feet,
and has a basement. The roof is virtually flat, except for a small skylight, located near the southeast. The basic
interior structure consists of 11 inch by 11 inch steel and concrete columns, with heavy timber beams and wood
joists. Street elevations face north on Washington Street, west on First Avenue South and at about a forty-five degree
angle between Washington Street and First Avenue South. The building has high storefronts on the ground level and
trabeated openings with wood casement windows and clerestories on the upper floors. The building is also
distinguished by its horizontal signage of green letters on a white background : “BUTTNICK MFG CO.” on its
northern elevations and “DRIFTWOOD SPORTSWEAR?” on its angled elevation. Both of these were added in the
1950s. The east elevation, very much a back elevation, has a faded sign for Rainier Beer and window openings with
segmental arches. It also includes a one story, projecting, glazed structure, with a polygonal plan and pitched roof,
that was added to the building during the 1970s.

The south party wall, shared with the neighboring building 206 1 Avenue South, is apparently a partial vestige from
a previous building on the site, originally known as Commercial House and then Kenyon House, and originally built
in 1889.
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The recent renovation has uncovered, but also rebuilt, the storefronts. The original cornice was lost as a result of the
1949 Earthquake and has also been replaced. Aside from these changes and the later painted signage which actually
gives the building some character, the Buttnick Building’s exterior appearance seems to have changed little

Cultural Data

Now known as the Buttnick Building, this building was constructed in 1909 for the Brunswick Balke Collender
Company, which manufactured billiards equipment. The building replaced two smaller structures (the more southern
of the two was Commercial House, later renamed Kenyon House), which apparently housed a less than respectable
hotel and a rowdy saloon. In comparison, the new business was seen as respectable. The building dates from a time
of explosive growth, mainly due to the Klondike Gold Rush and the arrival of the Great Northern Railroad. In 1909,
not far from here, the Pioneer Place Pergola (designed by Everett) was built. The year 1909 also coincides with the
Alaska Yukon Pacific Exposition, essentially Seattle’s first “World’s Fair.”

By the 1910s, the commercial heart of downtown Seattle began to move north. The original commercial center
became increasingly devoted to industrial uses and had a preponderance of warehouses, small factories and
workingmen’s hotels. As part of this trend, in 1929, Harry Buttnick began manufacturing water repellent in the
building, which then belonged to Mrs. Maud, ( associated with the Maud Building). Water repellent had been an
important industry since the Klondike Gold Rush, when many local businesses also began to supply clothing and
gear for the trip to the Yukon. Sometime around 1929, the Buttnicks purchased the building and also moved other
businesses into it, such as the O K Loan Office and the Buttnick Jobbing and Investment Company. Other tenants
were United Shoe Repair, the Seaport Tavern, a barber school and the Washington Cigar Store.

The building’s upper floors, in particular, are typical of early utilitarian warehouse and manufacturing buildings,
constructed in the 1900s. Architecturally, this is perhaps one of the least eye-catching examples, but the upper floors
have historical integrity and the general shape and scale and overall design are typical of the late 1900s. This is a
contributing building in the district.

Sources

“The Buttnick Building, 200-204 First Avenue S. and 101-109 S. Washington Street, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” ca. 2001. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

Address: 206 1% Avenue S.

Historic Name : Gottstein Building Built: 1903

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lot 2 Parcel: # 5247800385
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 72
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Description

This is a five-story building, rectangular in plan, with a roof, which is not visible from the street and a parapet, but no
cornice. The City Loan Building, currently called the Buttnick City Loan Building, is designed as one bay and has a
west facing elevation on First Avenue South, as well as an eastern elevation along Occidental Park. The First Avenue
fagade has a high storefront with a clerestory, which is divided into three main sections. They each have a long.
rectangular opening divided into four double-hung windows. The storefront frame is a combination of cast-iron and
wood. The ground floor is separated from the upper floors by a projecting stone belt course. Upper floors are of light,
off-white or light grey, brick. Distinctive, but non historical, are the structural rosettes in the shape of fish. The
Occidental Park elevation has horizontal rows of three segmental window openings per floor and a low modern
glazed addition, somewhat reminiscent of historic conservatory structures. This detracts little from the overall
integrity of the original building.

Cultural Data

This building, historically known as the Gottstein Building, was constructed in 1903 for M. K. Gottstein, a wholesale
dealer of liquor and cigars. He occupied the building until January 1, 1916, when it was no longer legal to sell liquor.
The building was later associated with the North Pacific Banknote Company. The building shares a party wall with
the Buttnick Building to the north, part of which is the remnant of a building from 1889, known first as the
Commercial House and then as the Kenyon Building.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Crowley, Walt. National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: Preservation Press/ John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1998.

Address: 216 1* Avenue S.

Historic Name : Squire Latimer Block Built: 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lot 2-3-4 Parcel: # 5247800390
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Comstock and Troetsche Builder: Not known
Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 73

Description
Rectangular in plan and four stories in height, the former Squire-Latimer Block is mainly clad in rusticated and
smooth stone, which has been painted. On the west elevation, it has cast-iron and wood storefront frames at ground
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level and brick clad walls on the upper levels.

The west elevation is divided into eight bays. A typical vertical bay consists of a ground level storefront with piers.
made of semi-rough hewn stone blocks, surmounted by a stone capital with acanthus leaves. A brick spandrel
typically separates the storefront’s cast-iron lintel from a belt-course. The stone piers are continued by a thickened
portion of the wall at the upper levels. At the second level, a continuous belt-course also becomes a continuous sill
between individual trabeated windows, which have stained glass clerestories. Above these windows, is a stone lintel
which runs the length of each bay between thickened sections of wall. At the third level, there are corresponding
windows with segmental arches. These are surmounted by a large curved piece of stone trim with rusticated stone
filling in the spandrels between the segmental arches and the stone trim. A typical fourth floor bay consists of three
arched windows, topped by stone trim, which follows the three curves of the arches, creating a shape of three
intersecting circular sections.

A distinctive element of the western elevation is the projecting entrance bay and its portal, leading to upper floors,
which is not symmetrically placed and occurs in the third bay from the south. The actual portal has a wide, deep,
semi-circular arch with a spandrel of rusticated stone block. The arch is supported by four short columns, engaged in
the thickened stone wall. Above these columns, and continuing to the edge of the bay, is a continuous frieze of
enlarged, running floral motifs, which also include on each side of the portal, a stylized lion motif. At the ground
level, the next bay north stands out because of an iron gate that was added during the restoration of the building. A
similar, facing gate occurs on the east wall facing Occidental Park.

The south elevation is mainly clad in brick. It has five bays, including a central bay that is wider than the rest. Above
the second floor, the typical bay pattern of the west elevation is followed; however, the central bay has five
individual windows running horizontally, instead of three. At the third level, a large three lite window with a large,
flatter segmental arch is flanked by two single openings with segmental arches.

The east elevation facing Occidental Park has no differentiated bays; but there is a fairly consistent pattern of single
openings with segmental arches. The wall here is mostly covered by ivy, so no other distinctive details are obvious.
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Cultural Data

This building, originally named the Squire Latimer Block, was designed by the architectural firm of Comstock and
Troetsche in 1889-1890. The southern half of the building was constructed on the site of Watson Squire’s Opera
House, which opened in 1879 as Seattle’s first real theater and was destroyed by the Great Fire of 1889. The building
was commissioned by Watson Squire, the former territorial governor and senator and Norval Latimer, an important
early Seattle businessman, who was involved with the Dexter Horton Bank.

The Squire and Latimer Building’s architects, Nelson Comstock and Carl Troetsche, were known mainly for their
work in San Diego, where their practice thrived in the mid-1880s. As a result of an acquaintanceship with Judge
Thomas Burke, an important early Seattle figure, they also opened a Seattle office in 1889. They contributed to the
rebuilding of Seattle after the Fire of 1889, although their partnership dissolved in 1890. They also designed the J. H.
Marshall Block, later known as the J & M Cardroom and Bar, also in the district.

Prior to its construction, the building was hailed in 1889 in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer for the high quality of its
design: “ The structure will stand four stories high above the basement and cover an area 60 x 111 feet in
dimensions, and when completed will be one of the largest and handsomest blocks in the city. The front and sides
will be beautiful and attractive with walls of pressed brick trimmed with stone and iron, and handsomely surmounted
by an imposing and elaborate cornice... The exterior appearance of the structure will be beautiful in design and a gem
in architectural appearance...”

During the Klondike Gold Rush, the building housed the Grand Central Hotel, hence its present name, which is now
officially is “Grand Central on the Park.” This building was also one of the earliest examples of rehabilitation in the
district in 1971-1972 by Richard White, Alan Black and architect Ralph Anderson.

Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of King County. Chicago-Seattle: S. J. Clarke Publishing Company, 1929.

“The Wings of the Phoenix, Two New Brick Blocks on Commercial Street,” Post Intelligencer, 25 July, 1889, p. 4.

Rhodes, Marjorie. Biography Notes on Pioneers of Puget Sound. Seattle: Marjorie Rhodes, 1992.

Address: 310 1* Ave S./ 107 S. Main Street

Historic Name : Marshall Walker Block Built: 1891

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 1-2 Parcel: # 5247800320
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Chicago School (early)/ Victorian
Architect: W. E. Boone Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 74
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Description

Currently known as the Globe Building, this is a four story building, mainly clad brick and stone block . Its historical
interior structure is heavy timber. It has a 60 feet by 112 feet rectangular footprint and a basement level. The ground
level is clad in rusticated stone, which is also used at the second floor level to emphasize parts of the building: for
instance the rustication is brought up to the second level above the Main Street entrance, which is topped by a semi-
circular window opening. The same treatment is used at the corner entry on Main Street and First Avenue South (on
both sides of the corner) and on the last bay, moving south along First Avenue.

The upper level of the facades along Main Street and First Avenues are of brick, with stone or cast-stone trim, and
each divided into eight bays. Standard bays above the ground floor level consist of paired trabeated openings with
rusticated stone lintels and sills. The “special” bays, which have semi-circular openings at the second level, consist
of paired openings, as well, but the top paired openings are arched. Currently there are vestiges of what was once an
imposing cornice. This was partially destroyed during the 1949 earthquake and most of the rest of cornice removed,
when cornices in the district were being removed as a safety precaution. The cornice detailing was higher at the
“special bays,” creating a kind of towerlike element at the corner of Main Street and First Avenue South.

An important feature of the 1980s restoration by Jones and Jones Architects Landscape Architects involved breaking
through the brick wall that separated the “Marshall” and the “Walker” on the interior and connecting the two parts.
The name of the former Globe Hotel, housed in the Marshall wing, inspired the current name of the building. Aside
from the loss of the cornice, and reconstruction of the storefronts at the Main Street /First Avenue South corner and
along First Avenue, the building is surprisingly intact on the exterior. The interior retains finishes and characteristic
Victorian millwork from its original design.

Cultural Data

This building was designed by William E. Boone in 1890-1891 as the Marshall-Walker Block. The two portions of
the building were jointly developed by Ezekiel L. Marshall and Cyrus Walker, who separated their respective
portions with a brick wall. Cyrus Walker, a very successful Puget Sound lumberman, involved in real estate in
Seattle, was the primary investor. He was the head of the Puget Mill Company in Port Ludlow. He also developed
other properties in the district: the Walker Building, now the Seattle Quilt Building, located on First Avenue S.,
south of this building, and most likely the one-story building just south of the Korn Building, now Al and Bob’s
Saveway. The Globe Building also sits on the former site of Seattle’s first hospital which was opened in 1863 by a
famous early settler, Dr. David S. Maynard, affectionately and more commonly known as “Doc” Maynard.

The structure was designed for warehouse use and designed to carry heavy loads; but the north half of the building
originally had fifty separate offices. In the 1890s, it was converted to the Windsor Hotel and in 1898, renamed the
Globe Hotel. The Globe Hotel operated until the 1960s. A major fire broke out in the building in 1901. All of
Seattle’s fire engines and a five-inch stream of water from the fireboat Snoqualmie were needed to put out the blaze.
In 1924, the premises of the Northwestern Drug Company, a front for illegal liquor production, located on the second
floor, exploded, showering glass and debris on the street below. At the ground level, the building also housed a
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saloon, from 1891 to 1970, which, however, sold soft drinks during Prohibition. In 1926, the Seattle Quilt Company
became one of the building’s tenants and stayed until the 1970s. The Marshall-Walker/ Globe Building is an
interesting combination of the grid-like tendencies of Victorian architecture, with many elements of Chicago School
architecture: the strong base, shaft and capital arrangement of the main facades, the wide arches in rusticated stone
and the repeated bays and corbel treatment.

The architect of the Marshall-Walker Building, W.E. Boone was born in Pennsylvania in 1830, and described in his
1921 obituary in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, as a direct descendant of Daniel Boone. His architectural career in
Seattle is interesting, because he had a known practice before Seattle’s Great Fire of 1889 and was a partner in
several successful offices well after the fire, a rarity among the architects who contributed to the rebuilding of Seattle
in 1889. He began his career in railroad construction in Chicago and worked in building construction in Minneapolis
and the Bay Area. There, he began to enjoy some prominence as the designer of the “Institution for the Deaf, Dumb
and Blind,” in Berkeley and a Masonic Temple and a City Hall in Oakland, California. He arrived in Seattle around
1882, where he remained until his death. He was responsible for many buildings in what is now the historic district
including: the pre-fire Yesler-Leary Building, which once stood at the intersection of Yesler Avenue and First
Avenue, the Merchant’s Café Building (the former Sanderson Block) and the Seattle Quilt Building (former Walker
Block) at 316-318 First Avenue S., between Main and Jackson Streets. In partnership with William H. Willcox, he
designed the original four floors of the J.M. Frink Building (or Washington Iron Works Building), now known as the
Washington Shoe Building (1891-1892), at the southeast corner of Occidental Avenue South and Jackson Street.

In 1893, in A History of Washington, the Evergreen State, From Early Dawn to Daylight, Julian Hawthorne wrote of

Boone: “This well-known citizen, though not among those who came to Seattle at the earliest day of the city’s
history to lay here the foundations of municipal and commercial greatness, is a prominent and representative man of
the re-enforcement [sic] that came when the place was beginning her larger growth; and to this re-enforcement much
of the credit of the city’s remarkable advancement is due.”

Sources

A Volume of Memoirs and Genealogy of Representative Citizens of the City of Seattle of the County of King,
Including Biographies of Those Who Passed Away. New York and Chicago: The Lewis Publishing Company, 1903.

Hawthorne, Julian, editor. History of Washington, the Evergreen State, From Early Days to Daylight. New York:
American Historical Publishing Company, 1893.

Lange, Greg. “Written on the Occasion of the Elliott Bay Book Company’s Twentieth Anniversary in 1993.”
Database on-line. Available from http://www.elliottbaybook.com/about/globe.jsp

“Nonagenarian Kin of Famous Scout Dies in Seattle.” Seattle Post-Intelligencer. 31 October 1921, n.p. Architects’
File, Manuscripts and Special Collections, University of Washington.
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Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Location: SE corner of 1® Ave S. and Main St, on sidewalk west of 107 1 Ave. S.

Historic Name : Earl Layman Clock/ Young Credit Jewellers’ Clock Date: 1907, installed 1984,
Style: Victorian

Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 75

Description

This is a cast-iron street clock, which was moved and installed at the southeast corner of 1% Avenue South and Main
Street in 1984. It features a large round clock, with faces on two sides, facing north and south. Two light globes are
attached to each side of the clock (in the east-west direction). The clock is supported on a short, fluted column, with
a modified Corinthian capital. The short column sits on a high pedestal, with a square plan. The pedestal is divided
into three sections, with a longer middle section. All four sides of this portion of the pedestal are distinguished by
metal ornaments, in an oblong, octagonal shape.

Cultural Data

Originally called the “Young Credit Jewellers’ Clock,” it was donated by the Dean Black Family to Historic Seattle
in 1984. It was renovated and installed by Historic Seattle at its present location in 1984. It was named in honor of
Earl Layman, the City of Seattle’s first Historic Preservation Officer. It is similar to many historic clocks seen
around Seattle. Although it has historical significance, it was not originally part of the district and was relocated
there; therefore, it is non-contributing.

Source

Historic Seattle (with City of Seattle). Available from:
<http://www.ci.seattle.wa.us/Commnty/Histsea/projects/pr3.htm>

Address: 314 1" Ave S.

Historic Name : Nord Hotel Built: 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 3 Parcel #: 5247800330
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Unknown Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 76
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Description

The Nord Hotel is three stories in height with a basement. Its footprint is 60 feet by 108 feet. Its basement has a
concrete floor. Its exterior walls are of brick. On the interior, the primary structural elements of the upper floors are
wood joists, which are supported by wood frame walls and or wood or brick columns. There is only one street facing
elevation on First Avenue South. This fagade sits between the western fagade of 107 S. Main St (Marshall Walker
Block/ Globe Building) to the north and 316 1% Avenue S. (Seattle Quilt Building). The ground level is currently
divided into three sections by brick piers. The openings between piers are filled with new storefront, which includes
transom lights. The second floor has four window openings with segmental arches and the third floor four arched
openings. Brick corbelling and raised bands of brick, which mimic the shape of the window openings, emphasize the
window openings on both levels. Engaged pilasters also tie the second and third floors together visually.

Aside from the new storefront set between brick piers and the loss of the original cornice, which included a raised
triangular pediment shape centered over the main fagade, the architectural details of the building fagade appear to be
intact

Cultural Data

The building was erected in 1890. It is significant both architecturally and as an early building that was constructed
right after the Great Fire of 1889. It combines repeated arched openings with the Victorian grid, typical of many
buildings erected in the district right after the Fire of 1889. The upper floors are especially visually pleasing, but the
only exterior material is brick. The building apparently first housed the Thompson Hotel and had a fountain saloon
on the ground floor. The Nord Hotel, named in honor of Frank Nordquist, a hotel manager from 1911 to 1914,
occupied the building from 1915 to 1969.

Sources
“314 First Avenue South, Seattle, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 30 December 1977. Office
of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.
Mills, Dale Douglas. “Pacific Northwest Living.” In “Pictorial,” The Seattle Times. 18 November 1979, p 54-63.

Address: 316 1% Ave S.

Historic Name : Seattle Quilt Building/ Walker Building Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 3-4 Parcel #: 5247800335
Style: Commercial -Chicago School/ Beaux Arts- Neoclassical
Architect: Boone & Corner Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 77
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Description

This is a six story building with exterior brick walls, an interior structure of heavy timber and a basement level in
concrete. Its only street facing elevation is on First Avenue South. This fagade is divided into two major bays. It is
mainly of red brick, with ornamentation and other elements in cast stone and terra cotta. At the ground level, the bays
contain storefronts and are framed by columns clad in granite block, (probably a veneer), with very thin mortar
joints. The second, third and fourth floor bays each consist of three rectangular window openings with pivot
windows. Each bay at the second, third and fourth floors, is slightly recessed and framed by thin masonry roll
molding, a detail which the architects, Boone & Corner, also used in the Chapin/Goldsmith Building at 171 S.
Jackson Street. The top floor is an undifferentiated horizontal row of rectangular openings. Four ornamental
medallions occur in the spandrels above the top window.

The whole is topped by an ornamental cornice in cast stone and terra cotta. Frequent modillions, as well as ornate
brackets to each side of the fagade, occur below the projecting comice. The design clearly follows the Chicago
School model for warehouse buildings. It has a clear base, shaft and capital arrangement and its two recessed bays
are made up of simple openings. The whole is capped by a more ornate cornice. Although the actual ornamentation is
more Beaux Arts than Sullivanesque, the general composition has been compared to buildings by Louis Sullivan
from the same period.

Cultural Data

The Seattle Quilt Building is in many ways typical of warehouse buildings, designed in the district, at a time of
economic and industrial growth in the area and in Seattle in general, after the Klondike Gold Rush. The building was
designed by Boone and Corner in 1904-1905 for Cyrus Walker and was known as the Walker Building. Cyrus
Walker was a very successful Puget Sound lumberman, involved in real estate in Seattle. He was the head of the
Puget Mill Company in Port Ludlow and of the Pope and Talbot Lumber Company. He also developed other
properties in the district. He was the primary developer of the Marshall-Walker Block, now called the Globe
Building, two buildings north on First Avenue South. He may also be responsible for the current “Al & Bob’s
Saveway,” which is a one story building by Boone & Willcox, originally projected as a four story building and also
called the “Walker Building,” in articles in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer at the time of its construction.

The architects of the building, W .E. Boone and James Corner, formed a partnership in 1900, which lasted until 1905,
so that this building dates from the end of that partnership. Boone’s career in Seattle began around 1882 and he only
retired from architecture in 1910. His architectural career is interesting, because he had a known practice before
Seattle’s Great Fire of 1889 and was a partner in several successful offices well after the fire, a rarity among the
architects who contributed to the rebuilding of Seattle in 1889. In partnership with William H. Willcox, he designed
the original four floors of the J.M. Frink Building (or Washington Iron Works Building), now the Washington Shoe
Building. His subsequent partnership with James Corner, who had been in a previous partnership with Warren
Skillings (designed the Union Trust Buildings), was famous for the Broadway High School, now the Broadway
Performance Hall in Seattle’s Capitol Hill. (For additional information on W. E. Boone, please see the Statement of
Significance or the Cultural Data and Sources sections for the Marshall Walker Block, # 74)
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The Seattle Quilt Company, makers of down jackets and sleeping bags, first located in what is now the Globe
Building in 1924. Several years later, it moved to this building. The name of the company stuck to the second
building, hence its current name.

Sources
Bergmann, Charles A. “Correspondence and Report, Re: Seattle Quilt Building,” 1982. Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Lange, Greg. “Written on the Occasion of the Elliott Bay Book Company’s Twentieth Anniversary in 1993.”
Database on-line. Available from http://www.elliottbaybook.com/about/globe.jsp

Tobin, Carol. Downtown Seattle Walking Tours. Seattle: City of Seattle, 1985.

Address: 322 1* Ave S.

Historic Name : Capitol Brewing and Malting Company Built: 1900
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800345
Style: Commercial / Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic Mixed

Architect: Carl Alfred Breitung Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 78

Description

Formerly the Capitol Brewing and Malting Company, this is a three story building, located on the northeast corner of
First Avenue South and Jackson Street. Its main street facing elevations are on First Avenue South and Jackson
Street. The ground levels of both facades are entirely clad in stone — sandstone ~ and the upper levels mainly in buff
brick.

Jackson Street facade

The two facades are composed very differently. The longer facade on Jackson Street is symmetrically composed. It
has, at the top two levels, a major central, two-story pedimented bay, terminated by two pilasters at each side, all in
brick. The pilasters have Ionic composite floral capitals. Within the bay, at both levels, is a row of two window
openings, topped by segmental arches. Also at the top two levels, to each side of the pedimented bay are three bays,
each with a horizontal row of similar single window openings, topped by segmental arches. These openings are not
as wide as those of the central bay.

The ground level on Jackson Street, clad in stone, is distinguished by the central doorway, which has a slightly
trapezoidal stone surround, surmounted by a semi-circular arched opening, also graced by an ornamental stone
surround. The door surround’s ornamentation includes egg-and-dart banding around both openings and a bracket
ornament at the top of the arched surround. Openings to each side of the central doorway vary and do not necessarily
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align with the fenestration above, but are symmetrically placed within the wall expanses to each side of the central
bay.

First Avenue South Facade

The First Avenue S. fagade is divided into two bays. The street level, clad in stone, is divided into two by solid
looking stone pillars with plain capitals, ornamented with egg-and-dart bands. There are two storefronts sections with
transom lights between the columns. The southernmost column is set at the corner First Avenue S./ Jackson Street
corner and has a smooth shaft and is polygonal in plan. Above the ground floor, the belt-course is a projecting one
and also is decorated with egg-and-dart motifs. There is also a lion’s head at the north end. The top two floors are in
buff brick and each have two well- spaced rectangular openings with flat arches. There are horizontal bands of brick
above the third level and above a metal cornice.”

The interior of the building is the most striking interior of any building in the district and includes decorated cross-
vaulting supported on tall, slender columns.

Cultural Data

This building originally housed the Capitol Brewing and Malting Company and was built in 1900. It was designed by
architect Carl Alfred Breitung. The Capitol Brewing and Malting Company later became the Olympic Brewery.
Subsequently, the elegant interior became the home of the Tumwater Tavern. Although built as a utilitarian building,
it is an elegant Renaissance Revival building. Like its neighbors, it dates from a time of economic and industrial
growth for the original heart of Seattle, in part due to the Klondike Gold Rush. Although many of its neighbors are
also distinguished buildings, the Jackson Building stands out for the quality and originality of its design.

This building is the earliest known extant work in Seattle by Carl Alfred Breitung, who arrived in Seattle in 1900.
Breitung is often mentioned in association with a short-lived, but productive architectural partnership, formed with
Theobald Buchinger. This firm lasted from 1905 to 1907 and produced the Academy of the Holy Names (1906-07)
and the House of the Good Shepherd (1906-07), both well-known Seattle landmarks.

In general, Breitung’s work shows both knowledge of classical architecture, as reflected in this building, as well as
exposure to Central and Northern European examples. The Triangle Hotel, a Seattle landmark as well a National
Register landmark, is another famous work in the district, now a National Register landmark, produced after the
dissolution of the Breitung & Buchinger partnership. Breitung was born near Munich in 1868 and according to most
accounts, studied architecture in both Munich and Rome. He began his career in the United States in the late 1880s,
working first on the East Coast and then in Kansas City, Missouri. After the dissolution of the Breitung & Buchinger
partnership in 1907, he worked independently in Seattle, until the early 1920s, when he appears to have relocated to
San Antonio, Texas.

The Jackson Building is also famous in the history of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District.,
because it was the first building restored in the district in 1963. Architect Ralph Anderson was responsible for this
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early renovation, which occurred several years before the establishment of the district.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor Record Cards, ca. 1936 to 1972.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press,1994.

Address: 101 S. Jackson St

Historic Name : Western Dry Goods/ Wax and Raine Building Built: 1904
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 5/ Lots 1-2 Parcel: # 5247800255

Style: Commercial — Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 79

Description
101 S. Jackson St is a five story building with street facing elevations on Jackson Street and on First Avenue South.
The building has a full basement in concrete and has a footprint of roughly 120 feet by 111 feet. Exterior walls are
mainly of brick, with sandstone veneer on the First Avenue South and Jackson Street facades. Alley facing walls are
of red brick.

The Jackson Street facade is divided into five bays. It consists of storefronts with transom lights at the ground level.
The First Avenue South elevation is divided into six bays, and continues the Jackson Street storefront in its north
bay. On both facades, the second, third and fourth floors have wide trabeated openings. A projecting stone belt-
course occurs above the ground floor level and another just above the fourth floor windows. Between the first and
second belt course, each vertical bay is slightly recessed and emphasized at the top by dentils or repeated stone
squares, just below the second belt course. The top level of the facades reads as a loggia, with each bay composed of
a horizontal row of three separate trabeated openings, framed by short columns (rectangular in plan), with simple
bases and capitals. Engaged pilasters in the same design are set at the corners of the facades. The stone cladding also
turns the corner from Jackson Street to the east facade and stops a few feet in, where red brick takes over. Topping
both facades is a generous projecting cornice in stone with a row of frequent modillions below.

The First Avenue South elevation is detailed in the same manner as the Jackson Street fagade on the floors above the
ground level. The ground level has the following openings: the north bay has storefront; following this are two
recessed bays, each with two smaller rectangular windows with stone sills. The fourth and fifth bays are mainly
storefront and the sixth bay (to the south) has a single opening again with a stone sill.

The building stands out in the simplicity and unity of its classical design and also in the relative richness of its
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cladding, since the building is entirely clad on Jackson Street as well as First Avenue in stone. Aside from changes
at the storefront level, the restoration by NBBJ done in 1982, has retained the historic appearance of the building.
The storefronts in the fourth and fifth bays on First Avenue South are reconstructions, based on the original
storefronts, as is the lower section of the north bay storefront, in addition to at least one of the storefronts and the
entry on Jackson Street.

Cultural Data

Now commonly known as the Heritage Building, 101 S. Jackson St was built as a warehouse in 1904. W. C. Talbot
and Cyrus Walker, then heads of the Pope and Talbot Lumber Company, purchased the lot in 1899 and
commissioned the building. The building remained in Pope and Talbot’s hands until 1943. Cyrus Walker, a very
successful Puget Sound lumberman, was involved in real estate in Seattle. He was the head of the Puget Mill
Company (founded in 1852) in Port Ludlow and later the head of the larger and related Pope and Talbot Lumber
Company. He also developed other properties in the area. He was the primary developer of the Marshall-Walker
Building, now called the Globe Building and of the Seattle Quilt Building (originally the Walker Building), on First
Avenue South, not far from this building. He may also be responsible for the current “Al & Bob’s Saveway,” which
is a one story building by Boone & Willcox, originally projected as a four story building and also called the “Walker
Building,” in articles in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, at the time of its construction.

By 1914, Welford Beaton’s The City That Made Itself shows a picture of the building with a caption showing that
the building was known by the name of its tenant, the Western Dry Goods Company. The building was later known
as the “Wax and Raine Building” and the “Standard Brands Building.” It continued to house the “Wax & Raine
Standard Brands Store,” an outlet for “paint, linoleum, carpet, tile, formica, vinyl and ceramic tile,” in its ground
level commercial space off Jackson Street into the 1960s.

Sources
Beaton, Welford. The City That Made Itself, A Literary and Pictorial Record of the Building of Seattle. Seattle:
Terminal Publishing Company, 1914.

“Heritage Building — 101 South Jackson Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application — Part 1,” 17
May,1982.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, especially pages 199, 204, and p 363, note 92.
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“Pope and Talbot, Our Company History.” Database on-line. Available from
| <http://www.poptal.com/about/history.htm/>

Address: 100 S. King St

Historic Name : Westland Building/ Hambaca Building/ Tempco Quilters Built: 1904

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 5/ Lots 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800300

Style: Commercial — Chicago School/ Beaux Arts Architect: Saunders & Lawton Builder: Not known
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 80

Description

This is a six story building, rectangular in plan and clad in gray brick. The interior structure is heavy timber post and
beam, which is visible in the present two-story lobby off King Street. The building’s main elevations face west on
First Avenue South and south on King Street. The King Street elevation has a symmetrical composition and a wide
two-story central entrance. To each side of the entrance are two bays, each consisting of two levels of rectangular
windows. On the interior, the lower level windows correspond to spaces which are slightly below grade. Each
window opening is filled with a wooden frame with a horizontal of row of four windows. A solid stone belt course
separates the two-story base of the building from the upper levels.

The four upper floors of the central bay are defined by four-story brick pilasters with a base and a simplified capital,
based on the Doric order, but with, at the center of the capital, a square emblem with three large hanging dentils.
Each capital is topped by a plain circular medallion attached to the brick wall behind it. A continuous belt course
runs the length of the elevation just above the cushion of the capital. Between the pilasters and immediately to each
side of them, the upper level bays are all the same, a row of four double-hung windows in a wooden frame. To each
side of the corner bays, which consist of pairs of single double-hung windows, is a stone shield motif set below the
top belt course.

Capping the fagade is a projecting cornice with big modillions. Each modillion “face,” (parallel to the ground),
has a diamond shape ornament. Small circular shapes in relief appear between the modillions on the band that runs
the length of the fagade.

The First Avenue South elevation is also five bays wide and almost identical on the upper levels to the King Street
elevation. At the ground level, there is an entrance on the north bay.

The building was restored in 1978. An extant photo, which looks as though it is from the 1960s or 1970s, as well as
an earlier 1930s photo, shows that the current ground floor window openings had garage doors and that there was no
major central entrance on King Street. Aside from this, changes to the building’s exterior seem minor.
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Cultural Data

Currently and historically called the Westland Building, 100 S. King St was designed by the architectural firm of
Saunders and Lawton in 1907. The building is typical of warehouse buildings constructed in the same period, as a
result of an economic upswing, initially caused by the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-98 and the railroads. It also
stands out somewhat because of its idiosyncratic ornament.

The building has had other historical names. These include the “Hambaca Building,” and the “Tempco Quilters
Building.” The first of these clearly refers to Albert Hambach, who commissioned the building.

Albert Hambach was a successful wholesale dealer in steam and plumbing supplies and had owned property or
commissioned buildings in the district since 1898. In fact, he is listed in local directories in 1898 at an address on
Western Avenue. In 1905, a warehouse building designed by Josenhans and Allan at 212 Second Avenue/313
Second Avenue Extension, between 2™ Avenue and 2™ Avenue Extension was built for Hambach (It later became
Northwest Supply Company and in the 1920s, as a result of the Second Avenue Extension, acquired a new fagade by
no other than Lawton and Moldenhour). In 1913, the Hambach Building, located next to the Seller Building and
directly across the street from the Westland Building was also completed.

The architects of this building were responsible for the design of many of the warehouse buildings in the district
from the same period. The Saunders and Lawton partnership was formed in 1898, when Charles Saunders joined
with his former draftsman, George Lawton. The Westland Building is not only typical of the warehouse buildings
produced in the same neighborhood - buildings with a strong “base,” “shaft” and prominent cornice, following the
Chicago School model, with simple repeated bays - but it also has some fairly distinctive ornament. It is a definite
departure from the works associated with Saunders from the 1890s, when he was in partnership with E. W. Houghton
or working independently. The building, although simple in some ways, is also clearly a product of a few more years
of experience and maturity. (For a description of Saunders’ early career and his partnership with E. W. Houghton,
please see the Cultural Data section for the Bailey Block/ Broderick Building at 619 2™ Ave - # 120 - or the
Statement of Significance).

Sources

Lentz, Florence K.“Hambach Warehouse — NW Supply- 212 Second Avenue, Historic Preservation Certification,
Part 1,” 28 August 2003.

R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
especially p 168-169.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor, Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects, especially p 166-175.
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Address: 500 1" Ave S./ 101 S. King St

Historic Names: Mueller Wholesale Block/ Norfin Building Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 326/ Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666206830
Style: Commercial/ Modern/ Post-Modern Architect: F. A. Sexton Builder: -
Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 81

Description

The original portion of the building consists of the first four stories of the present structure. The building footprint is
approximately 79 feet by 180 feet. The original structure combined reinforced concrete with interior steel frame
construction over wood piling. On the exterior, the original walls have a brick veneer. There is frontage along First
Avenue, King Street and Occidental Avenue. These elevations are divided vertically by recessed bays, which
typically accentuate individual pairs of double-hung windows with cast-stone headers and sandstone sills, at each
floor. A central entry bay on King Street, however, is slightly wider and has three windows per floor. The base of the
building, which features trabeated storefront windows on King Street and on First Avenue, is emphasized by a glazed
terra-cotta belt-course with dentil moldings. The east elevation on Occidental Avenue includes multi-light, industrial
sash windows without headers.

The building was designed so that three floors could be added. This was finally taken advantage of in 1990-1991,
when two additional stories were added. As a result, the original terra-cotta cornice, which includes egg and dart
molding, now acts as a belt-course. The 1990-1991 two-story addition attempts to replicate the composition and
detailing of the original bays, but is faced in dryvit. There is also a somewhat Post-Modern terminating cornice,
which rises over the central entry bay to form a rectilinear parapet crest. At the ground level, storefront windows and
doors have also been altered.

Cultural Data

The building was designed by architect F. A. Sexton and completed in 1910. It replaced several two and three story
frame lodgings with restaurants. This building is typical of the kind of warehouse buildings that were constructed at
a time of explosive growth for Seattle’s original commercial center. It was built for warehouse and wholesale use
with steam heat, electric freight hoists and a sprinkler system. This may have been one of the last parcels on the
block to be developed, since, for a long time, the Northern Pacific Railroad tracks also crossed the site. The building,
formerly known as the Mueller Wholesale Block, was commissioned by John Mueller, former Mayor of Georgetown
and vice-president of the Seattle Brewing and Malting Company. F. A. Sexton was the architect of the distinctive
Annie Russell House, of numerous apartment buildings in the First Hill and Capitol Hill neighborhoods and of the
Georgetown City Hall, now all in Seattle. Subsequently the building was known as the Norfin Building and then
housed the local DSHS, the Department of Social and Health Services.

The building was included in the 1976 Amendment to the National Register Historic District Nomination and in the
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1986 Boundary Increase for the National Historic District. Because of the significant addition of two floors to the
building and changes to the storefrontage, the building is considered historic, non-contributing.

Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of Seattle from the Earliest Settlement to the Present Time. Chicago: S. J. Clarke
Publishing Company, 1916, Vol. 3. p 48-49.

Potter, Elizabeth Walton.“Pioneer Square Historic District Expansion Amendment.” December 1976.

“DSHS Building, formerly Norfin Building, 101 King Street, Seattle, Historic Preservation Application, Part 1.” 20
August 2001. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington,
Microfiche File.

City of Seattle, Department of Planning and Development, Microfiche Library (Especially, drawings and “white
cards.”)

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 6 March 1910.

Address: 508-534 1% Ave S.

Historic Names: Seattle Security Company Building/ Norfin Warehouse Built: 1909
Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 2-3-4-5-6-7 Parcel # 7666206831
Style: Commercial Architect: Lohman and Place Builder: David Dow

Classification: Historic Non- Contributing Site ID #: 82

Description

This is a four story building, with exterior walls clad in brick and a flat roof. It is rectangular in plan with a footprint
of 150 feet by 290 feet. The main, 290 foot west facade along First Avenue South, (as well as the east fagade), is
divided into fourteen bays. The ground level consists of a series of storefronts, with very high transom windows,
corresponding to a mezzanine level. The storefront bays are separated by thin cast-iron columns with simple capitals.
The top three floors consist of corresponding bays, clad in brick in a Flemish Bond pattern, and separated by piers.
Former window openings are trabeated, but the openings no longer hold windows. At the top three floors, a new
exterior west wall of what are now apartment units has been set inside the original exterior wall, and behind the
extant trabeated openings, creating a series of enclosed loggias. At the time of initial construction, no cornice was
installed, because the building was designed to allow a three story addition.

The recent remodel of the building into a condominium with apartment units has kept the western storefronts and the
general sense of the top floors, including the trabeated openings. Historic photos reveal that the transoms of the west
elevation storefront had prism lights, which are no longer extant. They also show the typical window configuration,
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which included a central pivoting window, flanked by a double-hung window to each side. Other major changes have
occurred behind the original exterior west fagade. A penthouse level, mostly not visible from the street, has also been
added. The back, eastern elevation has also been considerably modernized.

Cultural Data

This building was designed as a “mammoth wholesale block™ in 1909 by architects Lohman and Place and built by
contractor, David Dow. The building dates from a time of explosive economic and physical growth for the original
commercial district, which expanded with, in particular, the construction of many well-designed warehouse
buildings. The Seattle Security Company, who commissioned the building, had previously developed property in the
district. The structure was planned to be three stories taller than built and was promoted as the largest wholesale
building in the district. It was located immediately adjacent to the freight yards and for a time, conveniently next to a
rail spur, for easy shipping and receiving. The rail spur was in the location of the former Kaufman Warehouse
Building, (at 538 First Ave S), completed the following year. The Seattle Security Company Building also included
modern steel rolling shutters at the delivery bays on the east elevation, as well as ten freight elevators.

Architects Lohman and Place are relatively obscure, although they are believed to have designed industrial projects
around Lake Union. David Dow was a prominent contractor and Seattle citizen between the 1890s and his death in
the 1920s. He is described in Clarence Bagley’s History of King County and came from a family of well-known
Seattle contractors, which included his sons, Andrew and Dwight, as well as his brother Matthew. He also built the
warehouse at 548 First Avenue South, in addition to buildings all over Seattle.

Now known as the Florentine, and remodeled into condominium apartments, the building has sustained major and
visible changes on its exterior. Because of these changes, and particularly because of the redesign of the extant
window openings on the main, western facade into loggias and the loss of significant detail at the storefront level, the
building is considered, historic, non-contributing.

Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of King County. Chicago: S. J. Clarke, 1929.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

City of Seattle, Department of Planning and Development, Microfiche Library.
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Address: 538 1" Ave S.

Historic Names: Kaufman Warehouse Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lot 7 Parcel # 7666206859
Style: Commercial Architect: W. P. White Builder: F. G. Combs
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 83

Description

This is a one story building with a reinforced concrete structure. It has a flat roof with parapet. It is very narrow, 17
2 feet fronting on the street (by 150 feet), and appears as a diminutive structure. It is located to the south of the
former Seattle Security Company Building / Florentine Apartments at 504-538 First Avenue South. The building’s
west facade included large display windows and a door with transoms at the ground level. The mezzanine level,
multi-pane transom, the terra cotta frame and sign band are original and still extant. The east elevation has been
altered.

Cultural Data

The building was formerly the Kaufman Warehouse. Jacob Kaufman commissioned the one-story building with the
intention of adding three floors. The warehouse was designed by architect W. P. White and completed in 1910. W. P.
White was an active architect in his day, from 1902 to 1922. He designed many apartment buildings and hotels in
Seattle, including the Kinnear Apartments (1907-08), the Astor Hotel (1909) and the Calhoun Hotel (1909-10). The
contractor was F. G. Combs. The diminutive seventeen and a half foot width of the building relates to the fact that
this was previously the location of a railroad spur that had run through this site, since before 1893. This appears to be
the very railroad spur that originally made the location of the mammoth warehouse just to the north, and constructed
the year before, so desirable.

Sources
Krafft, Katheryn Hills, “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December,
1987 and approved 6 May, 1988.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994, p 353.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.
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Address: 542 1% Ave S.

Historic Names: George Hoffman’s Carriage Factory/ Washington Shoe Company Building Built: 1903
Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 7-8 Parcel #: 7666206851

Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Megath and Duhamel

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 84

Description

This is a three story building with exterior brick walls. Its footprint is 90 feet by 150 feet. It has a flat roof with
parapet. It has a two-part main west facade on First Avenue South with a back, east fagade. The main fagade is
divided into four bays, that vary slightly in width and window placement. It also currently painted beige. The ground
floor consists of storefronts with transoms, separated by simple columns. The typical second floor bay consists of
three segmental openings, with varying amounts of space between them. The top floor bays are organized with
corresponding trabeated openings. Other features include continuous stone sills and double-hung windows. The
facade is topped by a corbelled brick comice. The rear elevation, clearly undergoing changes as of this writing, is
slightly less regular, but still combines wide trabeated openings at the first floor, segmental openings arranged in
groups of three at the second level and trabeated openings at the third level. Here the cladding is red brick.

Cultural Data

542 First Avenue South was completed in 1903, during the early part of the decade, 1900-1910, when both the
district and Seattle experienced explosive economic and physical growth. This is one of the earliest masonry
structures to be built this far south, during a time when this portion of the old planked First Avenue and the adjacent
tidelands were still being filled. George W. Hoffman commissioned builders Megath and Duhamel to erect the
building. Hoffman had sold his blacksmith shop in 1902 to construct this building on leased ground. He used the
building first as a carriage factory and blacksmith shop. Eventually it evolved into an auto part and body
manufacturing company. More recently, the building has been commonly known as the Washington Shoe Company
Building.

Sources
Bagley, Clarence. History of Seattle from the Earliest Settlement to the Present Time. Chicago: The S. J. Clarke

Publishing Company, 1916.

City of Seattle, Department of Development and Planning (formerly DCLU), Microfilm records.
Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.
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Address: 548 1* Ave S.

Historic Names: Carstens Bros. Cold Storage Built: 1904

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 327/ Lots 8-9-10 Parcel # 7666206855
Style: Commercial Architect: Unknown Builder: David Dow

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 85

Description

548 First Avenue South is a four story building with exterior brick walls and a rectangular floor plan. It has frontage
on First Avenue South and on Occidental Avenue South. Both elevations exhibit a two-part vertical block facade
composition. Both have or had wide trabeated openings on the first level, with storefronts on the First Avenue fagade
and delivery door openings on the back elevation on Occidental Avenue South. Above the first level, facades are
divided into four equal bays with double-hung windows grouped in sets of four at each level. Raised brick surrounds
frame and accentuate each window. On the First Avenue South elevation, the ground floor storefronts have been
filled in for several years, with only the transom still visible as a continuous ribbon window, but most detailing,
particularly on the upper floors of both facades seems to be intact.

Cultural Data

This historically significant property was completed in 1904, during the early part of the decade, 1900-1910, when
both the district and Seattle experienced explosive economic and physical growth. It was during this time that the old
planked First Avenue and the adjacent tidelands were filled to facilitate industrial expansion and new transportation
systems. This building is one of the earliest masonry structures to be built this far south. Seattle Security Company,
also responsible for the “mammoth warehouse™ at 508-534 First Avenue, later in 1909, commissioned builder David
Dow to construct this building for the Carstens’ Packing Company and related cold storage. The upper three floors
were used for cold storage, while beef and pork packing took place in the basement. Several other packing
companies were located in the district. The building currently houses Nordic Cold Storage.

The builder, David Dow, was a prominent contractor and Seattle citizen between the 1890s and his death in the
1920s. He is described in Clarence Bagley’s History of King County and came from a family of well-known Seattle
contractors, which included his sons, Andrew and Dwight, as well as his brother Matthew. He was also the
contractor for the “mammoth warehouse” at 548 First Avenue South, and for buildings all over Seattle.

Sources

Bagley, Clarence. History of King County. Chicago: S. J. Clarke, 1929.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills, “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December,
1987 and approved 6 May, 1988.

City of Seattle, Department of Development and Planning (formerly DCLU), Microfilm records.
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Address: 558 17 Ave S.

Historic Names: E. N. Fobes Building Built: 1908; Addition 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 326/ Lots 10-11 Parcel #: 7666206865
Style: Commercial / Arts and Crafts

Architect: A. Warren Gould/ Gould and Champney Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 86

Description

This is a five story building with a reinforced concrete structure and exterior stucco on its main, west fagade on First
Avenue South. Its footprint is 43 feet by 150 feet. There are two 43 foot elevations, that front the street: the main
facade on First Avenue South and the east facing, back elevation on Occidental Avenue South. The First Avenue
South fagade has a two-part block composition, broken up into two vertical bays. Notable features include transom
prism lights and Moravian tile ornament throughout the facade. The ground floor has intact storefronts with transom
lights and side entries. Above a belt-course, on each of the upper floors, a typical bay consists of a group of four
horizontal pivoting windows with transom lights. The upper floors are surmounted by a sheet metal cornice and a
raised parapet, which rises over the mainly flat roof. There is a mosaic tile sign for “Fobes Electric Supply” at the
south entry. The more utilitarian back elevation has trabeated openings, with four over four, double-hung windows.

Cultural Data

This historically significant property was first completed in 1908, and then added to in 1910. As is typical of many
speculative real estate ventures in this area, the building was designed to be seven stories tall. At first, only three
stories were built, and then two were added subsequently, but the full seven stories were never built. It was erected
during the decade that runs from 1900 to 1910, when both the district and Seattle experienced explosive economic
and physical growth. The building was designed by A. Warren Gould, when he was in the partnership of Gould and
Champney, as a “substantial wholesale building” for the Fobes Electrical Supply Company, founded around 1895.
Gould was associated with E. N. Fobes, the head of that company on other projects, including the American Savings
Bank and Trust Building, for which the Fobes Electrical Company supplied electricity.

Augustus Warren Gould was an important Seattle architect in his day, whose work is still recognized. He was born in
Nova Scotia and may have received instruction at MIT, although there are no real records of his education. He began
his career as a contractor in Boston, but turned to architecture in the late 1890s. He arrived in Seattle in 1903. His
architectural career in Seattle was thriving but varied. It included: an almost three-year partnership with Edward
Frere Champney (beginning in 1909), civic activism including membership in the Municipal Plans Commission and
support of the Bogue Plan, a master plan which would have moved downtown Seattle to an area north of its location
at the time. Gould’s colorful career also included expulsion from the American Institute of Architects (ALA), which
accused him of dishonest practices in procuring the City-County Building (now King County Courthhouse) project.
This did not deter A. W. Gould from producing the designs for many notable Seattle buildings, not only the first six
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stories of the King County Courthouse (1916), but also the terra-cotta-clad Arctic Building in downtown Seattle. He
became President of the Washington State Society of Architects, an AIA rival, in 1917. He died in 1922.

Sources
City of Seattle, Department of Development and Planning, (formerly DCLU), Microfilm records.

City of Seattle, Office of Historic Preservation, Department of Neighborhoods, Files.
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

Andersen, Dennis. “Augustus Warren Gould.” Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Ochsner,
Jeffrey, editor. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 1994, p 108-113.

Potter, Elizabeth Walton.“Pioneer Square Historic District Expansion Amendment.” December 1976.

The County-City Building, Seattle Municipal Archives, City Hall Exhibit.” n.d. Database on-line. Available from
http.//www cityofseattle.net/City Archives/Resources/CityHall/CCbuilding htm

Address: 562 1% Ave S.

Historic Names: Bornstein & Sons Warehouse Built: 1909

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 326/ Lot 11 Parcel # 7666206865
Style: Commercial- Chicago School

Architect: Josenhans and Allan? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 87

Description

This is a seven story building with frontage on First Avenue South and on Occidental Way South. Its footprint is 30
feet by 150 feet. It has a reinforced concrete and steel structure with exterior brick cladding on the main First'Avenue
South fagade and the east facing, back elevation. The 30 foot First Avenue S. fagade has a two part composition and
is typical of Chicago School influenced warehouse buildings. It consists of one single bay, which is slightly recessed
above the ground level. The ground level consists of storefront, framed by two original cast-iron pilasters. The upper
floor bays are framed by slightly projecting piers. At each level, there is one wide, trabeated opening with a cast-
stone sill and a header course emphasizing the top of the opening. Each opening contains four large vertically
pivoting windows with transom lights. The original sheet metal cornice and masonry parapet pier extensions, which
rose over the flat roof, have been removed. The rear elevation includes rectangular openings with intact multiple-
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light sash, as well as delivery bays.

Cultural Data

This historically significant property was first completed in 1909. It was built at the end of the decade that runs from
1900 to 1910, when both the district and Seattle experienced explosive economic and physical growth. This
warehouse was built for Julius Bornstein, one of Seattle’s earliest merchants. Around 1885, Bornstein established
one of Seattle’s first department stores, the Golden Bazaar, which was destroyed in the Great Fire of 1889. The
business was rebuilt after the fire and in 1909, the company branched out into a wholesale business which operated
out of this warehouse building. The company provided department store supplies throughout the Northwest and
Alaska. The warehouse building is attributed to the Seattle architectural firm of Josenhans and Allan, also
responsible for the Hambach Warehouse at 312 Second Avenue Extension and the design of the base of the Drexel
Hotel at 519 3™ Avenue in the historic district.

Josenhans later became a City of Seattle superintendent of public works. His early experience in the office of
William LeBaron Jenney explains his familiarity with the Chicago School, as shown in this building, if, in fact, the
firm of Josenhans and Allan is the designer. While less seems to be known about Norris Best Allan, there are more
details concerning Josenhans’ career. Timotheus Josenhans was born in Wurttemberg, Germany. He worked briefly
for William LeBaron Jenney and then as a railroad construction engineer in Chicago. He arrived in Oregon in 1880
and worked as draftsman in Portland for Joseph Sherwin and Warren Williams. By 1888, he had moved to Seattle
and was a draftsman in the office of Hermann Steinmann, the architect of the Terry and Kittinger Building, now
known as the Delmar in Pioneer Square. Between 1888 and 1889, he designed powerhouses for Seattle’s electric
railways. He formed a partnership with James Stephen which lasted from 1894 and 1897. Josenhans and Allan are
also responsible for Parrington Hall on the University of Washington Campus (1903-04). The partnership lasted until
1912.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

Ochsner, Jeffrey Karl, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Historical Guide to the Architects. Seattle and
London: University of Washington Press, 1994.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 10 November 1914, p 2.
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Address: 568 1* Ave S.

Historic Names: Provident Building Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 326/ Lot 11-12 Parcel #: 7666206871
Style: Commercial- Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 88

Description

The Provident Building is irregular in plan, with a major facade fronting on First Avenue South, with one bay
slightly angled from it, as well as a more utilitarian elevation along Occidental Way South. The building structure
combines reinforced concrete and heavy timber interior columns and beams. The First Avenue South fagade, clad in
red brick, has a two-part vertical block composition. The fagade is divided into six bays, five of which front directly
on First Avenue South, with the sixth bay facing Railroad Way at an obtuse angle. The fagade is modestly
ornamented, with the spandrel panels framed by brickwork and diamond pattern tiles. Simple rectangular window
openings include large vertical pivot type sash in sets of two. Mezzanine level windows have been restored. There is
an original entrance at the center bay, with an original sign inscribed with the words “Provident” above it. A simple
brick cornice has been removed. The more utilitarian rear elevation has sustained minor alterations and a new coat of
beige paint.

Cultural Data

Designed in the Chicago School Commercial style as a wholesale warehouse by the Seattle architectural partnership
of Saunders and Lawton, the Provident Building was completed in 1910. It is typical of warehouses erected in the
neighborhood, particularly between 1900 and 1910, when both the district and Seattle experienced explosive
economic and physical growth. The Saunders and Lawton partnership was formed in 1898 by Charles Saunders and
his former draftsman, George Lawton. Saunders and Lawton were responsible for other warehouse buildings in the
the district, including: the Norton Building of 1904 at 206 3™ Ave S, the Mottman Building of 1906 at 307 3" Ave S,
the former Manufacturers’ Exchange Building of 1906 at 419 Occidental Ave. S, the Westland Building of 1907 at
100 S. King St, and somewhat later, the Polson Building of 1910 at 61 Columbia Street. Saunders and Lawton were
also supervising architects on the construction of Eames and Young’s Beaux Arts Alaska Building of 1904. For
additional information on Charles Saunders, please see the Context Statement or the Cultural Data section for the
Terry Denny Building at 109 1*' Avenue South, Field No. 33.

Sources

City of Seattle, Department of Planning and Development, Microfilm Records.

City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files (photo).

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.
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Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

“Provident Building, 568 First Avenue South, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1.” 23 May 2001
(information on structure).

Sanborn Insurance Map, 1916.

Address: 590 1° Ave S.

Historic Names: Seattle Plumbing Company Building/ Old Johnson’s Plumbing Building Built: 1903
Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 326/ Lot 13-15 Parcel # 7666206880

Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 89

Description

This two-story building is trapezoidal in plan, (almost triangular), with a longer, southwest facing, street frontage
along Railroad Avenue, as well as a recessed section toward the south end of that elevation. There is also an
Occidental Way South elevation and a short, south elevation of one bay. On all these elevations, the building
presents a one-part block fagade composition. There is a continuous stone watertable at the base of the building and a
continuous belt-course in brick that ties together the stone sills of the second story openings. In general, window
openings are trabeated.

There is double-hung sash, which appears to be intact, at the second floor of all three elevations, while several lower
level openings, particularly at the south end of the building, have been filled in. The original formal entrance on the
southwest elevation along Railroad Avenue has staggered surrounds in buff stone. The building appears to have been
originally divided into two separate warehouses, located on the east and west side of the structure. The original
projecting sheet metal cornice has been removed.

Cultural Data

This historically significant property was built in 1903, during the early part of the decade, 1900 to 1910, when both
the district and Seattle experienced explosive economic and physical growth. This is one of the earliest masonry
structures to be built this far south, during a time when this portion of the old planked First Avenue and the adjacent
tidelands were still being filled.

The striking trapezoidal shape of the building was determined by the siting of Railroad Avenue and of the spur
trackage intended for the future rail linkage to the waterfront. The Sanborn Insurance Map of 1904 shows that
tenants were the Duncan, Carrigan and Hayden Company, who supplied hardware and George Tay, whose specialty




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQuARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 147 of 289

was plumbing supplies. By 1916, the Seattle Plumbing Company occupied the entire building. Later on, the building
was also commonly known as Old Johnson’s Plumbing Building. Original building permit records were not available
and there is no architect of record.

Sources
City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files (photo)

Krafft, Katheryn Hills. “Pioneer Square — Skid Road Historic District (Boundary Increase),” submitted 15 December
1987 and approved 6 May 1988.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

“Sanborn Insurance Map,” 1904.

Address: 109 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Sanderson Block/ Merchant’s Café Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lot 8 Parcel: # 5247800550
Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian
Architect: W. E. Boone Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 90

Description

109 Yesler Way, known as the “Sanderson Block,” in its day, is a three story building with a basement level. The
building’s exterior walls are of unreinforced brick masonry. It is rectangular in plan, approximately 29°-6 by 60°.
There is one main street facing elevation fagade Yesler Way. On the street level, the building has a recessed glazed
storefront, with, above it, a marquee that runs the length of the building fagade. Above the marquee is a glazed
clerestory of multi-colored leaded glass. This glazing boasts an advertisement: “Havana Cigars LOVERA five
cents.” Based on photographs from 1929 and 1936, this sign was already part of the building at least by the late
1920s. A photograph from 1911 shows advertisement in the glazing for Olympia Beer.

On the second and third floors, the facade is divided into four bays, further emphasized by engaged brick pilasters
and decorative corbelled brickwork above the windows. The fagade is also divided by horizontal bands in cast-stone,
which emphasize the various levels of the building. Between the second and third floors, two decorative cast stone
bands delineate the spandrels, which are decorated by cast- stone rectangles emphasizing the window bays. Above
the third level, an additional horizontal corbelled band marks the transition to another horizontal expanse of wall,
also punctuated by smaller cast-stone rectangles. Based on photographs from the 1930s, a classically inspired cast-
stone cornice sat above this wall, over which was a decorative brick parapet wall. The original decorative parapet
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wall has been replaced by concrete wall and much of the original cornice is gone, a casualty of the 1949 earthquake.

This ground floor interior, the Merchant’s Café, is also noteworthy for its elegantly carved thirty foot “bar,” which
includes short columns with lonic Composite capitals. The “bar” was brought around Cape Horn,(much like the
“bar” on the ground floor restaurant space of the Howard Building), on a schooner in the late 1800s. The room’s
metal pressed ceiling is also of note. Its decorative elements include repeated squares, which give the impression of a
caisson ceiling and a wide and striking variety of intricate garland shapes, floral motifs and geometric patterns, in
addition to an ornamental cove ceiling.

Cultural Data

In terms of style, 109 Yesler Way’s exterior is a pared down version of the Victorian style, with elements of
Richardsonian Romanesque and early Chicago School. It was built in 1889-1890 right after the Great Fire of 1889.
Known as the Sanderson Block, when it was built, it was designed by W. E. Boone. Its restaurant, the Merchant’s
Café, considered the oldest standing restaurant in Seattle, is said to have been in continuous use, since its founding in
1890. The top floors were originally designed as offices, but were subsequently used as a hotel. For more
information on W. E. Boone, his early career before the Fire of 1889 and right after it, please see the Cultural Data
section for 107 S. Main Street or the Statement of Significance.

Sources
Seattle Post-Intelligencer, S July 1889, 8, col.1; 10 July 1889, 4, col. 6; “Yesler Avenue Activity.” 31 July 1889.

Kovalenko Hale Architects (Link, Karin), “Merchant’s Café Building, 109 Yesler Way, Historic Preservation
Certification Application, Parts 1 and 2, 1999.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Address:111 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Padden Block/ Bohemian Café/ Eagle Cafe Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lot 8 Parcel: # 5247800545

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 91
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Description

This is a three story building with brick walls. It has a high trabeated storefront level, topped by two levels that
consist of two vertical recessed bays, with corbelling at the top. Each vertical bay has simple, trabeated window
openings. It is consistent in scale and style with its neighbors, the Korn Building and the Merchant’s Café Building,
although it is much simpler.

Cultural Data

Situated between the Korn Block of 1889, designed by architect Elmer Fisher and the former Sanderson Block, now
the Merchant’s Café Building, which was designed by local architect W. E. Boone, the building was designed in
1890 by Elmer Fisher. It is thought to have been designed for Mary McDonald, who died in 1898. Early on, it was
also known as the Padden Block. Subsequently, it was known for a long time as the Bohemian Café and the Eagle
Café. It is a small, simple, utilitarian “filler” building, with the signs of its 1890 construction mainly visible on its
upper floors. Despite this, with the Korn Block to the east and the former Sanderson Block to the west, the Mary
McDonald Building/ Padden Block contributes to the historic fabric of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National
Historic District. It is one of many buildings designed by Fisher and erected after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889. (
For information on Elmer Fisher, please see the Cultural Data section on the Pioneer Building at 606 1st Ave or the
Statement of Significance)

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 119 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Korn Block/ Korn Building Built: 1889

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lot & Parcel #: 5247800545
Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian
Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 92

Description

The Korn Building at 101 Occidental Avenue South is a three story brick clad building whose parapet on the north
elevation is partially missing. Other materials are stone trim and wood, particularly in the spandrels between the
second and third floors. The building is almost rectangular in plan, although it has a short angled fagade between
Occidental Avenue South and Yesler Way. The two other main street elevations occur to the north on Yesler Way
and to the east on Occidental Avenue South.
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The Yesler Way facade is divided into four bays with two central bays which are wider than the side bays. The
ground level has trabeated storefront openings of varying heights. The storefronts are not original. More distinctive
are the second and third floor portions of this north elevation. At the second level the fenestration of the side bays
consists of a series of two elongated rectangular, double-hung windows. These flank the two central bays, which
each consist of similar windows set in groups of three. Each bay is continued at the third level by arched window
openings, with a stone molding outlining the arch of each opening. The spandrels between the second and third floor
windows are of wood with panels inset with square and rectangular shapes.

An angled elevation between Yesler Way and Occidental Avenue S. is one bay, with a stuccoed ground floor and
rectilinear openings (later insertion). There is a similar vertical bay with a rectilinear opening at the second level and
an arched opening at the third level.

The Occidental Avenue South Elevation also has rectangular storefront openings at the ground level. The second and
third levels have two wider central bays with the distinctive wood window frames. These are divided into three
generous window openings at each level. They are flanked by the thinner bay configuration, also seen on the Yesler
Way elevation, although the top window of the north bay is rectangular.

The openings of the first level of the building have clearly been subjected to much more recent alterations. At this
point, it is not clear if galvanized iron, mentioned in an 1889 article in the Seattle Post Intelligencer, was used in the
design in the end, but judging from a contemporary drawing, it seems likely that the iron may have been used in the
original storefronts at the ground level. The upper floors are reasonably intact, except for the loss of the cornice,
possibly of brick and concrete, which continued the grid of the bays below and had a raised portion over the smaller
angled facade between Occidental Avenue S. and Yesler Way.

Cultural Data

The Korn Building was designed by Elmer Fisher in 1889 for Moses Kom to replace an earlier building that had
been destroyed during the Great Fire of 1889. In fact, this is one of the first commissions that Fisher received after
the Great Fire. The building was originally planned as a two-story building and was described as such in the June
18, 1889 issue of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer; however in the August 1, 1889 issue, it became clear that it was to be
a three-story building. The second article spoke very positively of the future building: “ A glance at the plans in
Architect’s Fisher’s office show that the building will present a much handsomer appearance than the old structure.
There will be more ornamentation, terra cotta, stone and galvanized iron being literally distributed over the front
elevations.”

This new version of the Korn building had a plan that was similar to the older Korn Building, but its elevations were
more paired down than most of the buildings designed by Fisher or other architects before the fire. The tendency to
grid the elevations shows vestiges of the Victorian tendency in Fisher’s work; but the relatively paired down
ornamentation and the repetitive arches suggest an awareness of the increasingly popular American version of
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Romanesque Revival, popularized in the work of H.H. Richardson and others. The new building Ordinance No.1147
also encouraged less ornamentation: It mainly required stone and brick and non-combustible exterior materials,
which did not lend themselves to the fussier wood ornamentation of some of the pre-fire wood buildings; for
instance, most post-fire buildings would not have the wooden spandrels between the second and third floors that the
Korn Building has.

While the Korn Building is simpler and now makes a very different impression, it resembles a less solid version of
the New England Hotel, (also designed by Fisher in 1889-1890), because of the following characteristics: the
gridlike divisions of the elevation, the repeated use of arches, the treatment of the corner elevation and the raised
parapet which used to rise above it. The New England Hotel also stands on a corner- the northwest corner of Main
and First Avenue South.

Moses Korn, who ran Korn Druggists, was an important entrepreneur before and after the Fire of 1889. He was also
caught up in the controversy over the widening and raising of the streets, shortly after the Great Fire. Korn, however,
was less vocal than Henry Yesler, (who protested vehemently that these civil works would destroy the value of his
nearby property and make it impossible to build the Pioneer Building. The Pioneer Building is located very close to
the Korn Building and was also designed by Fisher). For more information on the controversy over the replatting and
raising of the streets, Henry Yesler and Elmer Fisher, please see the Cultural Data section for 606 1% Ave S. (the
Pioneer Building), or the Statement of Significance.

Sources

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 1 August 1889

Address: 107 Occidental Way S.

Historic Name: Walker Block or Building/ Frye Market Built: 1891
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lots 6-7 Parcel: # 5247800535
Style: Commercial

Architect: Boone and Willcox Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 93
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Description

This is a one story building. It has one fagade on Occidental Avenue South. Exterior walls are constructed of brick,
but the fagade is mainly taken up by storefront and has rusticated stone cladding. There is also what appears to be
cast stone cladding above the storefront lintel. The facade is divided into three parts by original bracket-like
ornaments at the top of the facade. The ends of the fagade are rusticated blocks, topped by the same kind of
ornament. Storefronts are newer and utilitarian, but there are also vestiges of original ornamental metal storefront:
thin engaged round tube-like columns with capitals which show a leaf pattern. These vestiges of metal pier occur at
the center of the second bay, at each side of the doorway and at the third bay, at each side of a doorway.

Cultural Data

The Seattle Post-Intelligencer of September 8, 1891 wrote: “The piledriving for Cyrus Walker’s four-story brick
immediately south of the Korn Block on Second Street is about to be completed. The building will complete the
block of buildings on South Second Street between Yesler avenue and Washington street [sic].” Second Street, of
course, is now Occidental South. In Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and the Legacy of H. H. Richardson, Jeffrey
Ochsner and Dennis Andersen mention that the architects of this building were Boone and Willcox. Also noted is
that the building, although planned as a four story building, was never built past the first floor. Despite the changes to
the storefront, it retains enough detailing, a mix of Victorian and classical ornament, to give a sense that it is part of
the first wave of building, right after the Great Fire of 1889.

It is also intriguing that it is another building commissioned by Cyrus Walker. Cyrus Walker was a very successful
Puget Sound lumberman and the head of the Puget Mill Company in Port Ludlow. He also developed several
properties in the Pioneer Square area, including the very notable Marshall-Walker Building, now the Globe Building
as well as another “Walker Building,” now the Seattle Quilt Building, located on First Avenue S., south of the Globe
Building.

This is by no means the best example of Boone and Willcox work, partly because it was never really completed. It
still represents an early commercial building erected soon after the Fire of 1889.

W. E. Boone was responsible for many buildings in what is now the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic
District, including the pre-fire Yesler-Leary Building, which stood at the intersection of Yesler Avenue and First
Avenue, the former Marshall Walker Block at 107 S. Main St, the Washington Iron Works Building (now the
Washington Shoe Building) at 400 Occidental South and the Walker Building/ Seattle Quilt Building at 316 1*
Avenue South. In partnership with William H. Willcox, Boone also completed the spectacular New York Building ,
built in 1889-1892 and now demolished, at the northeast corner of Second Avenue and Cherry Street. (For Boone’s
early career, please see the Cultural Data section for the Marshall Walker Block/ Globe Building, 107 S. Main St, #
74, or the Statement of Significance).

Before the formation of Boone and Willcox in 1890, William H. Willcox, (bomn in 1832; he should not to be
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confused with W. H. R. Willcox, another early architect who worked and taught architecture in the Pacific
Northwest), practiced in New York, Chicago, Nebraska and Minneapolis-St. Paul. He published an eighty four page
booklet entitled: Hints to Those Who Propose to Build — Also a Description of Improved Plans for the Construction
of Churches. The Boone and Willcox partnership lasted until 1893. Willcox then practiced architecture in Los
Angeles from 1893 to 1895 and architecture and surveying in San Francisco in the 1900s and 1910s. He died in
California in 1929.

From 1894 to 1899, Charles Bruhn occupied the building. From 1903 to circa 1906, the Seattle Market, owned by the
Frye-Bruhn Company, was also located in this building. Then, from 1906 to 1930, its successor, the Frye Company,
owned by Charles Frye, occupied the building. Charles Frye founded Cudahy Bar-S Brand Meats and is also
associated with the Charles.and Emma Frye art collection and the Frye Art Museum in Seattle. The building was
known for a fong time, at least until the late 1960s, as the “Frye Market.”

Sources
Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 8 September, 1891.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Common Name: 117 Occidental Avenue South/ New Stage Theater
117 Occidental Ave S.

Historic Name: Star Theatre? New Built: 1915, recent remodel
Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lots 6 Parcel: # 5247800530

Style: Modern

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 94

Description

This is a one story building with one fagade on Occidental Avenue South. It has a modern stucco fagade, painted
green and rectangular window openings. It has no obvious vestige of historical materials or architectural detailing on
its exterior (or interior).
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Cultural Data

Called the “New Stage Theater,” in current King County records, the building has been altered to the point where it
has no historical or architectural integrity. It may, in fact, be the first level of the former Star Theatre, built in 1915,
and which operated as a movie palace. This building is described in the Tax Assessor’s records in 1953 as being “2
stories” in height. Historical photos show that the second story rose higher than the third story of the building
alongside it, because the upper level, at least, must have contained the theater. Like many buildings in Pioneer
Square, the building may have lost its upper floors in the Earthquake of 1949, but there is no hard evidence of this
fact.

Source
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 116 & 118 S Washington St

Historic Name: Scandinavian Hotel and Clancy Building Built: 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lots 5 Parcel: # 5247800525 (116 S Washington) & 5247800520
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 95

Description

This is a simple, two story, brick clad building, which is actually made up of two separate, but similar structures. It
has a common replacement parapet and cornice, but retains significant architectural detailing. The only street
elevation faces Washington Street and is divided into two bays at the ground level by brick piers with cast iron bases,
set into the brick and rusticated stone capitals, also visibly attached to the brick as a veneer. In fact, each bay
corresponds to what was originally a separate building. On the second floor, each window frame consists of a pair of
double- hung windows. The west bay has two sets of windows separated by a brick pier or thickening in the wall.
The east bay has three sets of double-hung windows.

Cultural Data

This building, actually made up of two structures, was completed in 1890 and retains the scale and feel of many of
the early Pioneer Square buildings, built right after the Great Fire of 1889. Most historical records describe the two
structures as though they were one building and they now share a common parapet. The western portion, 116 S.
Washington Street, housed the Scandinavian Hotel from 1912 to 1928, while the eastern one, 118 S. Washington
Street, was known as the Clancy Building and housed a gambling hall and saloon, run by the Clancy brothers,
Charles and Frank. The first floor of the Clancy Building was built and occupied very soon after the Great Fire,
while the top floors were completed by 1890. According to the King County Assessor’s Records, the ensemble
appears to have been originally four stories, but there are no records that explain when the upper floors were lost.
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Sometime after construction, during “Seattle’s illustrious days as a ‘wide open town,” during the time of the
Klondike Gold Rush, one of the buildings is purported to have housed an opium den in its basement and a mission on
its above-ground floors. By the 1940s, the entire ensemble was described as a hotel and store building. While,
compared to many Pioneer Square buildings, it is not masterfully designed, it represents some of the earliest
construction right after the Fire of 1889.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Tax Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 124 S Washington St

Historic Name: Hotel Interurban Built: 1895

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 8/ Lots 5 Parcel: # 5247800515
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 96

Description

This is currently a one story building with exterior brick walls. It was originally a four story building. The facades
are mainly filled with storefront. The building has facades on Washington Street and on Occidental Avenue South.
The building shares a party wall with 116 S. Washington Street. The storefront seems to have been rebuilt fairly
recently in wood and with transom windows, but retains in certain places, thin ornate cast-iron pillars, that were part
of the original storefront. The corner of the building is marked by a single round metal column with a simple flaring
base (all cast in one piece). The column sits in front of the current corner entry of the building at Washington Street
and Occidental Avenue South.

Cultural Data

Originally called the Hotel Interurban, the building dates from 1895 and originally was a four story building with a
commercial level at the ground floor. While it retains some vestiges of its original brick construction and metal
storefront, most of what remains is not original. In addition, the building has lost it three upper floors.

Sources

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936 to 1972.
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Location: Occidental Way, between S. Washington & Main Sts

Historic Name: Occidental Park/ Occidental City Park Built: 1972

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 Parcel: # 5247800405

Style: Modern

Landscape Architect/ Architect: Iize Jones, Jones and Jones Architects Landscape Architects Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 97

Description

Occidental Park is sited just east of the building known as “Grand Central on the Park,” originally known as the
Squire-Latimer Block. It was built on the site of a large open parking lot. Occidental Park was completed in 1972,
with only a few changes made over the years. As of 2004, this a cobblestone and brick paved open space,
distinguished by its modern, glass covered pergola at the south side and by rows of London planetrees, which frame
the main part of the square and create two long allees, running north-south on the eastern edge. Other important
features are a tall totem pole representing “Sun and Raven,” which tells of Raven’s theft of the moon, a second one
entitled “Man Riding on the Tail of a Whale,” and a specially landscaped area at the Square’s north side with two
totems. One represents a bear and the other, Tsonoqua, a mythical giantess and “nightmare bringer.” The park is also
known for its distinctive benches, which include large, hoop-like, curved arm rests. A recent addition to the brick
allee, is the Fallen Firefighters Memorial, which consists of a series of stone slabs and a literal representation of
firefighters battling a fire.

Cultural Data

In 1971, the City of Seattle obtained federal monies to create a landscaped square on the site of a parking lot, located
east of the Grand Central Building. The City commissioned Jones and Jones Architects, Landscape Architects to
design Occidental Park. Ilze Jones designed the new park and public square as part of a spine that tied Pioneer Place
to Occidental Park and then to Occidental Mall, (also designed by Ilze Jones), and created a cohesive set of open
spaces and buildings. The glass covered pergola was inspired by the Washington Street Boat Landing, sited along the
waterfront at Washington Street and the industrial nature of the district, its fire escapes and water towers. Reclaimed
cobble stones, which once paved city streets, were used to pave the square. Originally, a single row of London Plane
trees served to underscore the Jones and Jones’ suggestion for a building to frame Occidental Park to the east, as of
2004, still the site of a parking lot. The construction of Occidental Park was completed in 1972. The design of
Occidental Park represents the early efforts to reclaim the historic district, not only to rehabilitate historic open
spaces such as Pioneer Place, but to create attractive open spaces, as well.

All the totems were carved by Duane Pasco. The tallest totem, representing Raven stealing the moon, “Sun and
Raven,” was originally created for the Spokane World’s Fair in 1974. Not far from it, “Man Riding on the Tail of A
Whale,” was made in 1971. The bear and Tsonoqua totems, at the north end of the park, were donated by Richard
White, who was also involved in the early restoration of Pioneer Square buildings, in 1987 and 1988.
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In 1998, a sculpture commemorating Seattle Firefighters was placed on the south side and more or less in the center
of the allee, created by the two long rows of plane trees on the eastern side of the park.

In general, the London planetrees have since developed much denser foliage, so that the space really resembles a
park; however, others have objected that the density of foliage on the trees has created a dark, shadowy place. This
and other concerns have probably led to a recent and controversial Project for Public Spaces proposal. As of this
writing, there is a City sponsored plan to radically modify Occidental Park, which woud include the demolition of
the modern pergola and of the custom-made, fixed benches and repaving. The proposed plan also calls for the felling
of about twenty of the park’s sixty trees.

Because the park is a fairly recent work, it is non-contributing; however, as originally designed, it is very significant
as a public place in the district. This work, as designed by Jones and Jones, should be considered historically
significant in the the years to come.

Sources (Combined for Occidental Park and Resources # 97 to 103)
lize Jones. Interview by Mildred Tanner Andrews and Leonard Garfield (transcript). Seattle, Washington, 30
October 2000.

Birmbaum, Charles, FASLA and Jane Brown Gillette and Nancy Slade. Preserving Modern Landscape Architecture
11, Making Postwar Landscapes Visible. Washington DC: Spacemaker Press, LLC, 2004.

Crowley, Walt. National Trust Guide: Seattle. New York: Preservation Press and John Wiley & Sons, 1998.

Pasco, Duane. “About Duane Pasco.” Database Available at: <http://www.duanepasco.com/frameset>

Sherwood, Don. “Pioneer and Occidental Squares.” Sherwood History Files (produced in the 1970s), Seattle Parks
and Recreation. Database available at: <http://www.CityofSeattle net/parks/history/sherwood.atm>

“Seattle Outdoor Art.” Database available at: <http://www .seattleoutdoorart.com>

Location: Occidental Park

Historic Name: Tsonoqua (totem) Date: 1973

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Northwest Coast Native American traditional

Sculptor: Duane Pasco

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 98
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Description

This is a representational totem of a female figure, the giantess Tsonoqua, according to Native American myth. It is
placed within a large rectangular planted area at the north end of Occidental Park and faces a wooden figure of a
bear. The symmetrically designed wood figure has stylized head and breasts and is distinguished by her outstretched
arms. The figure is mainly painted black, with projecting ears, painted red and green.

Significance

This representation of Tsonoqua, the “nightmare bringer,” was sculpted by Duane Pasco, as were the other totems in
Occidental Park. Pasco began carving traditional Northwest Coast totems and other objects in the late 1960s and was
particularly influenced by Bill Holm’s book, Northwest Coast Indian Art, An Analysis of Form. This figure was
completed in 1973. The Tsonoqua totem, like the bear totem which currently faces it, was donated by Richard White
during the late 1980s. White was also involved in the early restoration of Pioneer Square buildings as early as the
late 1960s.

Like all the totems in Occidental Park, “Tsonoqua™ is a significant part of the design of Occidental Park, which
represents an early effort, influenced by the historic preservation movement in Pioneer Square, to develop a series of
inviting open spaces for the emerging historic district and to tie in with its Native American origins. “Tsonoqua”
however, is not fifty years old, and therefore can not be considered “contributing.”

Sources
See combined sources under Occidental Park, above

Location: Occidental Park

Historic Name: Bear (totem) Date: 1973

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Northwest Coast Native American (traditional)

Sculptor: Duane Pasco

Classification: Non Historic Non Contributing Site ID #: 99

Description

This is the totemic figure of a bear. It is placed within the large rectangle of vegetation at the north end of Occidental
Park and faces a wooden figure of the giantess Tsonoqua. Symmetrically designed, the figure has a stylized head
with bared teeth and upturned paws, each with a small carved face. Like the Tsonoqua totem, it is mainly painted
black. Green and red coloring are used on the face and natural wood on the teeth and on the faces, shown on the
upturned paws. Knees appear as flattened ovals in red and natural wood, with smaller green circles inside the larger
oval.
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Significance

The figure was completed by Duane Pasco in 1974. Like the Tsonoqua figure, it was donated by Richard White, who
was also involved in the early restoration of Pioneer Square buildings beginning in the late 1960s. Pasco began
carving traditional Northwest Coast totems and other objects in the late 1960s and was influenced by Bill Holm’s
book, Northwest Coast Indian Art, An Analysis of Form. Like all the totems in Occidental Park, the figure is a
significant part of this park, which was designed as part of a series of inviting open spaces for the emerging historic
district, and to tie in with the area’s Native American origins. “Bear,” however, is not fifty years old, and therefore
can not be considered “contributing.”

Sources
See combined sources under Occidental Park, above.

Location: Occidental Park

Historic Name: Sun and Raven (totem) Date: 1971

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Northwest Coast Native American (traditional)

Sculptor: Duane Pasco

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 100

Description

The tallest totem in Occidental Park, it is located toward the east and slightly north of the center of the park. It forms
part of a group with another totem, “man riding the tail of a killer whale.” This totem represents the mythological
figure, Raven stealing the moon.

Significance

Entitled “Sun and Raven,” the totem was completed by Duane Pasco in 1971 and was first displayed at the Spokane
Fair of 1974. Like all the totems in Occidental Park, it is a significant part of the design of Occidental Park.

Sources (See combined sources under Occidental Park, above)

Location: Occidental Park

Historic Name: Man Riding on the Tail of a Killer Whale (totem) Date: 1974

Plat; Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Northwest Coast Native American (traditional)

Sculptor: Duane Pasco

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 101
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Description

The tallest totem in Occidental Park, it is located toward the east and slightly north of the center of the park. It forms
part of a group with another totem, “man riding the tail of a killer whale.” This totem represents the mythological
figure, Raven stealing the moon.

Significance

Entitled “Sun and Raven,” the totem was completed by Duane Pasco in 1971 and was first displayed at the Spokane
Fair of 1974. Like all the totems in Occidental Park, it is a significant part of the design of Occidental Park.

Sources

(See combined sources under Occidental Park, above)

Location: Occidental Park

Historic Name: Pergola Date: 1972

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Modemn

Architect/ Landscape Architect: Ilze Jones, Jones and Jones Architects Landscape Architects
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 102

Description

This modern pergola is set at the southeast comer of the cobble stone portion of Occidental Park. It sits on a low,
stepped platform. The steps leading up to the platform are made of reclaimed cobblestones. Above the central
concrete platform, is a concrete base, which supports an open “tower” of cross-braced metal. The concrete base itself
is currently square in plan, but was reduced in size and modified in the 1990s. A series of open-web trusses, attached
to the main metal braced “tower,” as well as small steel sections, support a glazed canopy. The square-based metal
“tower” continues above the glazed canopy. A large sculptural water spigot/fountain, attached to the south side of
the concrete base, once provided water, but is not currently in use. More recently, around 1999, a series of historical,
interpretive panels, made in ceramic, were affixed to the sides of the supporting concrete base.

Significance

As part of the design of Occidental Park, which replaced a parking lot, Ilze Jones of Jones and Jones Architects
Landscape Architects designed this modern “pergola.” According to an interview conducted by historians Mildred
Andrews and Leonard Garfield, the design was inspired by historical structures in the neighborhood and in particular
by the Washington Street Harbor Boat Landing, located along the waterfront at Washington Street, (an historical
structure, but not part of the national historic district, but part of the City of Seattle historic district), and the
neighborhood’s numerous fire escapes.

Ilze Jones, who was responsible for the initial restoration of the Pioneer Place pergola, seems to have been influenced
by the historical one; however, the actual shape and design of the modern pergola differs greatly from that of the
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Pioneer Place pergola and reflects the influence of the other models.The ceramic interpretive panels were added to
the modern pergola in 1999. The modemn pergola is less than fifty years old and dates from after the district’s period
of significance; therefore, it is considered non-historic, non-contributing. As of this writing, the City of Seattle has
plans to redesign Occidental Park and this structure is slated for demolition.

Sources
(See combined sources under Occidental Park, above)

Location: Occidental Park

Name: Seattle Fallen Firefighters Memorial Date: 1999

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 7/ Lots 5-6-7-8 (for Occidental Park) Parcel: # 5247800405 (Occidental P.)
Style: Modern

Artist: Hay Ying Yu

Classification: Non-Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 103

Description

Designed by sculptor Hay Ying Yu, the Seattle Fallen Firefighters Memorial consists of two types of sculptural
objects: four bronze representational figures of firefighters in the act of putting out a fire, surrounded by a series of
granite slabs, some with inscriptions and explanations. Some of the granite slabs are smaller, while others are longer.
Often one slab rests on top of another. In one case, two stones rest against each other, creating an acute angle. This is
supposed to suggest a building collapsing, and also, according the sculptor, creates a “pyramidal composition,
reinforcing the sense of strength and unity.”

Significance

This sculptural ensemble was created by Hay Ying Yu, and dedicated on June 6, 1998, ninety-nine years after the
Great Fire of June 6, 1889 destroyed the “heart of Seattle,” which became the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National
Historic District. As Hay Ying Yu stated in an inscription on one of the slabs:“The four firefighters are represented
realistically, yet with exaggerated gestures to emphasize the intensity of the battle in which they are engaged.” This is
a contemporary artwork created well after the periods of significance for the historic district and is therefore non-

historic, non-contributing.
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Address/ Location: Main St, between First Ave S. and Occidental Avenue
Name: Pioneer Square trolley stop and lines Date: ca. 1990

Plat: NA

Style: Modern

Classification: Non-Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 104

Description

The Main Street trolley stop is located in the middle of Main Street, south of Occidental Park, between Occidental
Avenue South and First Avenue South. The trolley shelter consists of an open, metal structure with a deep pitched,
metal roof, supported on round, metal columns, set on top of a concrete platform. In plan, the western portion of the
platform, upon which the shelter sits, appears as a long rectangle, which ends in a semi-circular shape. The vertical
exterior of the platform base is adorned with an uninterrupted band of bricks, inset into the concrete in a vertical
position. The surface of the platform is covered with brick pavers, with smaller, square pavers in the curved portion
of the platform. A concrete ramp, parallel to Main Street rises from the east at the grade level of the street to the
platform.

The trolley platform is also skirted by an ornamental metal railing, which begins with two bollard-like shapes to each
side of the bottom of the ramp and continues along the south side and the curved portion of the platform to the west.

Cultural Data

Seattle’s historic streetcar system was a comprehensive system, which ranged all over Seattle. First created before
the fire of 1889, it was dismantled in 1941. The present trolley system, the brainchild of Seattle Councilman, George
Benson, was sometimes known as “Benson’s Folley.” Benson first became a proponent for the new trolley system in
1974. He eventually garnered the support of local business and property owners. On a personally financed trip to
Melbourne, Australia, George and his wife Evelyn picked out the five wooden 1920s streetcars for the new system.
The system was officially opened in 1982 and still runs along the Elliott Bay waterfront, west of the district.
Extensions of the line into Pioneer Square area and the Seattle-Chinatown Historic District occurred by June 1990.

The present trolley system has trackage along the Elliott Bay waterfront from Broad Street to Main Street. The tracks
veer into the historic district, running east, as well as west, along Main Street, to and from the Seattle-Chinatown
Historic District. The Main Street trolley station is the official Pioneer Square station within the district. There is one
a trolley stop on Washington Street, situated west of the Alaskan Way Viaduct, and technically outside the
boundaries of the historic district.

Because the Alaskan Way Viaduct is slated to be replaced, there are questions as how best to deal with the trolley,
which would be affected by long-term construction along the waterfront. There been suggestions that the system
might be permanently dismantled, but this has caused some public outcry.
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Sources
Burrows, Alyssa, “Benson, George (1919-2004), Father of the Seattle Waterfront Streetcar,” 4 November  2004.
Database available at <http: www.historylink.org.>

Crowley, Walt, “Seattle voters reject plan to scrap municipal streetcars on March 9, 1937,” 2 October 2000.
Database available at <http: www.historylink.org>

Location: Occidental Ave S. between S. Main & Jackson Sts

Historic Name: Occidental Mall Built: 1972

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 11/ Lots 1-2-3-4 Parcel: # 5247800695

Style: Modem

Landscape Architect: Ilze Jones, Jones and Jones Architects Landscape Architects
Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non-Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 105

Description

South of Occidental Park, Occidental Avenue South from Main Street to Jackson Street was closed off and paved
with brick and became a pedestrian mall. A single row of trees was placed at each side, (west and east), of the open
space.

Address: 117 S. Main Street

Historic Name: Superior Candy and Cracker Company? Built: 1902

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lots 7-8 Parcel: # 5247800365

Style: Commercial/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic

Architect: Unknown (similar to Skillings and Corner design) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 106

Description

117 S. Main Street, now known as the Union Trust Annex, is located mid-block between the Union Trust Building at
119- S. Main Street and the Marshall Walker Block/ Globe Building (107 S. Main St) at the southeast corner of First
Avenue South and Main Street. Its footprint is 50 feet by 120 feet. Its only facade, fifty feet wide, looks toward Main
Street and is clad in light gray brick, considered “white brick,” according to journalists from the 1890s. The building
is four stories in height and alley walls are of common red brick. Not surprisingly, the design of the fagade’s
component bays and its detailing are extremely similar to the Union Trust Building, its neighbor at 119 S. Main
Street, although there are differences. The similarities are the following: It has two major bays subdivided into three
single bays at the ground floor storefront level by the typical, but distinctive cast-iron columns, found on the Union
Trust Building. These are square in plan, fluted to three quarters of the way up the shaft and then topped by a motif
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of raised half circles.

Whereas in the neighboring Union Trust Building, each storefront is divided into three bays, corresponding to the
three bays of the “major bays” at the upper levels, there is no grouping of the single bays into larger tripartite “major
bays” at the upper levels of this fagade. As in the Union Trust Building, a belt-course in metal with a running egg-
and-dart motif, surmounted by a running Greek key motif, separates the ground floor level from the upper levels;
above this, are single trabeated openings with well-expressed flat arches in brick. The second level is topped by a
dentil course and then by the top two levels, which consist of single double-height bays, framed by brick piers,
surmounted by circular arches. The capitals of the piers are created in masonry by bands of stretcher bricks and
headers set at angles. Arches are also emphasized by corbelled brick bands in a semi-circular pattern. All of this part
of the design is identical to the Union Trust Building, but the major difference remains that the bays are not
organized into sets of three. There are also differences at the parapet level: Ornamental corbelling along the top of
the parapet creates small pointed arches in brick.

Cultural Data

Built adjacent to the corner Union Trust Company Building, this building is extremely close in design to its
companion at 119 South Main Street, designed by the Seattle architectural firm of Skillings and Corner. The use of
light brick had been something of a rarity at the time of the construction of the older Union Trust building in the
1890s, although it became more prevalent thereafter. According to Greg Lange and Tim O’Brian, this second
building dates from 1900-1901 and was designed for Emest Thurlow, one of the organizers of the Superior Candy
and Cracker Company, which occupied the entire building from 1901 to 1915. During that time, there were five
kettles for making candy on the fourth floor. They also state that the architect was not Skillings and Corner, although
the design clearly mimics their design on the corner of Occidental and Main Street. Ernest Thurlow was a member of
the Seattle Fire Department during the Great Fire of 1889. In the late 1890s, he opened the Palace of Sweets, located
at Second Avenue and Marion Street.

Previous literature, including the 1973 thesis by Elizabeth Brians, bases the date of this building and of the Union
Trust on the Tax Assessor’s Record cards, which give a date of 1902 for both buildings; however, articles in the
Seattle Post-Intelligencer clearly indicate that the older building was designed by Skillings and Corner and completed
by 1893. It appears that despite the incredible similarities in design, the buildings were designed at different times by
different architects and originally for different owners. The building was renamed the Union Trust Annex in the
1970s.

The building retains its original appearance, including all of its original parapet. With 119 S. Main Street, it has a
powerful presence on Main Street and anchors the corner of Occidental and Main Street.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.
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Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Address: 119 S. Main Street

Historic Name: Union Trust Building Built: 1893

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lots 7-8 Parcel: # 5247800360
Style: Commercial/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic

Architect: Skillings and Corner Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 107

Description

Located on the southwest corner of Occidental Way South and Main Street, this is a four story building with a
parapet. It clad in light gray brick, which was described as white in local newpaper articles from the 1890s. The
building’s footprint is 120 feet by 60 feet and it has a basement level. It has main facades on Occidental Way South
and on Main Street and is located next to the Union Trust Annex, which has a surprisingly similar design, but was
apparently not designed by the same architect.

The Occidental South elevation has four major bays subdivided into three single bays each. Each major bay on
Occidental Way South has storefronts with distinctive cast-iron columns. These are square in plan, fluted to three
quarters of the way up the shaft and then topped by a motif of raised half circles. They are similar to the cast-iron
columns at 311 Occidental South to the south. Each storefront is divided into three bays, corresponding to the three
bays of the major bays at the upper levels. A belt-course in metal with a running egg-and-dart motif, surmounted by a
running Greek key motif, separates the ground floor level from the upper levels.

Each major bay, at the second level, has three trabeated openings with a well-expressed flat arch with a “voussoir” in
brick. The second level is then surmounted by a dentil course and then by a stone belt-course, which is semi-circular
in section. Above this, are two story vertical bays, framed by brick piers, surmounted by circular arches. The capitals
of the piers are created in masonry by bands of stretcher bricks and headers set at angles. Arches are also emphasized
by corbelled brick bands in a semi-circular pattern. Between the major bays, are medallions in raised brick. The third
and fourth floor window openings are separated by recessed spandrels. The top of the parapet has well-spaced dentils
surmounted by corbel ornamentation, which alternates with a hollowed-out cross shape in brick. The Main Street
elevation has two major bays and the same configuration and detailing within them.
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Cultural Data

Built for the Union Trust Company, this building was considered one of the most interesting contributions to the
district in the 1890s by the local press. It was designed by the architectural partnership of Skillings and Corner and
completed in 1893. It was built to house a series of wholesale businesses, including Roy & Company, H N.
Richmond and Company and John B. Agen. The building was designed to carry what were considered heavy loads —
250 pounds per square foot — and the walls and piers were of “extra size.” The original design was supposed to have
facades with a ground floor, clad in white sandstone and the upper floors, clad in red brick. This part of the design
was evidently modified to white brick, which greatly impressed the Seattle Post-Intelligencer writers. The use of
light brick had been something of a rarity at the time of the building’s construction, although it became more
prevalent thereafter. Jeffrey Ochsner and Dennis Andersen suggest that Corner, because of his recent arrival from
Boston and the influence of Eclectic styles found on the East Cost, may have been behind the use of white brick. The
building was also planned with elevators powered by “Edison electric motors,” something of a novelty in 1893, since
hydraulic elevators were more prevalent in Seattle (although the Pioneer Building, from the same period, was also to
have an electric elevator).

Warren Porter Skillings was born in Portland, Maine in 1860 and graduated from Bowdoin College in 1880. He
worked in “several leading” architectural offices in Boston, before coming to Seattle after the Great Fire of 1889. By
the 1890s, he was designing important warehouse/office buildings and was also credited in the Seattle Post-
Intelligencer in 1892 with designing “a number of the prettiest dwellings” in Seattle. Once in Seattle, he became an
important member of the architectural community. His drawing for a design for the Washington State Building was
showcased in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer. His articulate comments concerning the architectural profession in
Seattle were also quoted at length. In September 1892, he formed the architectural partnership of Skillings and
Corner with James N. Corner. Corner, born in 1862, was a recent arrival from Boston as well as a native of that city.
With W. E. Boone, Corner later formed Boone and Corner, a partnership which lasted from 1900 until 1905. Corner
then practiced independently until 1919.

The building retains its original appearance and is distinctive, not only because of the fine detailing of its brickwork,

but also because of the delicacy of the storefront detailing, particularly along Occidental Way South (actually

Occidental Mall). Based on a comparison with its neighbor, it appears to have lost the very top of its parapet,

although it retains most of it. With 115 S. Main Street, it has a powerful presence and anchors the corner of

Occidental and Main Street.

Sources

“Artists in Building. Points of Professional Ethics among Architects. Standard of the Art Rising. Two New
Wholesale Blocks on Main Street — Plans for the New Presbyterian Church — Collins® Block,” Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, 13 March 1893, p 5.

“Typical of A State. Unique World’s Fair Building for Washington. Will Display Our Resources. Most
Characteristic Presented for Any State- Description of the Mr. Skillings’ Plans.” Seattle Post-Intelligencer,
17 April 1892, p 8.
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Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Address: 311 Occidental Ave. S.

Historic Name: Waltham Block Built: ca. 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 6 Parcel: # 5247800355

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic
Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 108

Description

This is a three story building. The ground floor is clad in stone and has a cast-iron storefront. The upper floors,
mainly clad in brick with stone trim, are distinguished by the delicacy of their brick ornamental detailing. The
building is rectangular in plan and has a roof that is not visible from the street, as well as a parapet. The building has
only one major public fagade which fronts on Occidental Mall.

The ground level is divided into two major bays, which are divided into three by cast-iron pillars. These pillars have
deep bases, ornamented with lozenge shapes and with circular as well as semi-circular ornamentation on their shafts.
Another distinguishing feature is that each central storefront section is set back from the other two. The glass of the
storefront’s clerestory level is divided into multiple, small, square lites, some of which are decorated with
intersecting circles, curves and squares and are stamped as having being produced by “LUXFER.” Above the first
level, is an ornamental stone belt course, which includes a dentil band surmounted by a continuous frieze of running
wave motifs.

Each of the two major bays at ground level are surmounted at the upper level by three two-story bays, so that the
fagade is now divided into a total of six bays, corresponding to the tripartite division of the storefronts. Each bay is
marked by brick pilasters with stone bases. The pilasters rise two floors to ornamental capitals detailed in brick, and
support, (at least visually), semi-circular arches. Windows, which occur in each of these bays, are typically framed in
pairs of two. They are double-hung windows and also have clerestories consisting of small square panes. This is also
true of the semi-circular clerestory windows on the third level.

Raised and curved bands of ornamental brick follow the shape of the semi-circular openings. Inset circular
medallions, ringed by thin circular brick bands, punctuate the spandrels between the arches. Repeated corbelled brick
ornamental shapes dot the top of the wall. The cornice has been replaced by concrete coping.




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KiNG COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 168 of 289

Cultural Data

This significant building dates from around 1890 to 1892. King County Tax Assessor Records give a date of 1890,
while historians Lange and O’Brian give a slightly later date of 1892. In any case, it is clear that the building dates
from the first wave of construction right after the Great Fire of 1889. It was constructed for the original owner, M. H.
Young, who came from Waltham, Massachusetts, hence the name of the building. Since what became the Luxfer
Company was founded in 1896, with the name “Luxfer” only adopted in 1897, the Luxfer prismatic glass of the
storefront clerestory must have been added at least a few years after the completion of the building. In general, the
building is significant because of the fine architectural detailing, both at the storefront level and on its upper floors.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1932-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Neumann, Dietrich, “Prismatic Glass,” in Thomas C. Jester, editor, Twentieth Century Building Materials, New
York: The McGraw Hill Companies, 1995, p 188-193.

Address: 122 S. Jackson St

Historic Name: Ingels Block/ Crescent Manufacturing Co. Built: 1890; 1910s
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 6/ Lot 5 Parcel: # 5247800350

Style: Commercial/ Eclectic

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 109

Description

This is a three story building. It is almost rectangular in plan, but has an angled entry elevation between Jackson St
and Occidental Avenue S. Its other main street elevations face south on Jackson Street and east on Occidental Mall.
The building’s exterior walls are brick with a thin coat of concrete, which has been scored to look like masonry
blocks and has been painted off-white. The angled fagade has a major entry set in an arched opening, with a semi-
circular lunette and double doors. Aside from the major entry, most of the ground floor fenestration consists of long
wide windows with metal sash. The ground level is topped by a belt-course consisting of a smooth band and then a
generous ornamental molding, now painted black, which runs the length of the street facing elevations.

Above the ground level, the east fagade is divided into three bays, set between scored concrete expanses of wall or
ornamental pilasters. Each vertical bay consists of two rectangular, double-hung windows on the third floor, set
above two similar windows on the second floor. An incised rectangle is set in the spandrel between second and third
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floor windows. Also, ornamenting the center of each spandrel is a small, vertical and rectangular panel with a
horizontal rectangle crossing it (creating sort of a cross shape). Structural rosettes are now strategically placed at the
center of each of these ornaments.

The south elevation has the same division and basic detailing at the ground level and upper floors as the east
elevation. In particular, the second and third stories consist of a row of three windows flanked by two sets of paired
rectangular windows.

Cultural Data

This building, built in 1890, was historically known, at least by 1905, at the Ingels Block. By 1914, based on a photo
caption in Welford Beaton’s The City That Made Itself, the building was known by the name of its tenant at the time,
the Crescent Manufacturing Company. By the 1960s, it was known as the Herman and Blumenthal Building and is
called “Herman Blumenthal Building” in current King County records. Records show that it was remodeled in 1920;
however, the photo in Welford Beaton’s 1914 publication shows that the appearance of the building’ was very close
to what it is today. At the same time, the exterior treatment is not typical of 1890. In any case, the building still
retains its general scale and shape and dates from the rebuilding of the district right after the Great Fire of 1889.
Despite some possible exterior changes, it retains its fenestration, scale and shape and anchors the northwest corner
of Jackson Street and Occidental Way South, now Occidental Mall. As such, it is an important part of the Pioneer
Square-Skid Road National Historic District. In the late 1930s, it was owned by Scientific Supplies, whose main
offices were across the street at 123 South Jackson Street.

Sources
Beaton, Welford, The City That Made Itself, A Literary and Pictorial Record of the Building of Seattle.
Seattle: Terminal Publishing Company, 1914.

Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.
King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 123 S. Jackson St

Historic Names: Seattle Transfer Company/ Scientific Supplies Built: 1902
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 5/ Lot 4 Parcel: # 5247800275

Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 110
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Description

This is a two-story brick building with a basement. It is rectangular in plan, 52 feet by 121 feet, and has a flat roof
and parapet. It has solid brick walls, 13 inches thick, and was built in heavy timber interior construction. Its main
elevation faces north on Jackson Street, while its east elevation faces Occidental Avenue South.

The north elevation has a high two-story storefront. The fagade is divided into three bays with a larger central bay,
each bounded by brick pilasters, simply emphasized by subtle brick corbelling in lieu of capitals. Corbelling also
marks the parapet level.

The east elevation has a series of window openings of different sizes and widths, although many are topped by
segmental arches. It has, from north to south, three openings topped by segmental arches, alternating with trabeated
openings. Then there is an expanse of wall. Moving north, there are two thinner openings, topped by segmental
arches, then three longer sets of openings with segmental arches and finally, the trabeated storefront windows, which
turn the corner and continue into the storefront of the north elevation.

Cultural Data

This is a simple, utilitarian building, completed in 1902, not too long after the Great Fire of 1889 and just as the
original downtown area was expanding, as a result of the economic and industrial upturn, caused by the Klondike
Gold Rush. While its storefront has been changed, perhaps several times, the detailing of its masonry walls and basic
openings do not appear to have changed at all. In scale and detailing, this building contributes to the district. It was
built for James McKinlay, who operated a blacksmithing and machinery repair shop until sometime after 1889.
McKinlay and his heirs owned the building site from 1879 to 1923. Historic Baist maps from 1905 to 1912 also
indicate that the building housed the Seattle Transfer Company. In the 1930s, the building was the site of Scientific
Supplies, (an historic photo shows their sign affixed to the building), who also owned the Herman and Blumenthal
Building, (former Ingels Block), across Jackson Street

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1905, 1908, 1912
and 1928.

King County Tax Assessor Record Cards, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Mutundro, Jim, (handwritten-hard to read). Notes- “Improvements Description,” 20 June 1978, Archives, Historic
Preservation Program, City of Seattle.
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Address: 115 S. Jackson St

Historic Names: Simonds and Brawley Buildings/ Rautman Plumbing and Heating Co. Built: 1890; remodeled 1930
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 5/ Lot 3 Parcel: # 5247800265

Style: Art Deco Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 111

Description

This is a two story building with brick walls, made up of two buildings, which originally dated from 1900. In a
remodel of the two buildings, between 1929 and 1930, the fagades were reclad with a veneer of concrete/cast stone,
now painted white. Cast-stone ornament in a terra cotta pink color, as well as granite at the storefront level, were also
added. The resulting facade is one of the better examples of Art Deco in Seattle.

The fagade is distinguished by six implied bays, grouped in two sets of three bays each. Each tripartite section
consists of a central entry, emphasized by symmetrically placed “horns of plenty,” around a hexagonal medallion
with geometric patterns. To each side of the entry, which has double doors, are shallow ornamental pilasters. The
pilasters each consist of a granite base topped by a fluted shaft, capped by a stylized, cast stone ram figure, in bas-
relief. The cast stone ram figures are set at roughly the same height as the second story casement windows, which
have clerestory levels.

The central pilaster and the pilasters at the corner of the fagade rise above the level of the circular terra cotta
medallions, which are set symmetrically above each of the window openings. Corner pilasters are surmounted by
pairs of cast stone panels, which are more or less square in general shape, and show a stylized figure turning a wheel
in bas-relief, with cogged wheels in the background, as well as some floral decoration- a representation that seems to
allude to industry and work.

Cultural Data

According to King County Assessor records, the original building dates from 1900. In fact, the original structure
consisted of two separate buildings, an east building, originally known as the Simonds Building, whose first floor
was constructed in 1898 and the second floor in 1900. The west building was the Brawley Building, completed in
1900. Both buildings were subsequently remodeled with one single fagade in 1929-30. According to unsigned
drawings at the City of Seattle Department of Planning and Development, the 1929-30 remodel was done for the
Rautman Plumbing and Heating Company. At this time, it acquired its Art Deco fagade. In addition to the Second
Avenue Extension fagade changes, along Jackson Street, the remodels of this building and of the storefront level of
the Washington Shoe Building suggest that business owners were making an effort to attract clientele, in several
cases with “jazzier,” Art Deco design. The Washington Shoe Building storefront and particularly this facade are
excellent examples.

The original occupant, before the remodel, was the Simonds Manufacturing Company, which was in the east
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building from 1898 to 1915. The Brawley Brothers, W. R. and W. C. Brawley, as well as their heirs, owned their
property from 1887, before the construction of their building, to 1929. Morris Fisher purchased the entire building,
as remodeled, in 1959. As a result, the building has frequently been known as the Fisher Building and in 1979, the
Fisher Inventory Company was still listed as a tenant.

Sources
City of Seattle, Department of Planning and Development, Microfiche Library, (especially, drawings and “white
cards.”)

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Mutundro, Jim, (handwritten-hard to read). Notes - “Improvements Description,” 20 June 1978, Archives, Historic
Preservation Program, City of Seattle.

Address: 419 Occidental Ave. S.

Historic Names: Manufacturers Building/ Manufacturers Exchange Building/ Stewart and Holmes/ McKesson and
Robbins Building Built: 1906

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 5/ Lots 5-6 Parcel # 5247800280

Style: Commercial-Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton Builder: James Black Masonry and Contracting Company Classification: Historic
Contributing Site ID #: 112

Description

419 Occidental Avenue South is nearly square in plan, 110 feet by 111 feet, and has a flat roof with parapet. It has
solid brick exterior masonry walls with an interior structure of heavy timber and cast iron. It has a concrete basement
and foundation walls, that sit on pile caissons. The building’s primary facades are to the east, on Occidental Avenue
South and to the south, on King Street. It is a six story building, with new cladding, mainly of wood at the ground
level, which is topped by a generous stone belt-course and brick cladding for the five floors above. Above the ground
level, the exterior appears to be intact up to the cornice level. The entrance to the upper floors of the building is
situated at the north end of the east elevation. It is marked by a large, arched masonry opening with a glazed area
framed in wood.

On the primary facades, the five upper floor elevations are each divided into six bays, framed by continuous
projecting piers. Each bay ends at the sixth level with a wide brick segmental arch. Windows and intervening
spandrels are set back between the piers and the reveals of the segmental arches above. Each segmental arch also has
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an ornamental keystone at its center in stone. Inset circular medallions punctuate spaces between the segmental
arches. Window openings are typically filled with a trio of double-hung windows. Above the sixth floor, the wall
corbels out toward a stone belt course. This corbel table is broken up into smaller expanses, so that they appear like
crenellations. Above the belt-course, there is now a brick parapet with simple coping, which resembles the stone
used elsewhere on the facades. The corbel table originally supported a cornice.

Cultural Data

This building was designed by architects Saunders and Lawton and completed in 1906. It has had many names.
Originally known as the Manufacturers Building, then as the Manufacturers Exchange Building (by 1912), it is now
known by the name of the restaurant that is houses on its ground floor, F.X. McRory’s. The building’s ownership is
somewhat complicated and has roots in pre-fire Seattle: A. B. Stewart and H. E. Holmes, druggists, had started their
first business in Seattle in 1888 at the foot of Cherry Street and after the Great Fire of 1889, established wholesale
and retail drug businesses. From 1919 to 1977, they owned and occupied the building, but were taken over by
McKesson and Robbins, Incorporated, a related company, who in turn, gave yet another name to the building, the
McKesson and Robbins Building.

Along with a number of other buildings in its vicinity, this building was erected during the time of economic and
industrial growth in the heart of Seattle between 1900 and 1910. This period produced a second wave of building
after the Great Fire destroyed most of the area. This building, as well as the Crane/ Goldsmith Building at 401 2™
Avenue S. and the former Chapin/ Fuller/ Northcoast Building at 171 S. Jackson St, as well as various manufacturing
buildings in the blocks to the west of them, were close to a spur of the Great Northern Railroad line, which lay
alongside and under Fourth Avenue. The general location of these buildings was desirable, because of the proximity
of the railroad line and of Elliott Bay.

This building is a handsome, but typical example of many of the well-designed warehouse buildings in the same
neighborhood, although it has some distinguishing characteristics, such as the wide segmental arches that top the
bays. It was also designed by a notable Seattle architecture firm, responsible for many warehouse buildings in the
Pioneer Square area.

The Saunders and Lawton partnership was formed in 1898 by Charles Saunders and his former draftsman, George
Lawton. Saunders and Lawton were responsible for other warehouse buildings district, including: the Norton
Building of 1904 at 206 3 Ave S, the Westland Building of 1907 at 100 S. King St, and somewhat later, the Polson
Building of 1910 at 61 Columbia Street. Saunders and Lawton were also supervising architects on the construction
of Eames and Young’s Beaux Arts Alaska Building of 1904. For additional information on Charles Saunders, please
see the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data section for the Terry Denny Building at 109 1*' Avenue South,
ID # 33.

The contractor for the building was James Black Masonry and Contracting Company, Seattle and St. Louis. The
company’s first substantial contract in Seattle was the Alaska Building, with which Saunders and Lawton were
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supervising architects. This building was considered James Black Masonry and Contracting Company’s third major
project in Seattle.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1905, 1908, 1912
and 1928. ,

The Conservation Company (Arthur Skolnik). “ 419 Occidental Avenue South, Historic Preservation Certification,
Parts 1 and 2,” 1978. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington,
Microfiche File.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Address: 102 Occidental Way S.

Historic Names: Seattle National Bank/ Pacific Block Built: 1892
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lots 1-2 Parcel: # 5247800555
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: John Parkinson; Parkinson & Evers Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 113

Description

The former First National Bank Building was built in 1890-1892 and occupies a site roughly 112 feet by 119 feet. It
is located on the southeast corner of Yesler Way and Occidental Way (Avenue) South. It is six stories tall. The
interior spaces were originally designed around a light court. The building has brick walls, with Colorado sandstone
for cladding, as well as trim at the base level. Notable is the corner entrance, emphasized by groups of engaged
Romanesque Revival columns, which frame the door and as well as a carved lion’s head above the arched doorway.
The inset arched doorway is further outlined by delicate floral carving in sandstone. In addition, there is supposed to
be terra cotta trim throughout the exterior of the building.

The first two levels of the building are distinguished by a continuous arcade of wide, double height arches alon




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KiNG COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 175 of 289

Yesler Way and along Occidental. Above this is a belt-course and a series of smaller arches, usually paired in smaller
bays, (the third eastern bay on Yesler has a bay of a trio of arches). At the third and fourth levels, are a series of
double height arches, corresponding to the bays on the third level. Here window openings are separated by recessed
spandrels. A second belt course separates the fifth and the sixth levels. The bays of the sixth level consist of groups
of trabeated window openings, corresponding to the openings on the fifth level. The window openings are framed by
short, engaged Romanesque Revival columns, which are usually doubled up between grouped openings. A top belt-
course with projecting dentils is surmounted by a parapet, which continues the arch theme with small, paired arched
openings.

Cultural Data

Currently called the Interurban Building, the former Seattle National Bank Building was designed by Parkinson and
Evers in 1890-92, as a result of a competition. John Parkinson is credited as the designer, since in 1890, when a
rendering of the building appeared in American Architect and Building News, the Parkinson and Evers partnership
was already dissolved. His name also appears on a stone plaque on the building.

William Rankin Ballard (1847-1929), a prominent Seattle business leader who in 1883 also founded the new town of
Ballard, (now a neighborhood of Seattle proper), commissioned the building for the newly formed Seattle National
Bank. Ballard and the Seattle National Bank investors wanted the building to be the finest business block in Seattle.
The building shows the influence of Richardsonian Romanesque architecture. An April 30, 1890 Seattle Post-
Intelligencer article wrote: “The exterior of the building will be Romanesque in style and nothing but pressed brick,
stone and terra cotta will be used. The comer will be rounded and the whole building will present as fine an
appearance as any other building in the Northwest.”

The Seattle National Bank/ Interurban Building is indeed one of the finest examples of buildings erected in the
district after the Great Fire of 1889. Its composition is harmonious and detailing elegant. The horizontal divisions
above the second floor and above the fifth floor actually correspond to changes in the thickness of the walls, as
required by the building Ordinance no. 1147, passed shortly after the Great Fire. The corner entrance with the carved
lion’s head was the bank entrance, while the main entrance to the building (and to the upper floors) was, and still is,
on the Yesler Way elevation. (For information on Ordinance No. 1147, please see the Statement of Significance).

John Parkinson was a young, fairly inexperienced architect at this point of his career and with this building proved
his metal. After designing the Seattle National Bank, he continued to work in Seattle for a few more years, designing
buildings for the Seattle School District, such as the B. F. Day School, (still standing), and the Cascade School,
demolished in the 1950s. In Seattle, with the economic panic of 1893, many architects and well as business people
had financial difficulties. Parkinson, a British native, (born in 1861 in Scorton, U.K. and originally trained in the
building trades), returned to California, where he had worked before his arrival in Seattle. This time he moved to the
Los Angeles area and founded the very successful Parkinson and Associates, responsible for many Los Angeles
landmarks, including buildings on the campus of the University of Southern California, the Los Angeles City Hall
and the Art Deco Bullock’s on Wilshire Boulevard. William Rankin Ballard, who came to Seattle in the 1850s from
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Ohio, is now best known for the founding of the town of Ballard; he was involved in early investments in Seattle in
street railways, banks and real estate.

The building which Ballard commissioned for the Seattle National Bank also housed the offices of the city’s first
interurban railway, started in 1889, hence the building’s current name. The railway line took passengers as far as the
then independent town of Georgetown. Historically, the building has had other names. By the mid-1960s, it was
considered and known as the Smith Tower Annex.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comner: Seattle Architects and The ILegacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 30 April 1890.

Location: Northeast corner of Occidental Ave South and Washington St

Historic Name: NA (surface parking) Built: NA

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lots 3-4 Parcels: # 5247800565 & 5247800570
Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 114

Location: Between Washington and Main Streets, east of Occidental Way (Occidental Ave South )
Name: Diamond parking lot (surface parking) Built: NA

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 10/ Lots 1-2-3-4 Parcels: # 5247800614

Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 115

Address: 300 Occidental Ave S.

Historic Name: State Building Built: 1891

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 11/ Lots 1-2-3-4 Parcel: # 5247800695
Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 116
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Description

Designed by Elmer Fisher in 1890-91, the building’s street elevations face what is now Occidental Mall and Main
Street. Both elevations are four stories in height and, above the storefront level, appear identical in design. In each
case, two wider bays flank a narrower bay, which features a major entry to the building. At the ground floor, the
street facing elevations have ornamented cast-iron storefronts. Trim in smooth and rusticated stone tops the
storefronts. Typical of the cast-iron portion of the storefront are high bases, which support a series of short engaged
columns, set at the level of the storefront clerestory.

Above the ground level and a stone belt-course, each bay consists of tall, inset arches in pairs, that run the height of
the second and third floors. Within these inset arches, textured brick spandrels separate the rectangular windows of
the second floor from the arched windows on the third floor. Each fourth floor bay has two double sets of single,
trabeated window openings, with standard double-hung windows. Lintels and sills are of rusticated stone. The central
bays of the north and west facades have raised parapet walls. Above the entry level, the central bay is subdivided
horizontally by a trio of three narrow window openings on each floor. The narrow window openings at the top level
are arched. While a continuous lintel connects each set of four windows in the standard flanking bays, in the central
entry bays, a wider piece of stone with the words “STATE BUILDING” is set at a level slightly higher that these
stone lintels. A penthouse, mostly not visible from the street, has been added recently to the building. It does not
detract from the overall appearance of the original design.

Cultural Data

The State Building was designed by Elmer Fisher in 1890-91 for the Schwabacher Brothers, owners of what later
became known as the Schwabacher Company. Based on its historic and recent condition, the building appears to be
virtually intact and still retains its cornice. The building was commissioned in June of 1890 and completed in
September of 1891. It was built to house the Schwabacher Brothers” wholesale dry goods business, which needed
more space than what the Schwabacher Building (at First S. and Yesler) alone could provide. In 1892, after a fire
destroyed the original First Avenue facade of the Schwabacher Building located near the southeast corner of First
Avenue South and Yesler Way, for a time, the State Building served as the main headquarters of the Schwababacher
Company. Jeffrey Ochsner and Dennis Andersen suggest that the design of the building was influenced by an
illustration of Adler and Sullivan’s Ryerson Wholesale Store in Chicago, which Elmer Fisher might have seen in the
April 1889 issue of Inland Architect. Because the building was designed as a warehouse, the interior structure was
built to carry hefty loads, supposedly 500 pounds per square foot. Its original interior had cast-iron columns, steel
beams in addition to timber floor joists.

The Schwabacher Company, a thriving early Seattle hardware and general mercantile store, began doing business in
the Pioneer Square area in 1869. It built not only the Schwabacher Building near First Avenue and Yesler Way and
the State Building, but also the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building by Bebb and Mendel, located on the
corner of First Avenue South and Jackson Street. The family also owned the Schwabacher Dock, the only dock on
the waterfront to survive the Fire of 1889. The Schwabacher Company did particularly well during the Klondike
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Gold Rush and continued to thrive well into the twentieth century.

Elmer Fisher produced an incredible number of buildings, especially between 1889 and 1891 and is considered the
most prolific of the post-fire architects. He came to the Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed buildings in
Vancouver, Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to Seattle in 1889. His most well-known work in Seattle is
the Pioneer Building, which he designed for Henry Yesler. For additional information on Elmer Fisher, please see
the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data section for the Pioneer Building at 606 1°' Avenue.

Sources
Micklin, Lee. “Gatzert, Bailey (1829-1893).” HistoryLink, 14 October 1998. Database on-line. Available from
http:// www. historylink.org/

Ochsner, Jeffrey Karl and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and the Legacy of H.H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004,

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994.

Address: 314 Occidental Way (Ave) S.

Historic Name: Sportscaster and Company Building Built: 1900

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 11/ Lots 1-2-3-4 Parcel: # 5247800695
Style: Commercial/ Italian Renaissance/ Eclectic

Architect: Max Umbrecht Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 117

Description

This is a four story building with a heavy timber interior structure and brick exterior walls and some sandstone
veneer cladding. It has two facades, a major one facing west on Occidental Mall, formerly Occidental Way South,
and the other on Jackson Street. Both elevations are divided into six bays. In general, cladding is buff sandstone at
the ground level and buff brick on the upper levels.

The Occidental elevation is divided into six bays by major sandstone piers, which have simple rectangular faced
capitals, each with a thin extruded band at the top. The base of the piers is a slightly projecting plinth with a slight
curve at its top, allowing the transition to the pier shaft. The Occidental elevation mainly has storefronts between the
piers: each of these has a wood frame with transom lights and a double door set to the north side of the entire
opening. A stone belt-course separates the ground floor from the upper floors.

At the second level, four two-story central bays are created by flat piers each supporting an arched opening. The top
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semi-circular window opening has a central double-hung window. The flat piers have simple capitals. Recessed
rectangles emphasize the shape of the pier shafts.

End bays to each side of the four central bays consist of two separate trabeated openings at the third level, topped by
two separate arched openings at the fourth level. Circular medallions, which are a series of circular brick bands
applied to the face of the wall, punctuate the wall slightly above and between the arches. A second sandstone belt-
course tops the two story bays. At the top floor, each bay consists of a wider, central window opening, flanked by
two thinner rectangular openings. Windows are double-hung. Topping all of this is a generous projecting cornice
with comparatively delicate and repeated ornamental brackets.

The Jackson Street elevation is identical to the primary fagade on Occidental Mall. At the ground level, it is less
regular and changes have been made. The ground floor, clad in sandstone, contains wood frame storefront or glazed
entries in a configuration similar to the Occidental elevation, but the second, third and fourth bays from the west do
not. The first bay to the east has an entry to the upper levels of the building.

The building was remodeled in the 1960s. Exterior changes occurred mainly on the first level of the Jackson Street
elevation.

Cultural Data

This building was designed by Max Umbrecht and completed in 1900. It is a striking Renaissance Revival building.
It has retained its most important architectural features and materials and appears to be virtually intact, aside from
changes to the ground level of the Jackson Street elevation, which does not operate as the building’s main facade.

The architect, Max Umbrecht, became a well-known Seattle architect, and has a sometimes eclectic, but identifiable
style. He practiced architecture in Syracuse, New York, (home of Gaggin and Gaggin, the architects of the later
Smith Tower), and in New York City, before coming to Seattle. He came to Seattle, in fact, on the request of the
Smith family in 1900. Like the Smith Building on First Avenue South and Jackson Street, (also from 1900), this is
one of Umbrecht’s earliest works in Seattle. In general, his work seems more influenced by Renaissance examples
than by the work of H. H. Richardson, the Romanesque Revival or the Chicago School, (which were the most
prevalent influences on the work of his Seattle contemporaries in the 1900s). Umbrecht also designed the W.D.
Hafins House, (now the Roman Catholic Archbishop’s Residence), on First Hill in partnership with A. Spaulding and
the original building for the New Richmond Laundry in the Cascade Neighborhood (1917).

The building was erected on the location of Charles Plummer’s house and outbuildings, which were used as a sentry
post during the 1856 Battle of Seattle.

Sources
Seattle Daily Bulletin, 14 June 1900, p. 6.
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Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press (in association with the American Institute of Architects Seattle Chapter and the Seattle
Architectural Foundation), 1994.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 400 Occidental Ave S.

Historic Name: Washington Iron Works/ J. M. Frink Building/ Washington Shoe Manufacturing Company Building
1892; 1912; 1930s

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 12/ Lots 1-2 Parcel: # 5247800735

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Eclectic/ Art Deco

Architect: Boone and Willcox; Blackwell and Baker Builder: Not Known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 118

Description

The building at 400 Occidental Avenue South was originally built as a four story building. Two stories were added
subsequently and completed in 1912. The building is rectangular in plan and mainly has a flat roof and parapet. Its
street elevations face north on Jackson Street and west on Occidental Avenue South. The ground floor street
elevations are clad in sandstone with Art Deco motifs, while the floors above are mainly clad in brick with rusticated
stone belt courses. The current interior structure consists of steel frame enveloped in concrete with floors of heavy
timber beams and joists.

At the second and third levels, the street facing elevations have trabeated window openings. Each elevation consists
of five bays, with three window openings each. Above the third floor, the walls corbel out. The north facade is
inscribed with a painted sign running its the length: “THE WASHINGTON SHOE MFG CO.” A smaller sign with
the same information occurs on the first half of the west facade.

The fourth level of the building is clad in rusticated brick. Both north and west elevations have five bays, consisting
of three arched window openings. These are topped by a thin stone belt course, which is rectangular and shallow in
section. Here, vertical wall space between grouped windows has a distinctive profile, which curves out and then in
and sits on a projecting stone base, which is more or less flush with the wall below. Another distinctive characteristic
is the radiating and intersecting brick patterns above each series of wall openings.

On the fifth and sixth floors, each bay consists of a double set of window openings, with an arched window on the 6"
floor set directly above a fifth floor rectangular one. Each paired set of windows is separated by a thickened wall,
which resembles a shallow pilaster. Each of the “pilasters” disappears toward the top of the wall into the corbelled
top of the wall parapet.
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The ground floor Art Deco cladding around the storefronts of the street-facing elevations dates from the 1930s. It is
distinguished by a series of decorative, fluted pilasters on smooth bases. The pilaster capitals consist of ellipses, set
within elongated polygons, resembling stylized shields. Stylized floral motifs adorn each side of the “shield” shapes.
A continuous frieze with faceted zigzag decoration runs the length of north and west elevations above the storefronts.
The storefronts themselves sit on a black tile base, with small gold tiles occurring below the first row of black tiles.

Cultural Data

The first four floors of the building were designed by the firm of Boone and Willcox as the Washington Iron Works
Building for John M. Frink and completed in 1892. The building, used as a manufacturing/ warehouse building, was
also known as the J. M. Frink Building, at least until 1895. In that year, the owners of the building, including John
M. Frink and Abbie Frink, as well as James and Annie Readman, relinquished the building during the course of a
legal suit. The complainants alleged that the Frinks and the Readmans had failed to make good on promissory notes
or to pay property taxes for the years 1892, 1893 and 1894. The top two floors were added by the architectural firm
of Blackwell and Baker in 1912. The ground floor Art Deco cladding was added in according to some sources in the
1920s and according to others in 1936 by Harold H. Ginnold Architects for the Detroit Investment Company. By the
1930s, the building was used as an office building.

Aside the Art Deco cladding at the ground floor, which adds another layer of interest and the loss of the parapet as a
result of the 1912 addition, the building’s first four floors seem to be reasonably intact. The building retains the
important features from 1892, while reflecting the subsequent economic and industrial growth in the neighborhood
by the addition of the floors from 1912. In the Art Deco flourishes of the storefront level, it also reflects the tastes of
later business owners, who used the building as an office building after 1920.

W. E. Boone’s architectural career in Seattle is interesting, because he had a known practice before Seattle’s Great
Fire and was a partner in several successful offices well after the fire, a rarity among the architects who contributed
to the rebuilding of Seattle in 1889. He was responsible for many buildings in the district, including the pre-fire
Yesler-Leary Building, which stood at the intersection of Yesler Avenue and First Avenue, the Globe Building (the
former Marshall Walker Block) , and the Seattle Quilt Building. (For additional information on Boone’s early career,
please see the Cultural Data section for 107 S. Main St, the Marshall Walker Block, ID # 74, or the Statement of
Significance).

Before the formation of Boone and Willcox in 1890, William H. Willcox, (born 1832; not to be confused with W. R.
B. Willcox, another early architect practicing in the Pacific Northwest), practiced in New York, Chicago, Nebraska
and Minneapolis-St. Paul and published an eighty four page booklet entitled Hints to Those Who Propose to Build —
Also a Description of Improved Plans for the Construction of Churches. The Boone and Willcox partnership lasted
until 1893. From 1893 to 1895, Willcox then practiced architecture in Los Angeles and in the 1900s and 1910s, was
an architect and surveyor in San Francisco. He died in California in 1929.
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Sources
“Three Fine Buildings Almost Finished,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 2 April 1892, p 5.

“To Foreclose on the Building,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 24 March 1895, p 5.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Seattle and London: University of
Washington Press, 1994. (especially, p 199 and p 368, note 146).

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, especially p 16-21.

“Washington Shoe Building, 400 Occidental Avenue South, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,”
7 January 2001.

Address: 416 Occidental Ave. S.

Historic Names: Graybar Electric Company/ Pacific Northwest Bell Telephone Built: 1930
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 12/ Lots 7-8 Parcel # 5247800780

Style: Art Deco Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 119

Description

This is a two-story masonry building with a flat roof. The building’s parapet is punctuated by the tops of brick
pilasters, that visually divide the street facing elevations, west and south, into five bays. All of the visual interest of
the building exterior is created by a variety of brick detailing. Oramental brick pilasters sit on a base, created in
basic running bond, topped by a stretcher course. The “shaft” of each pilaster is created by the incremental
thickening in plan of the brick wall toward the centerline of the pilaster. Spandrels are detailed with alternating
vertical bands of stretchers and headers, below and above the second story windows.

Storefront window openings take up most of the width of the bays between brick pilasters. A major entry is placed
symmetrically at the central bay of the west facade. Ornamental shields of blue and grey tile sit above elongated,
rectangular window openings. Also distinctive are the two Moderne metal light fixtures. These are square in plan
with chamfered edges, but elongated in elevation.

Cultural Data
This is a distinctive Moderne building which dates from 1930. Moderne facades are somewhat rare and mainly show

up in Pioneer Square directly as a result of the Second Avenue Extension Project of 1928-29. This building is not
directly located along the path of the Second Avenue Extension, but the Extension project affected neighboring
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streets, such as Jackson Street, from 4™ Avenue South to First Avenue South. This building, which originally housed
the Graybar Electric Company, is also located very close to the railroad stations. Its construction is related to the
same impetus that drove the Second Avenue Extension. It later housed Pacific Northwest Bell.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1932-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 619 2™ Ave

Historic Names : Bailey Building/ Harrisburg Block Built: 1889-1892
Plat: Borens & Denny Add/ Block 4/ Lots 2-3 Parcel #: 0939000130
Style: Commercial / Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Saunders & Houghton Builder: Not known

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 120

Description

Now known as the Broderick Building, the Bailey Building is rectangular in plan. It is a six story building with brick
walls, which are faced with large blocks of rusticated Tenino sandstone on its main facades. Its original interior
structure consists of cast-iron columns with steel girders, which support wood beams and floors. Street elevations
face north on Cherry Street and east on Second Avenue. The building has a flat roof with parapet and all openings
are trabeated.

The main elevation facing east on Second Avenue is divided visually into six asymmetrical bays, although the
overall composition implies symmetry. Above the ground level, (second to fifth floors), from south to north, there are
three bays of paired double hung windows, followed by the bay above the main entry, consisting of paired double-
hung windows which are less wide than the first three pairs. The last two bays, which balance the composition of the
entire elevation, consist of three windows each. Other distinctive elements of the facade include the Romanesque
Revival portal which includes four short engaged columns at each side, supported on a more massive plinth of
rusticated stone. This plinth is partially and delicately carved with floral motifs near the base of the columns. The
columns also have delicately carved floral capitals. Curved bands, resembling the engaged shafts of the columns
below, and with similar running floral motifs, also occur over the portal.

Smooth stone bands are inset around each series of windows, further accentuating the divisions between the bays.
Belt courses with typical floral motifs appear above the second level and small spots of sculptured ornament, floral
motifs or delicately carved grotesque heads appear occasionally throughout the composition of the exterior facades.
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The north elevation is distinguished by its asymmetrical composition and an entry bay that occurs toward the western
part of the fagade, (the second bay counting from First Avenue). This bay is also less wide than the other bays on this
elevation. The elevation is divided here into five bays, with the first two bays being wider and consisting of a series
of three windows, followed by double window bays. The actual design of the bays repeats most of the elements
described on the west elevation.

Cultural Data

The architectural firm of Saunders and Houghton designed the Harrisburg Block, also known at the time as the
Bailey Building in 1889 for William Elder Bailey. In fact, Bailey is thought to have been responsible for attracting
Charles Saunders from California to Seattle in 1889. The Bailey Building was designed first as a four story building,
then as a five story building and finally augmented to six stories. Construction of the six story building was
somewhat slow, but careful and it was completed in 1892, prompting the Seattle Times to observe: “Mr. Houghton is
an English architect, and believes that a slowly built structure is the best constructed one. Therefore, he built the
| Bailey Building slowly, surely and well.”

William Bailey, originally from Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, was the son of a leading Pennsylvania iron and steel
manufacturer. He became involved in the rebuilding of Seattle right after the fire of 1889 and provided capital for
many local ventures in real estate, railroads and newspapers. Only several months after the Great Fire, he created the
Washington Territory Investment Company, which offered help and advice concerning real estate and business
transactions and insurance in Seattle to investors from outside the Pacific Northwest. The first commission Saunders
and Houghton received from Bailey in Seattle was for the Washington Territory Investment Company Building. In
1890, Bailey was also involved in a joint business venture with local businessmen Thomas Ewing and Thomas Burke
to create the Hotel Rainier, designed by Saunders and Houghton and built as a large resort hotel in what is now
downtown Seattle. In 1889, Bailey also bought the newspaper, the Seattle Press and in 1890, the failing Seattle
Times, and combined the two, hiring a very literate New Englander, Erastus Brainerd, as editor. Bailey, however,
already had financial difficulties by at least 1892. With the financial panic of 1893 and downturn of the national and
Seattle economy, Bailey left Seattle.

Of all of the projects Saunders and Houghton designed for Bailey, the Bailey Building seems to be the only one that
is still extant. It is also the most sophisticated and elegant and one of the few buildings in the district with facades
fully clad in stone. Before the building’s completion, the Seattle Post Intelligencer of 1889 announced: “Firmness,
massiveness, elegance and architectural simplicity are an especial feature of the imposing structure.” Later, the press
described the finished Bailey Building as a “Symphony in Stone.” During the same period, Saunders and Houghton
also designed the Terry Denny Building for Charles Terry and Arthur Denny, which, because of its Victorian
composition and design, has more in common with the demolished Washington Investment Company Building.

The difference between the Bailey and the two other buildings also shows the variety in the work of Saunders and
Houghton. It is not entirely clear who was the real designer of the building, which might explain the unique nature of
the building’s design within the firm’s known work. Like the Terry Denny Building and the Washington Territory




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 185 of 289

Investment Company Building, the Bailey Buiiding has definite roots in the history of Seattie’s development right
after the Fire of 1889 and the arrival of adventurous businessmen and architects who saw opportunity in the
rebuilding of Seattle. This is also an early and striking design by two Seattle architects who were to make important
contributions to Seattle and later had established architectural practices. (For information on Saunders and
Houghton, please see the Statement of Significance or the Cultural Data Section for the Terry Denny Building at 109
1" Ave. S.)

During the early Twentieth Century, the building was known as the Railway Exchange Building. It housed various
railway and steamship companies, professional offices, labor unions and developers and even a popular seer and
spiritualist, Mrs. Pettibone. In the early 1900s, a former territorial governor, Eugene Semple, headed the offices of
the Seattle and Lake Washington Waterway Company.

In the early 1930s, Henry Broderick, bought the building. For forty years, Broderick ran a thriving real estate
management and development company from an office prominently located on the ground floor. During his
ownership, Western Union also occupied one of the storefronts, as well as office space on the upper floors of the
building.

Sources
“Henry Broderick Building (formerly 2™ and Cherry Building), Historic Preservation Application, Part 1,” 20 April
1984. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Morgan, Murray. Skid Road, An Informal Portrait of Seattle. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press,
1995 (first publication 1951).

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Especially p 166-175.

Ochsner, Jeffrey, editor. Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Guide to the Architects. Especially p 34-39.

Address: 601 2™ Ave

Historic Names : Butler Block / Butler Hotel/ Butler Building Built: 1890
Plat: Borens & Denny Add/ Block 3/ Lots 6-7 Parcel: # 0939000155
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Parkinson & Evers Builder: Guy Phinney?

Classification: Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 121
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Description

The Butler Building, also known as the Butler Block, is currently a two story rusticated stone and brick structure,
surmounted by nine stories of new parking structure. The primary street elevation faces west on second avenue,
while the south elevation faces Yesler Way. The second avenue elevation - the first story of the original design - is
divided into five bays surmounted by a stone belt-course which rakes out. The central bay, less wide than the other
four is marked by a striking Romanesque Revival arched portal, with large rusticated stone voussoirs. The belt-
course over the portal is raised up slightly and below it in bold relief are the words: “BUTLER BLOCK.” Other
distinctive elements are the rusticated stone base of the main portal, surmounted by large blocks of rusticated stone.
Inset on each jamb of the portal are short pink marble columns, surmounted by capitals, carved in a stylized
Romanesque Revival floral pattern. This pattern continues as a frieze along the portal jamb and onto the facade of
the building, although it is confined to the central bay. Each west facing bay is flanked by stone piers, also of
rusticated stone block, topped by a stone molding, bearing an egg-and-dart motif. Storefront windows between piers
are modern metal insertions.

The two-story south facing Yesler Way elevation of the original building is divided into unequal bays and its
composition is less clearly delineated. The south exterior wall 1s clad mainly in brick with rusticated stone trim. The
east corner of the elevation has stone piers similar to those of the main facade and an inserted metal storefront. To
the west of this, is a low wide arched portal with voussoirs of rusticated stone and a wide rectangular opening
associated with the garage entry.

The building has undergone major changes since its initial construction. By the 1930s, the building had lost its top
three floors. The bottom two floors survived until around 2001, when the Samis Company, while shoring up the two
major exterior facades, gutted the inside of the building and replaced the storefronts with modern storefront units.
The many floors of modern parking were then added, thanks to a new interior structure. Nevertheless, some striking
exterior elements of the bottom two stories of the original fagade do survive. While the gutting and remodel detract
from the significance of the building, the exterior facades are still contributing to the historical character of the
Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District.

Cultural Data

The two floors are the remnants of the Butler Block, which once housed the Butler Hotel, one of Seittle’s most
elegant hotels. Built in 1889-1890, it was designed by the architectural firm of Parkinson and Evers and was initially
called the Phinney and Jones Building. The July 3, 1889 Post-Intelligencer article entitled “ Live Times for Builders,
A Five Story Block at Second and James Streets” announced its design and imminent construction: “Architects
Parkinson and Evers are completing plans for a big brick building to be built by Mr. Guy C. Phinney and Mr. Daniel
C. Jones on the northwest corner of Second and James Streets. The plans show that it will be a handsome structure
and an ornament to the city...The exterior of the building will be beautiful, being composed of pressed brick with
granite, terra cotta, galvanized iron trimmings and fashioned after modern architectural designs.” Guy Phinney was a
Seattle businessman, involved in banking, insurance and real estate. He was the primary developer of the property.
His partner in the venture, who held a minority interest, was Daniel Jones, described by Parkinson in later memoirs,
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as “ a typical frontiersman,” who apparently carried a gun in both hip pockets and whose every other utterance was a
curse word. According to a contemporary account in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Phinney seems to have been
personally involved in the construction. He ordered steel from San Francisco and set up a “10 x 12 office,” sort of a
construction shack, on Second Avenue near Cherry Street.

John Parkinson of Parkinson and Evers was an important architect in Seattle, right after the Great Fire of 1889. He
was born in England in 1861, where he was trained in the building trades and design. The partnership of Parkinson
and Evers was begun in 1889 and dissolved by June of 1890. Parkinson continued to work in Seattle for a few more
years, designing buildings for the Seattle School District, such as the B. F. Day School (still standing) and the
Cascade School, demolished in the 1950s. Within the district, Parkinson’s other work is the Interurban Building,
originally the Seattle First National Bank Building, a very striking Romanesque Revival building. For more
information on John Parkinson, please see the Statement of Significance.

The building was converted to the elegant Butler Hotel in 1894. President Grant is supposed to have stayed here on a
visit to Seattle and in 1927, during Prohibition, “respectable” patrons of the upscale “Rose Room” were caught
during a police raid sipping drinks, while the orchestra played “How Dry I Am.”

Since then, age and circumstance have not been kind to the Butler Building. Because of the addition of the many
floors of parking structure and the loss of significant historic detail around the storefronts, the building is historic,
non contributing.

Sources
Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming 2005,

especially chapter 4.

Ochsner/ Andersen, Distant Corner, p 175-176.

Parkinson Archives. Database on-line. Available from http://www.parkives.com/

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 3 July 1889, p 4.

Address: 515 2™ Ave

Names : Sinking Ship Garage/ Sinking Ship Parking Garage Built: 1961 (ca.)
Plat: Borens & Denny Add/ Block 1/ Lots 1-2-3-4 Parcel #: 0939000005
Style: Modern/ Utilitarian Architect: Mandeville and Berge

Classification: Non- Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 122
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Description

This is a three story, concrete parking garage, with a triangular floor plan. Because of the grade change from west to
east (the grade rises to the east), the walls of the garage appear to sink to the east. As a result, the building has been
likened to a sinking ship and is popularly, and now officially, known as the “sinking ship parking garage.”

Cultural Data

The building was designed by Mandeville and Berge. Current King County records indicate that it was completed in
1961 (although other documents mention 1963 or 1965). The building is a non-historic, non- contributing building.
It sits on the site of the once elegant Occidental Hotel, subsequently renamed the “Hotel Seattle” and then the
“Seattle Hotel.” The historic hotel designed by Stephen Meany, was originally constructed in 1889-1890 for Seattle
entrepreneur John Collins to replace the original Occidental Hotel, which had burnt down as a result of the Fire of
June 6, 1889. The destruction of the “Seattle Hotel” in 1961 spurred the movement to save other historical buildings
and to create the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. The present building, usually considered an
eye-sore, remains a symbol of the destruction of the historic buildings in the district. The 1960s garage building is
considered a very poor replacement. Public historian Paul Dorpat expressed this attitude eloquently: * ..where once
the softly lit arches of windows, long-stemmed ferns, and Ionic columns encouraged moments of relaxed meditation,
now the oil-soiled concrete of an eye-sore inspires nothing.”

Sources
Dorpat, Paul. “The Seattle Hotel vs. the Sinking Ship.” HistoryLink.org, 1998. Database on-line. Available from <

http://www historylink.org/galleries/nowthen/sinkingship.htm>

Hungerland, Christopher. Adaptive Re-use of the “Sinking Ship” Parking Structure in Pioneer Square,
Thesis, Master of Architecture, University of Washington (one source is an interview with Gudmund Berge, AIA,
Mandeville, Berge and Box, June 5, 1984), 1984.

Maclintosh, Heather. “June 2003: Critical Junction: Preservation between the Sinking Ship and King Street Station.”
Preservation Seattle. June 2003,
website: <http://www.cityofseattle.net/community/histsea/preservationseattle>

Address: 433 2nd Ave Extension S.

Historic Name: H. K. Owens Building/ Metropole Building Built: 1893

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lots 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800595

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 123




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
{Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 189 of 289

Description

The building at 433 2" Avenue Extension South is trapezoidal in plan. It is a three story building with parapet. It has
two street facing facades, both clad in rusticated sandstone. The longer elevation faces the northern portion of
Second Avenue Extension South and a much shorter one Yesler Way. The longer elevation is distinguished by its
regular and symmetrical composition and is divided into five bays. It has a main portal with a semi-circular arch,
located at the center of the fagade, flanked by long trabeated storefronts with clerestory levels. On the second floor,
paired rectangular window openings emphasize the entry portal. Smooth stone bands create a frame around the first
floor portal and the two second floor central windows above it. In general, openings on the second level are
rectangular and organized in pairs.

On the third level, two small rectangular windows continue the vertical bay about the central portal. To each side of
these smaller windows are three pairs of arched windows. Interest is created by changes in texture and pattern in the
rusticated stone. Examples of this can be seen in the following: the belt course above the first level, the detailing of
the flat arches over the second floor windows, the voussoirs of the arched second floor window openings and the
decorative stone bands that mimic the curves of these openings.

The Yesler Way elevation is only one bay and has two rectangular flat arched window openings, surmounted by two
arched ones. There is also an entryway to a business at the ground level.

Cultural Data

The Metropole, previously known as the H. K. Owens Building, was owned by Henry Yesler, who had also
commissioned the more well-known Pioneer Building down the street. It is thought to have been built between 1892
and 1893. While Emil De Neuf was the architect, Jeffrey Ochsner and Dennis Andersen suggest that the design
architect may have been Elmer Fisher. It has one of the better designed and well proportioned exteriors from the
early period of the district’s reconstruction. The building is a simple, but pleasing rendition of the commercial
Richardsonian Romanesque style.

The building itself was the original location of the G. O. Guy Pharmacy, which later produced a chain of Seattle
pharmacies. This G. O. Guy Pharmacy, until not long ago located on the northern portion of the building, is also
famous as the site of the 1901 gun battle between Seattle Chief of Police William Meredith and John Considine.

Considine was the owner of the People’s Theater, known as a “box house,” which provided “theatrical”
entertainments such as magic acts, singing, dancing, minstrel shows, as well as sexual services. In 1901, the Seattle
City Council was waging a war against “vice.” One of the results of this conflict is that Chief of Police Meredith,
armed with a sawed off shotgun, pursued John Considine and his brother Tom into the G. O. Guy Pharmacy.
Meredith fired several times at John Considine, eventually grazing him slightly and nearly hitting G. O. Guy, the
owner. In self-defense, John Considine clubbed Meredith with the shotgun, which he had managed to wrestle away
from Meredith and then shot him. Although the anti-vice forces wanted John Considine hanged for Meredith’s death,
at the end of a dramatic trial, he was acquitted.
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Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.
Morgan, Murray. Skid Road. Seattle: University of Washington, 1951, reprint 1982, p 195.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 417 Second Avenue S.

Historic Name: 417 Second Avenue S Built: ca. 1891

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lots 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800595

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 124

Description

This is a two story building with exterior brick walls. It has one primary street facing elevation on Second Avenue
South. The brick on this elevation is currently painted. The fagade has one wide and high trabeated opening, with
storefront. Above, on the second level are two bays, framed by brick piers. Each bay has two trabeated window
openings, each with one double-hung window with transom lights. All ormamentation and detailing is in brick.
Distinctive are the ornamental rectangles in the spandrels above each second floor bay. These are filled with a
textured pattern of what appear to be small pyramidal shapes. Similar banding occurs at the level between the top of
the second floor windows and the transom, on the surface of the piers. The building was originally four stories in
height and had lost the two upper floors by the 1930s.

Cultural Data

This building dates from 1898, according to the King County Assessor’s Records. Other sources give a date of 1891.
The building is more typical of those erected in the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District right after
the Great Fire of 1889, in the early 1890s to mid 1890s. This is suggested by the Victorian gridding of the fagade and
the brick decorative elements. The building had lost two additional floors by the 1930s. By the 1970s, its fagade was
covered over, but it has since been revealed. With the Metropole Building, (dated from 1892-93 by Jeffrey Ochsner
and Dennis Andersen), to the north, it forms an interesting ensemble of Victorian/ Richardsonian Romanesque
inspired buildings, although its scale is somewhat smaller than that of the Metropole. The wide open first floor may
well have been also divided into two bays originally (obviously elements have been cut away at this level), but
historic photos show that there has been one wide opening, at least since the 1930s.
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Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Address: 411 Second Avenue Extension S.

Historic Name: Circle Theater Built: 1910

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lot 6 Parcel: # 5247800580
Style: Modern/ Utilitarian Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Non-Contributing Site ID #: 125

Description

This is a one story building, with only one primary fagade on Second Avenue Extension South. Currently, what
original fagade may remain is mostly covered up with new cladding (concrete) above a modern storefront. To each
side of the modern storefront, however, are vestiges of the original fagade. Brick piers with metal bases are visible,
as well as the remains of a metals fluted columns, which are now inset to each side the storefront. The building was
originally three stories high

Cultural Data

This is a vestige of an original three story building, which the King County Tax Assessor’s Records date from 1910.
According to photos from the 1930s, the building at that time housed the Circle Theater. It was also supposed to have
been a “flophouse.” It was severely damaged during the Earthquake of 1949 and as a result, its top two floors were
removed. The building has lost its architectural integrity and does not contribute to the district.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript. 27 October 1996. City of Seattle,
Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.
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Address: 164 S. Washington St.

Historic Name: Nugent Block and Considine Block Built: 1890

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 9/ Lot 5-6 Parcel #: 5247800575

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 126

Description

This building is rectangular in plan, with exterior brick walls. In fact, it is a property originally built as a joint block.
It has two one-story primary facades, an east facade on Second Avenue Extension South and a south facade on South
Washington Street. A former alley elevation now faces a parking lot to the west. The Second Avenue Extension
fagade is symmetrically composed around a central arch, which is now closed off with a makeshift wooden door. To
each side of it, are two bays, framed by brick piers with corbel capitals and a decorative corbel band about three and
half feet down from the current top of the wall, which runs the length of this elevation. Within each of the side bays
is storefront in various configurations, with transom lights (The current Double-Header Bar, located to the north of
the central arch, for instance, has a lower storefront, with a higher multi-pane transom, while other storefronts are
higher with lower transoms). Corbelled ornamentation representing capitals is also used to emphasize the central
archway.

The Washington Street elevation has seven bays. At the ground level, the first four, (counting from the east), are
similar to the standard bay on Second Avenue Extension, combining red brick and storefront, but have been reclad in
concrete at the second level. Three bays to the west have detailing similar to the standard bays on Second Avenue
Extension. The west elevation consists of a variety of segmental arched openings.

Cultural Data

This building was constructed in 1890 as a joint block for Captain James Nugent and for John Considine. The design
and detailing — the gridded Victorian composition and the use of brick corbelling as the only ornament - are typical
of buildings erected in the district right after the Great Fire of 1889. The Second Avenue Extension fagade, in
particular, has a surprising amount of architectural detailing, despite the loss of its upper two floors. Like many of
the buildings on Second Avenue Extension between Yesler to Washington Street, it was once a taller building. The
first floor was topped by two floors with segmental arched openings arranged in groups of three on Second Avenue
and groups of two on Washington Street. Despite the loss of the upper floors, the building contributes architecturally
to the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District, particularly on Second Avenue Extension South.

This kind of joint block, often designed by the same architect, with similar detailing for the primary facades was not
uncommon, particularly right after the Fire of 1889. The Delmar, or former Terry-Kittinger Block and 116-118 S
Washington are other examples, as is the Globe Building, the former Marshall-Walker Building. In this case, Captain
Nugent leased the property from Robert Abrams for a fifteen year period, during which he constructed his portion of
the building. At the end of the lease in 1904, the building ownership<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>